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Kadant Inc. is a leading global supplier of innovative products and technologies that improve productivity
and quality during pulp and paper production, including stock-preparation systems, paper machine
accessories, and equipment for fluid handling and water management. Our fluid-handling productsg
optimize production in a range of other industries, including steel, plastics, rubber, oil, textile:
We have approximately 1,400 employees at operations in 16 countries around the workl.

2005 Kadant Revenues
$244 million

Kadant Revenues
by Geographic Region :
Stock Preparation ‘
Pulping, cleaning, de-inking, and screening systems

that recover usable fiber from recycled materials

or prepare virgin fiber for entry into the paper
machine.
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. \  24% Accessories
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; . Fluid Handling
~ | Rotary joints, syphons, and related software con- |
\ trols for transferring fluids, steam, or air betwee /
| .| rotating cylinders and fixed piping in a range 6f :
1 industries. l

I Water Management
Shower, fabric-conditioning, formation,/and filtra:
tion systems that clean papermaking fatic form
the sheet, and conserve water.
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byproducts for agricultu

garden applications, and
casting products.

@ The editorial section of this annual report is printed on 100% recycled FSC® certified paper.
The paper in the financial section contains 30% post-consumer waste and is FSC certified.




William A Rainville
Chairman and
| Chief Executive Officer

/ Dear Shareholder:

We set out to accomplish a number of specific objectives in 2005 intended to strengthen- )

; our ability to serve the emerging demands of the global pulp and paper industry. While EBITDA™2

[ - the industry continues to present challenges in certain geographic markets, it is not with- . {’P,,’T’lf"f‘?”‘
out opportunity - and we believe we are better equipped to take advantage of opportuni- L N
ties wherever they arise as a result of our actions. 1

Our primary goals for the year included:

Selling the composite building products business

Completing the restructuring of our French operation

Expanding our manufacturing capabilities in China

Integrating newly acquired Kadant Johnson

Penetrating markets outside of the paper industry

B Developing higher-margin aftermarket products

I'm pleased to report that we accomplished all of these objectives, putting us on a track of

jectives.

Our annual revenues from continuing operations rose by $49 million to $244 million
in 2005, with virtually all of that increase due to the addition of Kadant Johnson Inc,,

- which we acquired in May. Our solid financial performance in the first three quarters of
2005 was affected at year end by several factors, namely the timing of large orders for Total BackI692
stock-preparation equipment and persistent market weakness in North America and $ in millions
Europe. As a result, we reported $.70 of diluted EPS from continuing operations - that is
without the composites business, which we sold in October. We achieved $23 million of 55
EBITDA' for the year, including $7 million from Kadant Johnson. Our strong cash genera-
tion in the second half of 2005 resulted in $19 million in cash flow from continuing opera-
tions for the full year, for a 47 percent increase over 2004.

In the fourth quarter of 2005, we reported record bookings, which contributed to a
31 percent rise in annual bookings over 2004, or an increase of 7 percent excluding Kadant
:‘ Johnson. This strong bookings performance allowed us to finish the year with a backlog of
' $54 million, 57 percent higher than 2004. Even without Kadant Johnson, our backlog rose
24 percent over the previous year, and this will contribute to revenue growth in 2006.
These orders came from customers across the globe ~ North and South America, Europe,
the Middle East, South Africa, and China - underscoring our global presence, which is a key
advantage for Kadant as market opportunities shift to different regions of the world.
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VEBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure that excludes certain items
PN - detailed on page 10 of this annual report.
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Finding Opportunity in Mature Markets

Today, Kadant is a much different company than it was just a year ago. With the acquisi- (\
tion of Kadant Johnson, we added an entire product line that improves the transfer of )
fluids and steam in a range of industries, from paper to steel, plastics, textiles, oil, rubber,

and food processing. ' '

These systems, which include rotary joints, syphons, and related components and
software controls, are used in papermaking to remove excess moisture during drying,
improving the consistency of the sheet and lowering power consumption in this highly
energy-intensive production stage. This is particularly important in today’s market environ-
ment in North America, where pulp and paper producers are gearing their limited capital
spending budgets toward projects that offer high returns by lowering the use of energy,
water, and chemicals.

Kadant Johnson's R&D Center in Three Rivers, Michigan, is a valuable resource for the
ongoing development of new products that address our customers’ specific production
issues. There, we can simulate actual mill conditions on our drying cylinders and work in
partnership with customers to devise appropriate solutions. Trials that demonstrate new
advances in seal design and drying technology, such as our PTX steam joint and stationary
syphon system, extend the range of applications for improving dryer — and overall paper
machine — performance. _

One of the research dryers now features our latest development in doctor blades
from Kadant Web Systems Inc., which effectively clean the dryer rolls while consuming

three times less energy than conventional blades. Such improvements can amount to signif-
icant annual savings on a typical paper machine with 60 or more dryers. We believe the
potential for measurable operating improvements for our customers resulting from a
relatively low capital investment is driving demand in all our product lines. Our Kadant AES
division, for example, recently received the largest order in its history, for $3.8 million of
equipment used to improve paper formation.

More and more, we are presenting Kadant to the marketplace as a unified brand,
and new opportunities for cross-selling will enhance our ability to leverage our large
installed base of equipment. Our restructuring actions in North America included combin-
ing our water management and accessories sales forces to create a more focused and thus
more effective team. In addition to representing a greater portfolio of products, each sales
engineer now has more "“face time” with customers. I'm very pleased with the way all our
businesses have been working together to strengthen Kadant’s recognition ~ in all our
geographic markets. S

Capitalizing on Continued Growth in Asia .
Nowhere is Kadant’s presence more important than in growing Asian markets. Initial esti-
mates that paper and board demand in China would reach 60 million tons by 2010 have
been adjusted upward - industry analysts now predict the addition of another 10 million
tons of capacity by then. We've focused intently on serving China’s demand for recycled
packaging materials, and today we are the leading supplier of advanced stock-preparation
systems used by Asia’s foremost paper producers. In fact, we recently received the largest
single order in Kadant’s history from a customer in Asia ~ for approximately $16 million of
equipment that will be used to process fiber during the production of recycled linerboard.
Innovative technologies from Kadant Black Clawson Inc. allow manufacturers to
recover more usable fiber from waste paper for a higher-quality end product, whether it's
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fine stationery, whiteboard, or brown corrugated material. Our integrated systems increas-
ingly play a critical role at major mills throughout China, many of which have begun to
export their products internationally. We now have the opportunity to augment our cus-
tomer base after signing an agreement in January 2006 to acquire a well-known Chinese
supplier of stock-preparation equipment, Jining Huayi Light Industry Machinery Co., Ltd.
Huayi serves the large number of local independent mills in China. Aside from significantly
extending our addressed market, this acquisition (which is subject to customary closing con-
ditions, including regulatory approvals) would give us a manufacturing base in Asia for
stock-preparation products worldwide.

China is now the world’s second largest paper producer. We restructured our North
American stock-preparation operations in late 2005 in anticipation of moving more produc- i Ching weul b hdg@dﬁ@ B
tion to the heart of our industry’s growth market. Huayi's 400,000-square-foot facility could @ypanded with) @i)@ @ OF
easily accommodate the manufacture of our product line, ailowing us to serve Asian mar- %% MCW@,@@J‘ !
kets more cost-effectively and to supply equipment and components to North America and g@.ﬁ;wg/,fﬁ
Europe. Increased production capabilities in China will also help us to leverage our growing
installed base there with sales of aftermarket products and services. This, in combination
with Kadant Johnson’s Shanghai fluid-handling facility, added in 2005, gives us new oppor-
tunities to serve growing Asian markets with our accessories and water-managemént prod-
ucts as well. ‘

|
Looking Ahead to Future Growth !
The worldwide pulp and paper marketplace has undergone dramatlc changes over the past !
several years and, as a global supplier, Kadant has been able to change with the |n‘dustry.

address global opportuni

As growth has shifted to Asia, we've strengthened our presence there and will use% our A
leadership in stock-preparation as a platform for increasing sales in all our product lines. In [Cash ’;"I: gﬁﬁ;ﬁ:m"sz
North American and European markets, which lag in growth but present opportunities for ;
retooling and upgrades, we have restructured our operations to improve our compeetitive
position. These actions should have the greatest impact in France at our Kadant Lamort sub-
sidiary, which we expect will.regain profitability and contribute to earnings going forward.
Without a doubt, the steps we took in 2005 position Kadant for earnings and rev-
enue growth in 2006, and we believe they will contribute to our performance for glears to
.come. Our broader product offering, achieved through acquisition and internal develop-
ment, helps us offer more solutions to our pulp and paper customers so they can gain an
edge in increasingly competitive global markets. Our new fluid-handling product Iine
serves a number of industries outside of paper, giving us new market opportunities. Finally,
we continue to maintain a healthy balance sheét, which will allow us to reinvest in the
company for future growth. . ‘
t's been a productive year, and | thank all of our employees — some of whom have
withstood difficult changes — for their continued dedication and support of our long-term
goals. With a number of growth prospects before us, I'm confident that Kadant’s best years

" are within reach.

Sincerely,
(Gorig £Z

William A. Rainville
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer March 28, 2006




Customer:| Mene) @@@k@@‘@ﬁ]@
Product: | Kadant Steam and Concensaie Systenn Relbulld

- Mondi Packaging makes about 230,000 tons per year of some of the strongest kraft prod-
uct on the market, used to produce paper bags. As part of a major upgrade at its mill in

" Dynds, Sweden, the steam and condensate systems of two paper machines were rebuilt by

© Kadant Johnson to improve drying efficiency. New stationary syphons and Turbulator®
Tube bars prevent the uneven build-up of condensate, increasing heat transfer rates by up
to 15 percent. In addition, machine speeds rose by about 10 percent and the number of
sheet breaks was cut in half, setting production records. A higher-quality kraft product has
translated to better productivity for Mondi Packaging customers as weill.

Sweden N

e B RENG Er N Seane o prodinds

hly competitive purlp and paper markets such as North America

expand its portfolio of products that increase papermaking efficiency,
from stock preparation to drying — the most energy-intensive stage of
paper production. Our breadth is the result of ongoing R&D coupled
with strategic acquisitions that add ceplementary technologies.

w9 customer: Gaorgie Pacific Canada
KX %] Product:  [Kecdant Octopus Stedk System

Georgia Pacific promotes its ToughRock® gypsum wallboard as “stronger, tougher, brighter,
and more consistent.” Too much variation in sheet profile during production leads to ineffi-
clent drying and can greatly affect quality. When GP's Thorold, Ontario, mill first approached
Kadant AES, the average sheet had a weight variation of two pounds. Our solution was the
Octopus™ Stock Approach System, which distributes a uniform amount of fiber to the paper
machine headbox, where the sheet begins to be formed. After instailing a single Octopus sys-
tem, variation was reduced to less than 0.3 pounds. The flatter sheet profile requires less steam
for drying, leads to increased machine speed, and has greatly improved product consistency.

o




In tests conducted at our R&D Center in Michigan, our new Syntek™ doctor blade demonstrate? that it can effectively clean dryer

surfaces while using three times less energy than conventional fiberglass-reinforced blades, amounting to significant cost savings.
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Customer: Lee & Man
Product: Kadant Stock-Preparation Systems

One of China’s largest packaging material producers, Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Co.,
Ltd. operates three miils in Guangdong and Jiangsu that produce 1.7 million tons of liner-
board and corrugated medium annually. To keep pace with demand, the company is about |4
to add its eighth paper machine, increasing capacity by another 400,000 tons. Since 1997,
Kadant Black Clawson has supplied Lee & Man with advanced stock-preparation systems
that recover more usable fiber from recycled materials. In addition to enhancing quality,
Kadant's integrated systems, which include pulping, screening, cleaning, refining, and
reject handling technologies, conserve energy to improve production efficiency.

We are Srerginening omr mresence in Asta

China is still the world‘gfastest-growing market for paper and board

production, and is expétted to dominate the industry through 2020.
We i;dentified China as a major opportunity for Kadant years ago, and
continue to expand our presence there as demand for high-quality,
recycled packaging materials drives sales of our stock-preparation
systems. Chinese paper producers need the latest technologies, and
Kada"mt is strengthening its position as a leading supplier.

|
|

Customer: Nine Dragons
Product: Kadant Stock-Preparation Systems

Nine Dragons Paper Industries Co., Ltd. supplies more packaging material than any other
manufacturer in China, with a total capacity of 3.3 million tons per year of linerboard, corru-
gated medium, and coated whiteboard produced at its mills in Guangdong and Jiangsu.
_When the company started up its first paper machine in 1998, Kadant Black Clawson provid-

fed,thé -Jatest advanices in stock-preparation systems. Now, Nine Dragons has 10 machines,

A eah featunng technologies from Kadant, its largest stock-preparation equipment supplier.
*  —— ost of these paper machines have complete Kadant stock-preparation lines, showcasing
. — o nearly every technology we offer for greater fiber recovery and lower energy use.
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The new Huayi stock-preparation production facility in Jining, coupledW|th our ﬂu1d handhng operatlon in Shanghai, would significantly

expand our manufacturing capabilities in China and support the future introduction of our othe‘r product lines in growing Asian markets.

(The Huayi acquisition is subject to customary closing conditions. There can be no assurance that‘ the transaction will be completed.)




Canada

Associated Proteins, LP operates the world’s largest solvent-free oilseed crushing plant,
where soybeans, canola, flax, and sunflower seeds are transformed into virgin oil and
. high-protein meal for livestock. Kadant Johnson's rotary joints are used on large, rotating

drums in the flaking mill to remove moisture from the seed and reduce oil viscosity. Qur
. steam joints are also integral to the seed-pressing process, where the cake meal is reheat-
. ed to drive out remaining moisture and oil. The end products - virgin oil and meal - from
i the Ste. Agathe plant are then distributed around the world for feeding livestock and var-
- ilous other uses including cooking, vitamins, skin moisturizers, and cosmetics.

WL@ Al @@m@@m@g ESEER
Kadgi;, abj‘hy to éﬁb\gnce productloﬂ and quality no longer stops at
pulp and:pager. With the adgdition of Kadant Johnson, and its full line
of ﬂund-handllr‘ffg systems and controls, we can now serve a range of
other industries.intent on Icwermg costs and improving productivity.
From the production of steel, to plastics, textiles, oil, rubber, and food,
our rotary joints, seals, and syphons help improve the process, giving
these customers an advantage in increasingly competitive markets.

As a world-class provider of machinery for metallurgical plants and rolling mills, SMS Demag
AG helps steelmakers reduce their total cost per ton through greater production efficiency.
One SMS Demag customer, Anyang Iron & Steel Company, of China, faced a number of chal-
lenges as it planned to install the widest medium-slab, continuous cast steel line in the world.
In cooperation with SMS Demag, Kadant Johnson developed the Bearing Cover Inserted (BCl)
rotary joint, which eliminates the need for external hoses and reduces maintenance downtime.
In addition, our Over The Shaft (OTS) rotary joint allows the ultra-wide rolls to be driven from
both sides for further efficiencies that result in lower operating costs.
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A component for a rotary joint seal used for fluid transfer in the rubber and plastics industries quergoes testing in a coordinate
measurement machine to check that all tolerances meet the precise specifications required for tqese process applications.
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mgasures, including adjusted diluted earnings per share (EPS) and earnings before interest, taxes,
in (EBITDA), which exclude certain non-recurring items. We exclude from diluted EPS and EBITDA:

:t_" Certain >gainsllosses that are either isolated or cannot be expected to occur again with any regularity or predictability.
B Certain acquisition-related charges associated with the sale of inventory that has been revalued for the acquired
profit in inventory at the Kadant Johnson acquisition date.

_\We exclude the above items because they are outside of our normal operations and/or are of a non-recurring nature. The
- non-GAAP measures presented in this annual report are not meant to be considered superior to or a substitute for the [
results of operations prepared in accordance with GAAP. In addition, the non-GAAP financial measures included in this i
report have limitations associated with their use as compared to the most directly comparable GAAP measure, in that they
may be different from, and therefore not comparable to, similar measures used by other companies. ;

* Reconciliations of the non-GAAP financial measures to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measures are set forth
in the table below. |

Adjusted Diluted Earnings per Share

‘ 2005 2004
Adjusted Diluted Earnings per Share : i
Diluted Earnings per Share ‘ $ 49 $ .05 ‘(
Loss from Discontinued Operation .21 .35 :
—ﬁf\‘—és’tructuring Costs (a) — 42 ;‘
Adjusted Diluted Earnings per Share $ 70 $ .82 ‘:

EBITDA

: (In thousands)
EBITDA ? :

Operatmg Income 7 $ 14,583 $ 6,840

‘Depzecnatuon and Amomzatcon 6,931 S 3,604

1,081 -
P _ (970)
:,,37 - (149
$ 22,595  $18,840
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UNITED STATES |

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, DC 20549

i

FORM 10-K

(rna;rk one)

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005

[C] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(D) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number 1-11406

KADANT INC,

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 521762325 ‘
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.) :
i ‘

One Acton Place, Suite 202

Acton, Massachusetts C 01720
(Address of principal executive offices) © (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (978) 776-2000

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of Each Class Name of Each Exchange on Which lReglste red

Common Stock, $.01 par value New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the AEt' None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined 1n‘Rule 405 of the Secuntle

Act. Yes[] No[X ‘

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Sectlon 13 or Section 15(d) of
Act. Yes[ ] No[X i

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d

the

of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter Iﬁeriod that the registrant was required

to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes No D

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulatlon S-K is not contamed herein, and
will not be contained, to the best of the registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements in ,orporated by

reference into Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. []

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an acceleratqd filer, or a non- acuelerat
definition of “accelerated filer” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. ‘
Large accelerated filer [ ] Accelerated filer Non-accelerated filer [ ] ‘

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act). Yes[] No[X] \

ed filer. See

The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by nonafﬁhates of the reglstrant ‘as of July 2,

2005, was approximately $301,325,000.

As of March 1, 2006, the registrant had 13,576,764 shares of Common Stock outstandi‘ng. ‘
‘ i
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE |

Portions of the registrant’s definitive proxy statement pursuant to Regulation 14A promulgated under the Securitie
Act of 1934, as amended, to be used in connection with the registrant’s 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders are
by reference into Part IIT of this Form 10-K. |
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PARTI

Forward-Looking Statements
| i
This Annual Report on Form 10-K and the documents that we incorporate by reference in this Repdrt
include forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securitles Exchange Act o,t" 1934,
as amended, and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. These forward-looking statements are
not statements of historical fact, and may include statements regarding possible or assumed future results of
operations. Forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties and are based on the beliefs‘ and
assumptions of our management, using information currently available to our management When we use words
such as “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “estimates,” “should ” “likely,” “will,” “‘Would ?
or similar expressions, we are making forward-looking statements. \
Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of performance. They 1nvolve risks, uncertainties, and
assumptions. Our future results of operations may differ materially from those expressed in the forward- l‘ookmg
statements. Many of the important factors that will determine these results and Values are beyond our ab111ty to
control or predict. You should not put undue reliance on any forward-looking statements. We undertake ,‘ 0
obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future
events, or otherwise. For a discussion of important factors that may cause our actual results to differ materially
from those suggested by the forward-looking statements, you should read carefully the section caplloned‘ “Risk

Factors” in Part I, Item 1A, of this Report. | |

LIS 3 4 3% ¢ 3% G« % &

Item 1. Business l |

General Development of Business ‘ l

The Company was incorporated in Delaware in November 1991 to be the shccessor-in interest to se‘veral
papermaking equipment businesses of Thermo Electron Corporation (Thermo Electron) In November 1992, we
completed an initial public offering of a portion of our outstanding common stock On July 12, 2001, the
Company changed its name to Kadant Inc. from Thermo Fibertek Inc. In August 2001, Thermo Electron ‘drsposed
of its remaining equity interest in Kadant by means of a stock dividend to its shareholders In May 2003 “we
moved the listing of our common stock to the New York Stock Exchange, where it continues to trade uncler the
symbol “KAL” ‘ !

The terms “we,” “us,” “our,” “Registrant,” or “Company” in this Report reler to Kadant Inc. and its'j
consolidated subsidiaries. | !

|
l
Description of Our Business l

i
i
|

We are a leading supplier of equipment used in the global papermaking and paper recycling industries and
also a manufacturer of granules made from papermaking byproducts. Our continuing operations consist cf one
reportable operating segment, Pulp and Papermaking Systems, and two separate product lines: Fiber- based
Products and Casting Products. In classifying operational entities into a partlcular segment, we con31dered how
our management assesses performance and makes operating decisions, and aggregated businesses with 51Hrmla1
economic characteristics, products and services, production processes, customers, and methods of dlstnbunon In
addition, prior to its sale, we operated a composite building products business (the composites business), whrch is
presented as a discontinued operation in the accompanying consolidated frnanmal statements. On October 21,
2005, our Kadant Composites LLC subsidiary sold substantially all of its assets, comprising the composr@es
business, to LDI Composites Co. for approximately $11.1 million in cash and the assumption of $1.4 nnlhon of

liabilities resulting in an immaterial gain on the sale. The sale price is subject to'a post-closing adjustment

l
\
i
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Pulp and Papermaking Systems

Our Pulp and Papermaking Systems segment has a long and well-established history of developing,
manufacturing, and marketing equipment for the global papermaking and paper recycling industries. Some of our
businesses or their predecessor companies have been in operation for approximately 100 years. Our customer
base includes major global paper manufacturers and, with our equipment found in most of the world’s pulp and
paper mills, we believe we have one of the largest installed bases of equipment in the pulp and paper industry.
We manufacture our products in nine countries in Europe, North and South America, and Asia and license certain
products for manufacture in South America and Asia.

On May 11, 2005, we acquired all the outstanding stock of The Johnson Corporation (Kadant Johnson), a
leading supplier of fluid-handling systems and equipment, including steam and condensate systems, components,
and controls. These products are used primarily in the dryer section of the papermaking process and during the
production of corrugated boards, metals, plastics, rubber, textiles, and food. Kadant Johnson was a privately held
company based in Three Rivers, Michigan, with approximately 575 employees and annual revenues of
approximately $76 million in calendar 2004, The purchase price for the acquisition was approximately $101.5
million in cash, subject to a post-closing adjustment, and $4.7 million of acquisition-related costs. In addition to
the consideration paid at closing, we issued a letter of credit to the sellers for $4.0 million related to certain tax
assets of Kadant Johnson, the value of which we expect to realize. This amount is subject to adjustment based on
The Johnson Corporation’s final tax return for 2005, and is due over the next five years as follows: 15% per year
in 2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009, and 40% in 2010. The parties also agreed to an earn-out provision, based on the
achievement of certain revenue targets between the closing date of May 11, 2005 and July 1, 2006, which could
increase the purchase price by up to $8.0 million. This contingent consideration will be accounted for as an
increase in goodwill, if and when the revenue targets are achieved. Based on our current forecasts, we do not
believe that a significant payout under the earn-out provision is likely.

On January 21, 2006, on behalf of our wholly foreign owned enterprise formed in China, we entered into an
Asset Purchase Agreement with Jining Huayi Light Industry Machinery Co., Ltd. (Huayi) to acquire substantially
all the assets of Huayi, a supplier of stock-preparation equipment in China, for approximately $20 million,
subject to adjustment. We expect to finance the acquisition through a combination of cash and borrowings, in
China or under our existing $25 million revolver, which is part of our credit facility entered into in May 2005.
The closing of the acquisition is subject to customary closing conditions, including regulatory approvals and the
approval of our board of directors and Huayi’s board of directors and shareholders. The closing is expected to
occur in the second quarter of 2006. Huayi’s unaudited revenues were approximately $15.0 million in 2005.

Our Pulp and Papermaking Systems segment consists of the following product lines: stock-preparation
systems and equipment, paper machine accessory equipment, water-management systems, and, since the May
2005 acquisition of Kadant Johnson, fluid-handling systems.

Stock-preparation systems and equipment

We develop, manufacture, and market complete custom-engineered systems and equipment, as well as
standard individual components, for pulping, de-inking, screening, cleaning, and refining recycled and virgin
fibers to prepare them for entry into the paper machine during the production of recycled paper. Our principal
stock-preparation products include:

—  Recycling and approach flow systems: Our equipment includes pulping, screening, cleaning, and
de-inking systems that blend pulp mixtures and remove contaminants, such as ink, glue, metals, and
other impurities, to prepare them for entry into the paper machine during the production of recycled
paper. .

-~ Virgin pulping process equipment: Our equipment includes pulp washing, evaporator, recausticizing,
and condensate treatment systems used to remove lignin, concentrate and recycle process chemicals,
and remove condensate gases.
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Paper machine accessory equipment l !

We develop, manufacture, and market a wide range of doctor systems and related consumables that
continuously clean papermaking rolls to keep paper machines running efﬁc1ently, doctor blades made’ of a

variety of materials to perform functions including cleaning, creping, web removal, and application of cc atings;

and profiling systems that control moisture, web curl, and gloss during paper productlon Our principal paper
machine accessory products include: ‘

Water-management systems

Doctor systems and holders: Our doctor systerns clean papermaking rolls to maintain the efﬁcr‘ent
operation of paper machines by placing a blade against the roll at a constant and uniform pressure. A
doctor system consists of the structure supporting the blade and the blade holder. A large papel
machine may have as many as 100 doctor systems. :
Profiling systems: We offer profiling systems that control moisture, web curl, and gloss durmg paper
production. l
Doctor blades: We manufacture doctor blades made of a variety of materlals including metal, tr metal,
or synthetic materials that perform a variety of functions including cleamng, creping, web removal, or
the application of coatings. A typical doctor blade has a life ranging from eight hours to two months,
depending on the application.

|
I
|

We develop, manufacture, and market water-management systems and equipment used to continuously

clean paper machine fabrics, drain water from pulp mixtures, form the sheet or web and filter the proces
for reuse. Our principal water-management systems include:

Fluid-handling systems

We develop, manufacture and market rotary joints, precision unions, steam and condensate systemé R
. . . . .| .
components, and controls used primarily in the dryer section of the papermaking process and during the

|
lS water

Shower and fabric-conditioning systems: Our shower and fabric- condmomng systems assist m the
removal of contaminants that collect on paper machine fabrics used to convey the paper web through
the forming, pressing, and drying sections of the paper machine. The : average paper machine has
between 3 and 12 fabrics. These fabrics can easily become contammated with fiber, fillers, pitch, and
dirt that can have a detrimental effect on paper machine performance. and paper quality. Our shower
and fabric-conditioning systems assist in the removal of these contaminants.
Formation systems: We supply structures that drain, purify, and recycle process water from the pulp
mixture during paper sheet and web formation. |

Water-filtration systems: We offer a variety of filtration systems and strainers that remove
contaminants from process water before reuse and recover reusable frber for recycling back into the
pulp mixture. ;

production of corrugated boxboard, metals, plastics, rubber, textiles, and food. Our principal fluid-handling

systems include:

Rotary joints: Our mechanical devices, used with rotating shafts, allow the transfer of pressurized fluid
from a stationary source into and out of rotating machinery for heatmg, cooling, or the transfer of fluid
power.
Syphons: Our devices, installed primarily inside the rotating cylmders of paper machines, are used to
force steam once it has cooled into a liquid state (condensate) out of the drying cylinders throu gh rotary
joints located on either end. l
TurbulatorR tube bars: Our steel or stainless steel axial bars, installed on the inside of dryers, are used to
induce turbulence in the condensate layer to improve the uniformity and rate of heat transfer (drymg
rate) of the dryers. |
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—  Engineered steam and condensate systems: Our systems control the flow of steam from the boiler to the

paper drying cylinders, collect condensed steam, and return it to the boiler to improve energy-
efficiency during the paper drying process.

Fiber-Based and Casting Products

Our Fiber-based Products business produces biodegradable, absorbent granules from papermaking
byproducts for use primarily as carriers for agricultural, home lawn and garden, and professional lawn, turf and
ornamental applications, as well as for oil and grease absorption. In addition, our Casting Products business
manufactures grey and ductile iron castings. ’

Discontinued Operation

Prior to October 2005, we produced composite building products, including decking and railing systems and
roof tiles, made from recycled fiber, plastic, and other material, which were marketed through distributors
primarily to the building industry. On October 21, 2005, our Kadant Composites LLC subsidiary sold
substantially all of its assets, comprising the composites business, to LDI Composites Co. (the Buyer) for
approximately $11.1 million in cash and the assumption of $1.4 million of liabilities resulting in an immaterial
gain on the sale. The sale price is subject to a post-closing adjustment.

As part of the sale transaction, Kadant Composites LLC retained the warranty obligations associated W1th
products manufactured prior to the sale date. Kadant Composites LLC deposited $3.5 million of the sale proceeds
into a special escrow fund to satisfy these warranty claims. This fund will be administered by the Buyer for five
years or until the funds are exhausted, after which time Kadant Composites LLC will administer any remaining
covered warranty claims. Based on the claims submitted to the Buyer for reimbursement through year-end 2005,
the remaining balance in the special escrow fund would be reduced to approximately $2.3 million. Based on the
claims activity and payments processed after year-end 2005, we anticipate that the special escrow fund will be
utilized and Kadant Composites LLC will assume claims processing in 2006. As of December 31, 2005, the
accrued warranty reserve associated with the composites business was $5.3 million. All future activity associated
with this warranty reserve will continue to be classified in the results of the discontinued operation in our '
consolidated financial statements. '

Research and Development

We develop a broad range of products for all facets of the markets we serve. We focus our research and
development efforts on the technological advancement of our stock-preparation, paper machine accessory, fluid-
handling, and water-management products.

Our research and development expenses from continuing operations were $4.9 million, $3.1 million, and
$4.3 million in 2005*, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

Raw Materials

Raw materials, components, and supplies for our significant products are available either from a number of
different suppliers or from alternative sources that we believe could be developed without a material adverse
effect on our business.

* Unless otherwise noted, references to 2005, 2004, and 2003 in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are for the
fiscal years ended December 31, 2005, January 1, 2005, and January 3, 2004, respectively.
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The raw material used in the manufacture of our fiber-based granules is obtained from two paper re

cycling

mills. The mills have the exclusive right to supply papermaking byproducts to our existing granulation plant in

Green Bay, Wisconsin, under a contract which expires in December 2007 and is; renewable every two ye‘nars by
mutual agreement. Although we believe that our relationship with the mills is gpod, the mills may not agree to

renew the contract upon its expiration. Due to manufacturing changes at the mills, we recently had some!
difficulty obtaining sufficient raw material to operate at optimal production levels. We are working with|

the mills

to ensure a stable supply of raw material. To date, we have been able to meet all of our customer dPlxvery

requirements, but there can be no assurance that we will be able to meet future c‘lehvery requirements. If|
were unable or unwilling to supply us sufficient fiber, we would be forced to fmd an alternative supplier
raw material. |

|
Patents, Licenses, and Trademarks \

We protect our intellectual property rights by applying for and obtaining patents when appropriate.
rely on technical know-how, trade secrets, and trademarks to maintain our comf)etitive position.
|
Pulp and Papermaking Systems ,‘
We have numerous U.S. and foreign patents, including foreign counterparts to our U.S. patents, exp

various dates ranging from 2006 to 2024. We maintain a worldwide network ofilicensees and cross- hcen]

products with other companies serving the pulp, papermaking, converting, and paper recycling mdustrle‘.

Fiber-Based Products |

|

We currently hold several U.S. patents, expiring on various dates ranging from 2008 to 2021, relate;

various aspects of the processing of fiber-based granules and the use of these materials in the agricultura

professional turf, home lawn and garden, general absorption, oil and grease absorptlon and catbox ﬁller‘
We also have foreign counterparts to these U.S. patents in Canada.

Seasonal Influences

Pulp and Papermaking Systems

| ,
There are no material seasonal influences on this segment’s sales of products and services.
\

Fiber-Based and Casting Products 1

\ ’ i
Our fiber-based granular products business experiences fluctuations in sales, usually in the third qu
when sales decline due to the seasonality of the agricultural and home lawn anq garden markets.

1
\
Working Capital Requirements ‘

There are no special inventory requirements or credit terms extended to customers that would have
material adverse effect on our working capital. ‘

|
| |
Dependency on a Single Customer i

No single customer accounted for more than 10% of our consolidated revenues or more than 10% o
Pulp and Papermaking Systems segment’s revenues in any of the past three years. Revenues from China
$29.2 million, $29.4 million, and $31.1 million in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. 1
\ |
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Backlog

Our backlog of firm orders for the Pulp and Papermaking Systems segment was $52.5 million and $34.2
million at year-end 2005 and 2004, respectively. We anticipate that substantially all of the backlog at
December 31, 2005, will be shipped or completed during the next 12 months. Some of these orders may be
canceled by the customer upon payment of a cancellation fee.

Competition

We face significant competition in each of our principal markets. We compete primarily on the basis of
quality, price, service, technical expertise, and product performance and innovation. We believe the reputation
that we have established for quality products and in-depth process knowledge provides us with a competitive
advantage. In addition, a significant portion of our business is generated from our existing worldwide customer
base. To maintain this base, we have emphasized technology, service, and a problem-solving relationship with
our customers.

We are a leading supplier of stock-preparation equipment used for the preparation of recycled and virgin
fibers in the production of recycled paper. Several major competitors supply various pieces of equipment for this
process. Our principal competitors in this market are Voith Paper GmbH, Groupe Laperriere & Vecrrault Inc.,
Metso Corporation, and Maschinenfabrik Andritz AG. We compete in this market primarily on the basis of
technical expertise, product innovation, and price. Other competitors specialize in segments within the white- and
brown-paper markets.

We are a leading supplier of specialty accessory equipment for paper machines. Our principal global
competitors in this market are Joh. Clouth GmbH & Co. KG and Metso Corporation. Because of the high capital
costs of paper machines and the role of our accessories in maintaining the efficiency of these machines, we
generally compete in this market on the basis of service, technical expertise, performance, and price.

We are a leading supplier of fluid-handling systems and equipment, offering global sales and service,
application expertise, and an extensive rotary joint product line. There are numerous competitors in this market,
including Deublin Company, Barco Company, Christian Maier GmbH & Co. KG, and Duff-Norton Company. In
addition, due to the highly fragmented nature of the rotary joint market, we compete with numerous local
competitors. We generally compete based on process knowledge, technical competency, product and service
quality, and price.

Various competitors exist in the formation, shower and fabric-conditioning systems, and filtration systems
markets. Principal competitors are IBS-Paper Performance Group in formation and shower and fabric
conditioning systems and Asten/Johnson Foils in formation tables. In addition, a variety of smaller companies
compete within the shower and fabric-conditioning systems and filtration systems markets. In each of these
markets, we generally compete on the basis of process knowledge, application experience, product quality,
service, and price.

Environmental Protection Regulations

We believe that our compliance with federal, state, and local environmental protection regulations will not
have a material adverse effect on our capital expenditures, earnings, or competitive position.

Employees
As of December 31, 2005, we had approximately 1,400 employees worldwide.
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Financial Information

Financial information concerning our segment and product lines is summarized in Part 1V, Item 15, [Exhibits
and Financial Statement Schedules, Note 11, which begins on page F-1 of this Report.

Financial information about exports by domestic operations and about foreign operations is summarized in
Part IV, Item 15, Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules, Note 11, which begins on page F-1 of this|Report.

Available Information

We file annual, quarterly, and current reports, proxy statements, and other documents with the Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC) under the Exchange Act. The public may read and copy any materials|that we
file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549, The public
may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calhng the SEC at 1-800- SEC-0330
Also, the SEC maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and information ‘statements and other 1nf0rmat1on
regarding issuers, including us, that file electronically with the SEC. The public can obtain any doc umeqts that
we file with the SEC at www.sec.gov. We also make available free of charge through our website at
www kadant.com our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Forrn 10-Q, Current Reportsjon Form
8-K, and amendments to these Reports filed with or furnished pursuant to Sect1on 13(a) or 15(d) of the PTxchange
Act, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file these materials with, or furnish them to, the
SEC. We are not including the information contained in our website as part of this Report nor are we |

incorporating the information on our website into this Report by reference.

|
Executive Officers of the Registrant |

The following table summarizes certain information concerning individuals who are our executive )fﬁcers
as of March 1, 2006: |

Name Age Present Title (Fiscal Year First Became Executive Officer)

William A. Rainville ..... .. 64 Chairman of the Board, President, and Chief Executive Officer (1991)
Edward J. Sindoni . ........ 61 Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer (2006) |
Thomas M. O’Brien ....... 54 Executive Vice President and Chief Finarzlcial Officer (1994) |
Jonathan W. Painter ....... 47 Executive Vice President (1997) ] ?
Edwin D. Healy ........... 68 Vice President (2002) | ;
Sandra L. Lambert ........ 50 Vice President, General Counsel, and Secretary (2001) 1
Eric T. Langevin .......... 43 ' Vice President (2006) \ |
Rudolf A. Leerentveld ..... 49  Vice President (2005) | }
Michael J. McKenney . ..... 44 Vice President, Finance and Chief Accountmg Officer (2002)

|
Mr. Rainville has been president and chief executive officer since our incorporation in 1991, a member of
our board of directors since 1992, and chairman of our board since 2001. Prior to our spinoff in 2001,
Mr. Rainville also held various managerial positions with Thermo Electron, including chief operating ot‘ﬁcer,
recycling and resource recovery, a position he held since 1998, and for more th:an five years prior to that, senior
vice president. Prior to joining Thermo Electron, Mr. Rainville held positions at Drott Manufacturing, Paper
Industry Engineering, and Sterling Pulp and Paper. ‘
Mr. Sindoni was named an executive vice president and chief operating offlcer in March 2006 and is
responsible for global operations. He served as a senior vice president from 2001 to 2006 with responsibility for
our paper machine accessory equipment and water-management systems businesses. From 1992 to 2001, he
served as a vice president. Prior to joining us in 1987, he had a 21-year career \;vith the General Electric
Company. ‘
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Mr. O’Brien has been an executive vice president since 1998 and our chief financial officer since 2001. He
served as our treasurer from 2001 to February 2005 and also as vice president, finance, from 1991 to 1998. Prior
to joining us, Mr. O’Brien held various finance positions at Racal Interlan, Inc., Prime Computer, Compugraphic
Corporation, and the General Electric Company.

Mr. Painter has been an executive vice president since 1997 and president of our composite building
products business from 2001 until its sale in 2005. He served as our treasurer and treasurer of Thermo Electron
from 1994 until 1997. Prior to 1994, Mr. Painter held various managerial positions with us and at Thermo
Electron.

Mr. Healy has been a vice president since October 2002 and is responsible for our stock-preparation
equipment business. He also served as the president of our Kadant Black Clawson Inc. subsidiary from 2000 to
mid-2003. He held various managerial positions at Kadant Black Clawson following its acquisition in 1997 and
before that, served as the president of our Fiberprep Inc. subsidiary from 1988 to 1997. Prior to joining us,

Mr. Healy had a 29-year career with Bird, Escher, Wyss and its predecessor, Bird Machinery.

Ms. Lambert has been a vice president and our general counsel since 2001, and our secretary since our
incorporation in 1991. Prior to joining us, she was a vice president and secretary of Thermo Electron since 1999
and 1990, respectively, and before that was a member of Thermo Electron’s legal department.

Mr. Langevin was named a vice president in March 2006, with responsibility for our paper machine
accessory equipment and water-management systems businesses. Mr. Langevin has been president of our Kadant
Web Systems subsidiary since 2001, and before that served as its senior vice president and vice president of
operations. Prior to that, Mr. Langevin managed several product groups and departments within Kadant Web
Systems after joining us in 1986 as a product development engineer.

Mr. Leerentveld has been a vice president since June 2005 and has served as the president of our Kadant
Johnson Inc. subsidiary, acquired in May 2005. Prior to its acquisition, Mr. Leerentveld served as president of
The Johnson Corporation since 1998, and before that held various managerial positions within The Johnson
Corporation; Feda, Inc.; and EDCS, International Investment Fund.

Mr. McKenney has been our vice president, finance and chief accounting officer since January 2002, and
served as our corporate controller since 1997. Mr. McKenney was controtler of Kadant AES, our division
acquired from Albany International Inc., from 1993 to 1997. Prior to 1993, Mr. McKenney held various financial
positions at Albany International.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

) In connection with the “safe harbor” provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, we

wish to caution readers that the following important factors, among others, in some cases have affected, and in
the future could affect, our actual results and could cause our actual results in 2006 and beyond to differ
materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statements made by us, or on our behalf.

Our business is dependent on the condition of the pulp and paper industry.

We sell products primarily to the pulp and paper industry, which is a cyclical industry. Generally, the
financial condition of the global pulp and paper industry corresponds to the condition of the general economy, as
well as to a number of other factors, including pulp and paper production capacity relative to demand. In recent
years, the industry in certain geographic regions, notably North America, has been in a prolonged downcycle,
resulting in depressed pulp and paper prices, decreased spending, mill closures, consolidations, and bankruptcies,
all of which have adversely affected our business. As paper companies consolidate in response to market
weakness, they frequently reduce capacity and postpone or even cancel capacity addition or expansion projects.
These cyclical downturns can cause our sales to decline and adversely affect our profitability.
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Our business is subject to economic, currency, political, and other risks associated with international sales and

operations. | ;
|

During 2005, approximately 60% of our sales were to customers outside the United States, prmc1pa1ly in

Europe and Asia. International revenues are subject to a number of risks, mcludl‘ng the following:

— agreements may be difficult to enforce and receivables difficult to collect through a foreign co%
legal system; ‘ !

—  foreign customers may have longer payment cycles; ! i

—  foreign countries may impose additional withholding taxes or otherwise tax our foreign income,

impose tariffs, or adopt other restrictions on foreign trade; and : r
|
—  the protection of intellectual property in foreign countries may be more difficult to enforce.

ntry’s

Although we seek to charge our customers in the same currency in which qur operating costs are incurred,

fluctuations in currency exchange rates may affect product demand and adversely affect the profitability

dollars of products we provide in international markets where payment for our products and services is m

their local currencies. Any of these factors could have a material adverse impact on our business and resu
operations. i

A significant portion of our international sales has, and may in the future, come from China. An inc
revenues, as well as our proposed acquisition of a manufacturing and assembly fac1l1ty in China, will exp
to increased risk in the event of changes in the policies of the Chinese government, political unrest, unsta
economic conditions, or other developments in China or in U.S.-China relatlons‘ that are adverse to trade,
including enactment of protectionist legislation or trade restrictions. Orders from customers in China, pzuJ
for large systems that have been tailored to a customer’s specific requirements, involve increased credit r
to payment terms that are applicable to doing business in China. In addition, the timing of these orders 15‘
difficult to predict. \

i
i

We are subject to intense competition ivi all our markets. ‘

We believe that the principal competitive factors affecting the markets for our products include quali
price, service, technical expertise, and product innovation. Our competitors 1nclude a number of large |
multinational corporations that may have substantially greater financial, marketmg, and other resources t

do. As a result, they may be able to adapt more quickly to new or emerging tecﬂnologms and changes 1n‘
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customer requirements, or to devote greater resources to the promotion and sale of their services and products.

Competitors’ technologies may prove to be superior to ours. Our current produqts, those under developm

ent, and

our ability to develop new technologies may not be sufficient to enable us to compete effectively. Compg‘:tition,
especially in China, could increase if new companies enter the market or if existing competitors expand their

product lines or intensify efforts within existing product lines. |
|
|
Our debt may adversely affect our cash flow and may restrict our investment opportunities.

On May 9, 2005, we entered into a Credit Agreement, consisting of a $60 m11110n five-year term loa

nanda

$25 million revolver. On May 11, 2005, we borrowed $60 million to fund the acqu1s1t10n of Kadant John‘son
under the term loan. We may also obtain additional long-term debt and working capital lines of credit tojmeet

future financing needs, which would have the effect of increasing our total levejrage.
Our leverage could have negative consequences, including: |

—  increasing our vulnerability to adverse economic and industry condltlons

—  limiting our ability to obtain additional financing,

—  limiting our ability to pay dividends on or repurchase our capital stock

- limiting our ability to acquire new products and technologies through!acquisitions or hcensmm

—  limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the mdusmes in

which we compete.

and
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Our indebtedness bears interest at floating rates pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement. As a result,
our interest payment obligations on this indebtedness will increase if interest rates increase. To reduce the
exposure to floating rates, we have converted 60% of the term loan to a fixed rate of interest through an interest
rate swap.

Our ability to satisfy our obligations and to reduce our total debt depends on our future operating
performance and on economic, financial, competitive, and other factors beyond our control. Our business may
not generate sufficient cash flows to meet these obligations or to successfully execute our business strategy. If we
are unable to service our debt and fund our business, we may be forced to reduce or delay capital expenditures or
research and development expenditures, seek additional financing or equity capital, restructure or refinance our
debt, or sell assets. We may not be able to obtain additional financing or refinance existing debt or sell assets on
terms acceptable to us or at all.

Restrictions in our Credit Agreement may limit our activities.

Our Credit Agreement contains, and future debt instruments to which we may become subject may contain,
restrictive covenants that limit our ability to engage in activities that could otherwise benefit us, including
restrictions on our ability and the ability of our subsidiaries to:

—  incur additional indebtedness,

—  pay dividends on, redeem, or repurchase our capital stock,

— make investments,

—  create liens,

—  sell assets,

—  enter into transactions with affiliates, and

—  consolidate, merge, or transfer all or substantially all of our assets and the assets of our subsidiaries.

We are also required to meet specified financial ratios under the terms of our Credit Agreement. Our ability
to comply with these financial restrictions and covenants is dependent on our future performance, which is
subject to prevailing economic conditions and other factors, including factors that are beyond our control such as
foreign exchange rates, interest rates, changes in technology, and changes in the level of competition.

Our failure to comply with any of these restrictions or covenants may result in an event of default under our
Credit Agreement, which could permit acceleration of the debt under that instrument and require us to repay that
debt before its scheduled due date.

If an event of default occurs, we may not have sufficient funds available to make the required payments
under our indebtedness. If we are unable to repay amounts owed under our Credit Agreement, those lenders may
be entitled to foreclose on and sell the collateral that secures our borrowings under the agreement.

Our Kadant Composites LLC subsidiary is responsible for certain continued warranty obligations associated
with its former composites business, even though it has disposed of this business.

On October 21, 2005, Kadant Composites LLC sold its composites business. As part of the transaction,
Kadant Composites LLC retained the warranty obligation associated with products manufactured prior to the sale
date. Our consolidated results will continue to be impacted by these warranty obligations and we may be unable
to accurately predict the potential liabilities related to these product warranties. In 2003 and 2004, Kadant
Composites LLC experienced a significant increase in warranty claims and warranty expense related to its
composite decking products including, but not limited to, contraction of certain deck boards and excessive
oxidation that affects the integrity of the plastic used in some of its decking products. Included in the increased
warranty expense was the cost of exchanging material held by its distributors with new material that, we believe,
is not susceptible to this oxidation issue, and our best estimate of future potential costs related to valid claims
arising from installed products. In 2005, Kadant Composites LLC experienced a higher-than-expected level of
warranty claims associated with previously identified product issues. Although Kadant Composites LLC
increased the warranty provisions accordingly, the reserve established may not be sufficient if Kadant

10
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Composites LLC incurs warranty claims higher than anticipated. It is reasonably; possible that the ultimaﬁ e
settlement of such warranty claims may exceed the amount of the warranty reserve. In addition, there can be no
assurance that other problems will not develop. A continued high level of warranty claims or expenses would

have an adverse impact on the warranty reserve and would adversely affect our consolidated results.
|

QOur inability to successfully integrate Kadant Johnson into our business could have a material adverse ejfect on

our business. ‘

On May 11, 2005, we acquired Kadant Johnson. The integration of Kadant Johnson into our business will
involve the merger of employees, products, and services over multiple U.S. and international locations. We may
not be successful in integrating this business into our current structure, or in obtammg the anticipated cost

I
savings or synergies from the acquisition. To meet our quarterly certification requ1rements and in anticipation of

incorporating Kadant Johnson into our 2006 Sarbanes-Oxley compliance process we will also be perfom‘nng a

detailed review of Kadant Johnson’s internal control structure to ensure that its controls over financial re;‘)ortmg
are consistent with our policies and procedures. Given the multi-location structure of the Kadant Johnson
business, this review will take significant time and effort, similar to our Sarbanes -Oxley compliance efforcs in
2004, and will involve significant cost. During this process, we may identify control deficiencies in addition to
those disclosed elsewhere in this periodic report. Our ability to realize the value ‘of the goodwill and othe
intangibles recorded for this acquisition will depend on the future cash flows of the Kadant Johnson business. If
these future cash flows are below what we anticipated, we may incur future 1mpa1rment losses assorlated‘ with

goodwill and intangibles, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. |

Our inability to successfully complete the acquisition of a manufacturing and assembly plant in Chma could
adversely affect our business. 1 ‘

Our strategy includes the ability to manufacture components and equlpment in low-cost regions sucl“l as
China. We recently entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement to acquire a Chinese supplier of stock- preparatlon
equipment. This acquisition is subject to a number of conditions, including the negotrauon and signing of/ a
definitive purchase agreement and satisfaction of customary conditions and regulatory approvals, and there is no
assurance that we will be able to complete this acquisition on favorable terms or on a timely basis. Our in “ablhty
to successfully complete the acquisition would delay the implementation of our strategy to manufacture ﬂ)‘arts and
components for stock-preparation equipment in a low-cost region, and could adversely affect our ability to é

compete cost-effectively in Asia and other markets. \‘

In anticipation of completing this acquisition, we have terminated our effor‘ts to construct an assembly and
manufacturing facility outside Beijing. We may not be able to recoup our expenses to date associated w1gh the

formation of our subsidiary to operate this facility, such as the design and construction of the facility, and other
costs 1ncurred in connection with this effort. |
|

‘ |
Qur inability to successfully identify and complete acquisitions or successfully mtegrate any new or prev jous

acquisitions could have a material adverse effect on our business. }

Our strategy includes the acquisition of technologies and businesses that complement or augment 01;ir
existing products and services. Promising acquisitions are difficult to identify and complete for a number| of
reasons, including competition among prospective buyers and the need for regulatory, including antitrust,
approvals. We do incur costs from time to time associated with potential acquisitions which are deferred| during
the due diligence phase. Future operating results could be negatively impacted i in any quarter in which we
determine that a potential acquisition will not close and such associated costs aro expensed. Any acqu1smon we
may complete may be made at a substantial premium over the fair value of the net assets of the acqurred |
company. We may not be able to complete future acquisitions, integrate any acquired businesses success ully
into our existing businesses, make such businesses profitable, or realize antlcrpated cost savings or synergies, if

11
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any, from these acquisitions. In addition, we have previously acquired several companies and businesses and, as
a result, we have recorded significant goodwill and intangible assets on our balance sheet. Any future impairment
losses identified will be recorded as reductions to operating income, which could have a material adverse effect
on our results of operations. Our ability to realize the value of the goodwill and intangibles that we have recorded
will depend on the future performance and cash flows of these businesses, which will depend, in part, on how
well we have integrated these businesses.

Our inability to obtain the anticipated benefits from the restructuring of our Kadant Lamort subsidiary would
have a negative effect on our future operating results.

In an effort to improve operating performance at our Kadant Lamort subsidiary in France, we approved a
restructuring of that subsidiary on November 18, 2004. This restructuring is intended to strengthen Kadant
Lamort’s competitive position in the European paper industry. We accrued a restructuring charge of $9.2 million
in the fourth quarter of 2004 for severance and other termination costs in connection with the workforce
reduction. If we are unable to obtain the anticipated benefits from this restructuring, our future operating results
would be negatively impacted.

Natural gas is a significant cost in the manufacture of our fiber-based granular products, and our results from
operations will be adversely affected by continued high natural gas costs.

We use natural gas in the production of our fiber-based granular products the price of which increased
dramatically at the end of 2005. We seek to manage our exposure to natural gas price fluctuations by entering
into short-term forward contracts to purchase specified quantities of natural gas from a supplier. We may not be
able to effectively manage our exposure to natural gas price fluctuations. Continued high costs of natural gas will
adversely affect our consolidated results if we are unable to effectively manage our exposure or pass these costs
on to customers in the form of surcharges.

We are dependent on two mills for the raw material used in our fiber-based granules, and we may not be able to
obtain raw material on commercially reasonable terms.

We are dependent on two paper mills for the fiber used in the manufacture of our fiber-based granular
products. These mills have the exclusive right to supply the papermaking byproducts used in the manufacturing
process. Due to manufacturing changes at the mills, we recently had some difficulty obtaining sufficient raw
material to operate at optimal production levels. We are working with the mills to ensure a stable supply of raw
material. To date, we have been able to meet all of our customer delivery requirements, but there can be no
assurance that we will be able to meet future delivery requirements. Although we believe our relationship with
the mills is good, the mills could decide not to renew the contract when it expires at the end of 2007, or may not
agree to renew on commercially reasonable terms. If the mills were unable or unwilling to supply us sufficient
fiber, we would be forced to find an alternative supply for this raw material. We may be unable to find an
alternative supply on commercially reasonable terms or could incur excessive transportation costs if an
alternative supplier were found, which would increase our manufacturing costs and might prevent prices for our
products from being competitive.

Our inability to protect our intellectual property could have a material adverse effect on our business. In
addition, third parties may claim that we infringe their intellectual property, and we could suffer significant
litigation or licensing expense as a result.

We place considerable emphasis on obtaining patent and trade secret protection for significant new
technologies, products, and processes because of the length of time and expense associated with bringing new
products through the development process and into the marketplace. Our success depends in part on our ability to
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develop patentable products and obtain and enforce patent protection for our products both in the United|States
and in other countries. We own numerous U.S. and foreign patents, and we intend to file additional appl'cations,
as appropriate, for patents covering our products. Patents may not be issued for any pending or future patent
applications owned by or licensed to us, and the claims allowed under any issued patents may not be suflfrclently
broad to protect our technology. Any issued patents owned by or licensed to us may be challenged, 1nvalldated,
or circumvented, and the rights under these patents may not provide us with competitive advantages. A patent
relating to our fiber-based granular products expired in the second quarter of 2004. As a result, we could|be
subject to increased competition in this market, which could have an adverse effect on this business. In dddition,
competitors may design around our technology or develop competing technologres Intellectual property\ rights
may also be unavailable or limited in some foreign countries, which could make it easier for competitors to
capture increased market share. We could incur substantial costs to defend ourselves in suits brought agé‘inst us
or in suits in which we may assert our patent rights against others. An unfavorable outcome of any such litigation
could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. In addition, as our patents expire,
we rely on trade secrets and proprietary know-how to protect our products. We cannot be sure the steps we have
taken or will take in the future will be adequate to deter misappropriation of our proprietary information jand
intellectual property. ‘ ‘

We seek to protect trade secrets and proprietary know-how, in part, through confidentiality agreements with
our collaborators, employees, and consultants. These agreements may be breached, we may not have adequate
remedies for any breach, and our trade secrets may otherwise become known or be independently developed by
our competitors. i !

Third parties may assert claims against us to the effect that we are 1nfr1ng1ng on their intellectual property
rights. We could incur substantial costs and diversion of management resources in defending these cla1m§ which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In adfhtron
parties making these claims could secure a judgment awarding substantial damages, as well as 1nJunct1ve! or other
equitable relief, which could effectively block our ability to make, use, sell, distribute, or market our pro”ducts
and services in the United States or abroad. In the event that a claim relating to mtellectual property is asserted
against us, or third parties not affiliated with us hold pending or issued patents that relate to our productd or
technology, we may seek licenses to such intellectual property or challenge those patents. However, we may be
unable to obtain these licenses on commercially reasonable terms, if at all, and our challenge of the patents may
be unsuccessful. Our failure to obtain the necessary licenses or other rights could prohibit the sale, mandfacture,
or distribution of our products and, therefore, could have a material adverse effect on our business, ﬁnan,lal
condition, and results of operations. } |

|
|
Fluctuations in our quarterly operating results may cause our stock price to dec}line. |

Given the nature of the markets in which we participate and the effect of Staff Accounting Bulletin 1(SAB)
No. 104, “Revenue Recognition,” we may not be able to reliably predict future revenues and profitability, and
unexpected changes may cause us to adjust our operations. A large proportion of our costs are fixed, due in part
to our significant selling, research and development, and manufacturing costs. Thus small declines in reyenues
could disproportionately affect our operating results. Other factors that could affect our quarterly operamg :
results include: j

—  failure of our products to pass contractually agreed upon acceptance tests which would delay or

prohibit recognition of revenues under SAB No. 104;

— failure of a customer, particularly in China, to comply with an order’ s contractual obligations;

—  adverse changes in demand for and market acceptance of our products 5

—  competitive pressures resulting in lower sales prices of our products; | |

— adverse changes in the pulp and paper industry; |
— delays or problems in our introduction of new products; 1 ‘
— our competitors’ announcements of new products, services, or technologrcal innovations; |

—  contractual liabilities incurred by us related to guarantees of our product performance
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— increased costs of raw materials or supplies, including the cost of energy; and
—  changes in the timing of product orders.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents, under Delaware law, and in our shareholder rights plan
could prevent or delay transactions that our shareholders may favor.

Provisions of our charter and bylaws may discourage, delay, or prevent a merger or acquisition that our
shareholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which shareholders might otherwise receive a
premium for their shares. For example, these provisions:

-  authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock without any need for action by shareholders;

—  provide for a classified board of directors with staggered three-year terms;

—  require supermajority shareholder voting to effect various amendments to our charter and bylaws;

- eliminate the ability of our shareholders to call special meetings of shareholders;

—  prohibit shareholder action by written consent; and

- establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or for

proposing matters that can be acted on by shareholders at shareholder meetings.

In addition, our board of directors has adopted a shareholder rights plan intended to protect shareholders in
the event of an unfair or coercive offer to acquire our company and to provide our board of directors with
adequate time to evaluate unsolicited offers. Preferred stock purchase rights have been distributed to our common
shareholders pursuant to the rights plan. This rights plan may have anti-takeover effects. The rights plan will
cause substantial dilution to a person or group that attempts to acquire us on terms that our board of directors
does not believe are in our best interests and those of our shareholders and may discourage, delay, or prevent a
merger or acquisition that shareholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which shareholders
might otherwise receive a premium for their shares.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.

Item 2. Properties

We believe that our facilities are in good condition and are suitable and adequate for our present operations.
We do not anticipate significant difficulty in obtaining lease renewals or alternate space as needed. The location
and general character of our principal properties as of December 31, 2005, are as follows:

Pulp and Papermaking Systems

We own approximately 1,351,000 square feet and lease approximately 146,000 square feet, under leases
expiring on various dates ranging from 2006 to 2011, of manufacturing, engineering, and office space. Our
principal engineering and manufacturing facilities are located in Vitry-le-Francois, France; Auburn,
Massachusetts; Theodore, Alabama; Queensbury, New York; Mason, Ohio; Three Rivers, Michigan;
Guadalajara, Mexico; Summerstown, Ontario, Canada; Sao Paulo, Brazil; Weesp, The Netherlands; Bury,
England; Hindas, Sweden; and Wuxi, China.
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Other

|
|
\
We lease approximately 6,000 square feet in Acton, Massachusetts, for our, corporate headquarters under a
lease expiring in December 2006. We own approximately 26,000 square feet and lease approximately 15,000
square feet, under a lease expiring in January 2007, of manufacturing and office space located in Green Bay,
Wisconsin. We also own 33,000 square feet of manufacturing and office space 1h Springport, Michigan.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings ‘ ’
Not applicable.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders !

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, and
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Market Price of Common Stock

On May 14, 2003, our common stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol
KAL Prior to that date, our common stock was traded on the American Stock Exchange.

The following table sets forth the high and low sales prices of our common stock for 2005 and 2004, as
reported in the consolidated transaction reporting system.

2005 2004
Quarter High Low High Low
Farst .o e e e e e $21.22 $18.15 $23.49 $19.17
SeCOnd ... 2265 17.02 2330 18.08
Third ... e e 23.18 18.27 23.15 17.72
Fourth . ... 20.54 1650 2090 1781

Holders of Common Stock

As of February 28, 2006, we had approximately 5,796 holders of record of our common stock. This does not
include holdings in street or nominee name. The closing market price on the New York Stock Exchange for our
common stock on February 28, 2006, was $18.89 per share.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends and we do not at this time expect to pay cash dividends in
the foreseeable future because our policy has been to use earnings to finance expansion and growth. Payment of
dividends will rest within the discretion of the board of directors and will depend upon, among other factors, our
earnings, capital requirements, and financial condition. Qur ability to pay dividends is further restricted by the
terms of our Credit Agreement.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table provides information about purchases by us of our common stock during the fourth
quarter of 2005:

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Total Number of Approximate Dollar Value

Total Number Shares Purchased as of Shares that May Yet
of Shares Average Price Paid Part of Publicly Be Purchased
Period Purchased per Share Announced Plans (1) Under the Plans
10/2/05 —10/31/05 ............ - - - $11,623,747
11/1/0§ -11/30/05 ............ 204,000 $18.04 204,000 $ 7,944,105
12/1/05 - 12/31/05 ............ - - - $ 7,944,105
Total: .............c.. ... 204,000 $18.04 204,000

(1) On May 6, 2005, our board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to $15 million of our equity
securities in the open market or in negotiated transactions for the period from May 18, 2005 through
May 18, 2006. As of December 31, 2005, we had repurchased 1,200 shares of our common stock for
$25 thousand in the second quarter of 2005, 171,500 shares of our common stock for $3.4 million in the
third quarter of 2005, and 204,000 shares of our common stock for $3.7 million in the fourth quarter of 2005
under this authorization.

16




|
|
\
\
L
|

Kadant Inc. 2005 Annual Report
Item 6. Selected Financial Data

1 2002
(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2005 2004 (b) | 2003 (a) (a,c,d) 2001(a,d,e)
Statement of Operations Data !
Revenues .............. .., $243,713  $194,966 | $191,507 $177,113 $219,226
Income from Continuing Operations Before | ‘

Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting :

Principle ....... .. . i i 9,865 5,753+ 13,123 8,280 12,522
Loss from Discontinued Operation, Net of Tax ... ... (2,988) (5,099)"  (1,3006) (2,326) (2,540}
Income Before Cumulative Effect of Change in :

Accounting Principle ............. ... 6,877 654 11,817 5,954 9,982
Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle, 1

Netof Tax . ...... ... i .. - - - (32,756) -
NetIncome (LOSS) ..., $ 6877 $§ 654 ‘ $ 11,817 $(26,802) $§ 9,982
Basic Earnings (Loss) per Share: 1

Continuing Operations Before Cumulative Effect |

of Change in Accounting Principle ......... $ AT 4118 96 % 64 5 102
Discontinued Operation .................... (21 (.36). (.09) (.18) (21)
Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting 1

Principle ......... ... ... i .. - - - (2.53) ! -
Net Income (LOSS) .. ......ooeeeeeeeenn... $ 5008 058 87§ (207§ 8l

Diluted Earnings (Loss) per Share:

Continuing Operations Before Cumulative Effect ! ‘
of Change in Accounting Principle ......... $ 70 % 40 ' $ 94 % 63 3 102

Discontinued Operation .................... (21 (.35) ‘ (.09) (.18) (21
Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting } ;
Principle ... - - - (2.49) -

Net Income (LOSS) ... o.vvvnreeeeennnn .. $ 49 $ 05]% 85 $ (04 $ .81

Balance Sheet Data (f) ' | !

Working Capital (gh) .............. .. ... ..., $ 75,446 $113,650 | $114,935 §$ 83,855 L$l67,451

Total Assets .........vviiinnnenn.. S 355,811 - 285,237 ‘} 271,713 231,517 | 367,654

Long-Term Obligations ........................ 46,500 - - 580 119,267

Shareholders’ Investment . ...................... 207,625 212,461 i 211,758 181,257 | 183,557

(a) Restated to reflect the composite building products business as a d1scont1nued operation. ‘

(b) Reflects $9.5 million of pre-tax restructuring and other costs. w l

(¢) Reflects $2.4 million of pre-tax restructuring and other costs, the redemptlon and repurchase of $118.1
million of the Company’s 4 2% subordinated convertible debentures, resultlng in a pre-tax gain of 550 0
thousand, and cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle of $32.8 million associated with the
adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, ‘\

(d) Annual results were revised to reclassify extraordinary gains from the Company s redemption and ‘
repurchase of its debentures in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 145.

(e) Reflects $0.7 million of pre-tax restructuring costs and the repurchase of $34.9 million of the Company’s

412% subordinated convertible debentures, resulting in a pre-tax gain of $1.1 million.

(f) Includes the composite building products business, which is reflected as a discontinued operation. '

(g) Includes the 2001 redemption of common stock of a subsidiary for $13.1 rmlhon |

(h) Includes $7.4 million, $8.1 million, $12.2 million, $10.1 million, and $9.0 mllhon in 2005, 2004, 2003,

2002, and 2001, respectively, associated with the discontinued operation. \

17 | :




Kadant Inc. 2005 Annual Report

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Reference is made throughout this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations to Notes included in the Consolidated Financial Statements, beginning on page F-1 of this
Report.

Overview
Industry Background

Our continuing operations are comprised of one reportable operating segment: Pulp and Papermaking
Systems (Papermaking Systems), and two product lines, Fiber-based Products and Casting Products. Through our
Pulp and Papermaking Systems segment, we develop, manufacture, and market a range of equipment and
products for the domestic and international papermaking and paper recycling industries. We have a large, stable
customer base that includes most of the world’s major paper manufacturers. As a result, we have one of the
largest installed bases of equipment in the pulp and paper industry. Our installed base provides us with a spare
parts and consumables business that yields higher margins than our capital equipment business, and which, we
believe, is less susceptible to the cyclical trends in the paper industry.

Through our Fiber-based Products line, we manufacture and sell granules derived from pulp fiber for use as
carriers for agricultural, home lawn and garden, and professional lawn, turf and ornamental applications, as well
as for oil and grease absorption. We also manufacture and sell grey and ductile iron castings through our Casting
Products business.

Prior to the sale of the composites business, we produced composite building products, including decking
and railing systems and roof tiles, made from recycled fiber, plastic, and other material, which were marketed
through distributors primarily to the building industry. On October 21, 2005, our Kadant Composites LLC
subsidiary (Kadant Composites LL.C) sold substantially all of its assets, comprising the composites business, to
LDI Composites Co. (the Buyer) for approximately $11.1 million in cash and the assumption of $1.4 million of
liabilities resulting in an immaterial gain on sale. The sale price is subject to a post-closing adjustment.

As part of the sale transaction, Kadant Composites LLC retained the warranty obligations associated with
products manufactured prior to the sale date. Kadant Composites LLC deposited $3.5 million of the sale proceeds
into a special escrow fund to satisfy these warranty claims. This fund will be administered by the Buyer for five
years or until the funds are exhausted, after which time Kadant Composites LLC will administer any remaining
covered warranty claims. Based on the claims submitted to the Buyer for reimbursement through year-end 2005,
the remaining balance in the special escrow fund would be reduced to approximately $2.3 million. Based on the
claims activity and payments processed after year-end 2005, we anticipate that the special escrow fund will be
utilized and Kadant Composites LLC will assume claims processing in 2006. As of December 31, 2005, the
accrued warranty reserve associated with the composites business was $5.3 million. All future activity associated
with this warranty reserve will continue to be classified in the results of the discontinued operation in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

International Sales

During 2005, approximately 60% of our sales were to customers outside the United States, principally in
Europe and Asia. We generally seek to charge our customers in the same currency in which our operating costs
are incurred. However, our financial performance and competitive position can be affected by currency exchange
rate fluctuations affecting the relationship between the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies. We seek to reduce our
exposure to currency fluctuations through the use of forward currency exchange contracts. We may enter into
forward contracts to hedge certain firm purchase and sale commitments denominated in currencies other than our
subsidiaries’ functional currencies. These contracts hedge transactions principally denominated in U.S. dollars.
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Application of Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates J

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to n‘take
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contmgvnt
assets and liabilities at the date of our consolidated financial statements, and thé reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from these e:stimates under different
assumptions or conditions. ‘

Critical accounting policies are defined as those that entail significant Judgments and uncertainties, and
could potentially result in materially different results under different assumptions and conditions. We believe that
our most critical accounting policies upon which our financial condition depends, and which involve the: most
complex or subjective decisions or assessments, are those described below. For:a discussion on the application of
these and other accounting policies, see Note 1 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. ‘

Revenue Recognition. We enter into arrangements with customers that have multiple deliverables, such as
equipment and installation, and we recognize revenues and profits on certain long-term contracts using me
percentage-of-completion method of accounting. ‘ ‘

—  Percentage-of-Completion. Revenues recorded under the percentage-of-completion method of

accounting were $55.6 million in 2005, $43.7 million in 2004, and $49.3 million in 2003. The;
percentage of completion is determined by comparing the actual costs incurred to date to an eétimate of
total costs to be incurred on each contract. If a loss is indicated on any contract in process, a prov1s10n
is made currently for the entire loss. Our contracts generally provide for billing of customers upon the
attainment of certain milestones specified in each contract. Revenues‘eamed on contracts in pﬂocess in
excess of billings are classified as unbilled contract costs and fees, and amounts billed in excess of

|
revenues are classified as billings in excess of contract costs and fees! The complexity of the estimation

process under the percentage-of-completion method affects the amounts reported in our consohdated

financial statements. A number of internal and external factors affect;our percentage- of—n,ompl‘etxon and
cost of sales estimates, including labor rate and efficiency variances, estimates of warranty cos:ts
estimated future material prices from vendors, and customer specification and testing requ1rerr‘lents In
addition, we are exposed to the risk, primarily relating to our orders i in China, that a customer will not
comply with the order’s contractual obligations to take delivery of the equipment. This risk is 3:reduced
somewhat by such customer’s forfeiture of their deposit on the order. The contractual obligations

relating to the order may be difficult to enforce through a foreign country s legal system, whchh could
result in a significant credit exposure in the period or periods that were to be affected by the breach of
contract. Although we make every effort to ensure the accuracy of our estimates in the application of
this accounting policy, if our business conditions were to be different, or if we were to use different
assumptions, it is possible that materially different amounts could be wreported as revenues in o‘ur
consolidated financial statements.

—  SAB No. 104. Under Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 104, “Reanue Recognition,” when the
terms -of sale include customer acceptance provisions, and compliance with those provisions cannot be
demonstrated until customer acceptance, revenues are recognized upon such acceptance. When a sale
arrangement involves multiple elements (e.g., installation), we consider the guidance in Emerging
Issues Task Force (EITF) No. 00-21 “Revenue Arrangements with Multlple Deliverables.” Su ch
transactions are evaluated to determine whether the deliverables in the arrangement represent J>c:parate
units of accounting. If equipment and installation do not meet the separation criteria under EI’J!"F
No. 00-21, revenues for products sold that require installation, for wl?ich the installation is ess;‘ential to
functionality or is not deemed inconsequential or perfunctory, are recognized upon completioh of
installation. Revenues for products sold where installation is not essential to functionality, and‘ is
deemed inconsequential or perfunctory, are recognized upon shipment, with estimated installation costs

i
accrued. We provide a reserve for the estimated warranty and installdtion costs at the time revenue is
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recognized, as applicable. To the extent that installation becomes a significant component of our
business in the future, the judgment associated with the determination of revenue recognition will
increase. The complexity of all issues related to the assumptions, risks, and uncertainties inherent in the
application of SAB No. 104 affects the amounts reported as revenues in our consolidated financial
statements. Under SAB No. 104, we may not be able to reliably predict future revenues and
profitability due to the difficulty of estimating when installation will be performed or when we will
meet the contractually agreed upon performance tests, which can delay or prohibit recognition of
revenues. The determination of when we install the equipment or fulfill the performance guarantees is
largely dependent on our customers, their willingness to allow installation of the equipment or
performance of the appropriate tests in a timely manner, and their cooperation in addressing possible
problems that would impede achievement of the performance guarantee criteria. Unexpected changes
in the timing related to the completion of installation or performance guarantees could cause our
revenues and earnings to be significantly affected.

Inventories. We value our inventory at the lower of the actual cost (on a first-in, first-out; last-in, first-out;
or weighted average basis) or market value and include materials, labor, and manufacturing overhead. We
regularly review inventory quantities on hand and compare these amounts to historical and forecasted usage of
and demand for each particular product or product line. We record a charge to cost of revenues for excess and
obsolete inventory to reduce the carrying value of the inventories to net realizable value, Inventory writedowns
have historically been within our expectations and the provisions established. A significant decrease in demand
could result in an increase in the amount of excess inventory quantities on hand, resulting in a charge for the
writedown of that inventory in that period. In addition, our estimates of future product usage or demand may
prove to be inaccurate, resulting in an understated or overstated provision for excess and obsolete inventory.
Therefore, although we make every effort to ensure the accuracy of our forecasts of future product usage and
demand, any significant unanticipated changes in demand or technological developments could have a significant
impact on the value of our inventory and our reported operating results.

- Valuation of Goodwill and Intangible Assets. We evaluate the recoverability of goodwill and indefinite-
lived intangible assets annually in the fourth quarter, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances,
such as a decline in sales, earnings, or cash flows, or material adverse changes in the business climate, indicate
that the carrying value of an asset might be impaired. We completed our annual impairment tests in the fourth
quarter of 2005 using estimates from our long-range forecasts. Intangible assets subject to amortization are
evaluated for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset might
be impaired. No adjustment was required to the carrying value of our goodwill or intangible assets based on the
analysis performed.

Goodwill is considered to be impaired when the net book value of a reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair
value. Fair values are primarily established using a discounted cash flow methodology (specifically, the income
approach). The determination of discounted cash flows is based on our long-range forecasts. The revenue growth
rates included in the forecasts are our best estimates based on current and anticipated market conditions, and the
profit margin assumptions are projected based on current and anticipated cost structures. Qur judgments and
assumptions regarding the determination of the fair value of an intangible asset or goodwill associated with an
acquired business could change as future events impact such fair values. Any future impairment loss could have a
material adverse affect on our long-term assets and operating expenses in the period in which impairment is
determined to exist.

Accounts Receivable. We exercise judgment in determining our allowance for bad debts, which is based on
our historical collection experience, current trends, credit policies, specific customer collection issues, and
accounts receivable aging categories. In determining this allowance, we look at historical writeoffs of our
receivables. We also look at current trends in the credit quality of our customer base as well as changes in our
credit policies. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and adjust credit limits based upon
payment history and each customer’s current creditworthiness. We continuously monitor collections and
payments from our customers. In addition, in some instances we utilize letters of credit as a way to mitigate
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credit exposure. While actual bad debts have historically been within our expectations and the provisions
established, we cannot guarantee that we will continue to experience the same rate of bad debts that we have in
the past, especially in light of business conditions in the paper industry. A significant change in the quur dity or

financial position of any of our customers could result in the uncollectibility of the related accounts receivable

and could adversely affect our operating cash flows in that period. l

Warranties. In the Papermaking Systems segment, we offer warranties of varlous durations to our customers
depending upon the specific product and terms of the customer purchase agreement. We typically negon‘ate terms
regarding warranty coverage and length of warranty depending on the products|and their applications. Ollr
standard mechanical warranties require us to repair or replace a defective proddct during the warranty pe:n'od at
no cost to the customer. We record an estimate for warranty-related costs at the time of sale based on our actual

historical return rates and repair costs, as well as other analytical tools for estlmatmg future warranty cla‘lms
These estimates are revised for variances between actual and expected claims rates. While our warranty costs
have historically been within our expectations and the provisions established, we cannot guarantee that we will

continue to experience the same warranty return rates or repair costs that we have in the past. l‘
On October 21, 2005, Kadant Composites LLC sold its composites busmess presented as a d1scont1nued
operation in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. As part of the transaction, Kadant Cornpos1tes

LLC retained the warranty obligation associated with products manufactured pmor to the sale date. Our \
consolidated results will continue to be impacted by any adjustments to this warranty obligation, which w1ll

continue to be presented within the discontinued operation. This warranty oblrgauon relates to a standard limited
warranty provided to the original owner of our decking and roofing products, l1m1ted to repair or replacement of
the defective product or a refund of the original purchase price. Prior to the sale of the composites busm«%,ss we
recorded an estimate for warranty-related costs at the time of sale based on our actual historical return rates and
repair costs, as well as other analytical tools for estimating future warranty clarms These estimates are r‘%:wsed
for variances between actual and expected claims rates. Our analysis of expected warranty claims rates 1Pcludes
detailed assumptions associated with potential product returns, including the type of product sold, tempe“ratures at
the location of installation, density of boards, and other factors. Certain assumptions, such as the effect o‘f
weather conditions and high temperatures on the product installed, include 1nherent uncertainties that ar subject

to fluctuation which could impact our future warranty provisions. Due to the h1ghly subjective nature of these
assumptions, we have recorded our best estimate of the cost of expected Warranty claims. It is reasonabl}"
possible that the ultimate settlement of such claims may exceed the amount recorded if we incur warranty return
rates higher than we anticipated. ‘ ‘

A significant increase in warranty return rates or costs to repair our products would lead to an increase in the
warranty provision and could have a material adverse impact on our consohdated results for the period or periods
in which such returns or additional costs occur. ‘

Income Taxes. We estimate the degree to which tax assets and loss carryforwards will result in a benefit

based on expected profitability by tax jurisdiction, and provide a valuation allowance for tax assets and loss

carryforwards that we believe will more likely than not go unused. If it becomes more likely than not the‘ tax
asset or loss carryforward will be used, we would reverse the related valuation allowance Our tax valuation
allowance totaled $2.5 million at year-end 2005. Should our actual future taxable income by tax Junsd1c ion vary
from our estimate, additional allowances or reversals thereof may be necessary!
We provide a liability for future income tax payments in the worldwide tax jurisdictions in which we
operate. Should tax return positions that we expect are sustainable not be sustamed upon audit, we could|be
required to record an incremental tax provision for such taxes. Should previously unrecognized tax bene fits be

sustained, a reduction in our tax provision would result.

Industry and Business Outlook l
Our products are primarily sold to the pulp and paper industry. The paper mdustry had been in a prolonged

downcycle for the past several years. While the performance of paper producers especially in North Arrlenca
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has been gradually improving over the past year, the industry is continuing to experience sluggish demand. The
profitability of paper producers is still being negatively affected by higher operating costs, especially higher
energy costs. We believe paper companies remain cautious about increasing their capital and operating spending
in the current market environment. We expect, however, if the market recovers, paper companies will increase
their capital and operating spending, which would have a positive effect on paper company suppliers, such as
Kadant, although the timing of such effect is difficult to predict. We continue to concentrate our efforts on
several initiatives intended to improve our operating results, including: (i) integrating the Kadant Johnson
acquisition, (ii) penetrating new markets outside the paper industry, (iii) completing our acquisition of a stock-
preparation production plant in China, and (iv) increasing aftermarket sales. In addition, we continue to focus our
efforts on managing our operating costs, capital expenditures, and working capital.

In an effort to improve operating performance at our Kadant Lamort subsidiary in France, we approved a
restructuring of that subsidiary in 2004 intended to strengthen Kadant Lamort’s competitive position in the
European paper industry. We accrued a restructuring charge for severance and other termination costs in
connection with the workforce reduction of $9.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2004. We completed the
restructuring actions in 2005 and as a result of these actions, we estimate that our Kadant Lamort subsidiary will
be profitable in 2006.

We continue to pursue market opportunities outside North America. In the last several years, China has
become a significant market for our stock-preparation equipment. To capitalize on this growing market, we plan
to acquire a manufacturing and assembly facility in China for this equipment and related products, as well as for
certain of our accessories and water-management products in the future. Revenues from China are primarily
derived from large capital orders, the timing of which is often difficult to predict. Our customers in China have
experienced delays in obtaining financing for their capital addition and expansion projects due to efforts by the
Chinese government to control economic growth, which are reflected in a slowdown in financing approvals in
China’s banking system. This has caused delays in receiving orders and, as a result, will delay our recognizing
revenue on these projects to periods later than originally anticipated. We plan to use our new facility in China as
a base for increasing our aftermarket business, which we believe will be more predictable.

Our 2006 guidance reflects expected revenues and earnings per share from continuing operations, which
excludes the results from our discontinued operation. For the first quarter of 2006, we expect to earn, from
continuing operations, between $.17 to $.19 per diluted share, on revenues of $70 to $72 million. For the full
year, we expect to earn from continuing operations between $1.15 to $1.25 per diluted share, on revenues of
$290 to $300 million.
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Results of Operations ‘
2005 Compared to 2004 1

The following table sets forth our consolidated statement of operations expressed as a percentage of]
revenue for the years ending December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005.

total

i December 31, January 1,
j 2005 2005
Revenues . ...... ... e Lo, 100% 100%
Costs and Operating Expenses: ! \
COSEOf TEVEIMUES . . v oottt e et et e e et et A 61 61
Selling, general, and administrative eXpenses . ...................... Lo 31 29
Research and development expenses . ............. .. ..., S 2 1
Restructuring and other costs (income), net ........................ Lo - 5
! 94 %6
Operating INCOMEe . . . ... oot e e e e T 6 | 4
Interest Income (Expense), NEU .« ot e - | -
Income from Continuing Operations Before Income Taxes and Minority Interest . . . . . . 6 4
Provision forIncome Taxes . ...... ... .. i TN 2 1
Income from Continuing Operations .. ............ oo Lo 4 3
Loss from Discontinued Operation ................ciiiiiinnieaann.. oo ¢ _@)
NetInCome ... ..ot e e AU 3% ) =%
| = 1=
1 1
Revenues ! ,

Revenues increased to $243.7 million in 2005 from $195.0 million in 2004 an increase of $48.7 rmlhon or

25%. Revenues in 2005 include a $47.9 million, or 25%, increase from recently\acquued Kadant Johnson and

the favorable effects of currency translation of $2.0 million, or 1%, due to a weaker U.S. dollar relative t
of the functional currencies in countries in which we operate. }
Revenues from our Papermaking Systems segment and other businesses for the years ending Decerr

2005 and January 1, 2005 are as follows: ; 3

D most

ber 31,

; December 31, January 1,
(In thousands) | 2005 | 2008
Revenues: | ;
PulpandPapermakingSystems..................................;. ...... $232,615  $188,320
O T ot Lo, 11,098 6,646

$243,713  $194,966

Pulp and Papermaking Systems. Revenues for the Papermaking Systems segment increased to $232
million in 2005 compared with $188.3 million in 2004, an increase of $44.3 million, or 24%. The i increas
revenues in 2005 includes $45.5 million, or 24%, from recently acquired Kadant Johnson, which compris
fluid-handling product line, and a 1% increase from the favorable effect of currency translation.
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Revenues at the Papermaking Systems segment by product line were as follows:

Increase
(Decrease)
Excluding
Effect of
Increase Currency
(In millions) 2005 2004 (Decrease) Translation
Product Line:
ACCESSOTIES .« o\ oottt e e i $ 588 %627 $(3.9 $4.7)
Stock-Preparation Equipment ............................ 98.2 95.4 28 20
Fluid-Handling . ....... ... . .. . i, 45.5 - 45.5 45.5
Water-Management . .............c..uriiiineineninna... 28.3 28.8 0.5) (0.8)
Other ... e 1.8 14 04 0.3

$232.6 $188.3  $44.3 $42.3

Revenues from the segment’s accessories product line decreased by $3.9 million, or 6%, in 2005, including
a $0.8 million increase from the favorable effect of currency translation. Excluding the effect of currency
translation, revenues from the segment’s accessories product line decreased $4.7 million, or 7%, due to a $2.9
million, or 7%, decrease in sales in North America and a $1.8 million, or 8%, decrease in sales in Europe. The
decrease in sales was due to weaker demand in both North America and Europe, as well as a significant amount
of unscheduled downtime by one of our largest customers in the U.S.

Revenues from the segment’s stock-preparation equipment product line increased by $2.8 million, or 3%, in
2005, including a $0.8 million increase from the favorable effect of currency translation. Excluding the effect of
currency translation, revenues from the stock-preparation equipment product line increased $2.0 million, or 2%,
due to a $5.8 million, or 16%, increase in sales in North America due to strong demand for our capital
equipment, offset in part by a $4.1 million, or 12%, decrease in Europe due to weak demand.

Revenues from the recently acquired fluid-handling product line were $45.5 million in 2005.

Revenues from the segment’s water-management product line decreased $0.5 million, or 2%, in 2005,
including a $0.3 million increase from the favorable effect of currency translation. Excluding the effect of
currency translation, revenues from the segment’s water-management product line decreased by $0.8 million, or
3%, due primarily to a $1.3 million, or 22%, decrease in sales in Europe due to a decrease in large capital orders
and lower levels of mill spending.

Other. Revenues from our Fiber-based Products business increased $2.0 million, or 29%, in 2005 to $8.6
million from $6.6 million in 2004 due to stronger sales of Biodacs, our line of biodegradable granular products.
Revenues from our newly acquired Casting Products business were $2.5 million in 2005.

Gross Profit Margin
Gross profit margin for the years ending December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005 were as follows:

December 31, January 1,

2005 2005
Gross Profit Margin:
Pulp and Papermaking SyStems . ... ... ..ottt e 39% 39%
Other . . . e 28% 36%
39% 39%

Gross profit margin was 39% in 2005 and 2004. The gross profit margin at the Papermaking Systems
segment remained constant at 39% in 2005 and 2004, The inclusion of the fluid-handling product line from May
2005 contributed to a 3% increase in gross profit margins in 2005, largely offset by lower margins at our stock-
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preparation product line in 2005. The lower margins at our stock-preparation product line in 2005 primarily
resulted from a higher proportion of sales of lower-margin capital equipment in North America, which re%luced
gross margins by 1%, as well as lower gross profit margins in Europe at our Kadant Lamort subsidiary, which
also reduced gross margins by 1%. The gross profit margin in Other decreased to 28% in 2005 from 36%i‘in 2004
due to the inclusion of lower margins from the Casting Products business and lower margins in our Fiber- ‘based
granular product line due to an increase in the cost of natural gas used in the productlon of our fiber- based
granules. We expect the gross profit margin in the Fiber-based granular product lme to continue to be negatrvely

affected by significantly higher costs of natural gas used in the manufacturing process
\

Operating Expenses | i

Selling, general, and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues were 31% and 29% in 2005 and
2004, respectively. Selling, general, and administrative expenses increased $18.3 million, or 32%, to $74‘;6
million in 2005 from $56.3 million in 2004. This increase included a $9.0 mrlhon or 37%, increase in general
and administrative expenses and a $9.3 million, or 29%, increase in selling expenses.

The increase in general and administrative expenses included $9.9 million of general and administrative
expenses from recently acquired Kadant Johnson and a $1.0 million increase associated with a gain which/lowered
general and administrative expenses in 2004. The gain of $1.0 million in the ﬁrst‘quarter of 2004 resulted t“rom the
renegotiation of a series of agreements with one of our licensees. These increases were offset in part by a $1 3

million decrease due to expense reductions at the Papermaking Systems segment‘ a $0.7 million decrease 1h
" severance costs associated with our European operations, and a $0.5 million decrease in bad debt expense.

The increase in selling expenses was due primarily to $9.1 million assocrated with recently acquired|Kadant
Johnson and a $0.4 million increase from the unfavorable effect of foreign currency translation.

Research and development expenses as a percentage of revenues were 2% and 1% in 2005 and 2004
respectively. Research and development expenses increased $1.8 million to $4. 9 million in 2005 compared to
$3.1 million in 2004 due to the inclusion of $1.0 million of research and development expenses assocrated with
Kadant Johnson and a $0.8 million increase in research and development projects at the Papermaking Systems

segment. \

i |
} i
Restructuring and Other Costs (Income) ‘ |

During 2005, we recorded restructuring income of $0.1 million, which inclnded $0.2 million of restr:‘ucturing

costs and $0.3 million of curtailment gain. The restructuring costs of $0.2 rmlhon in 2005 included $0.1 million
of income resulting from the reduction in the estimated restructuring costs associated with the Kadant La.H ort
restructuring initiated in 2004 and $0.3 million in restructuring costs associated with 2005 restructuring chtlons
The 2005 restructuring costs include $0.2 million of severance and associated costs related to the reduction of 14
full-time positions in the U.S. and $0.1 million for equipment relocation costs, both in our Papermaking sttems
segment. We estimate annualized savings of $0.6 million in selling, general, and administrative expenses and
$0.8 million in cost of revenues from these restructuring actions. The $0.3 million curtailment gain in 20( S
resulted from a reduction in the accrued liability for Kadant Lamort’s pension plan associated with the Kadant
Lamort restructuring initiated in 2004. ‘
During 2004, we recorded restructuring costs of $9.5 million, which were accounted for in accordan ce with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 112. Restructuring costs of $9.2 million r elatec to
severance and other termination costs for 97 employees across all functions at the Papermaking Systems |
segment’s Kadant Lamort subsidiary. These actions were taken in an effort to strengthen Kadant Lamort ls
competitive position in the European paper industry. In addition, we recorded restructurmg costs of $0.3 rullion,
related to severance costs for 11 employees at one of the Papermaking Systems segment s U.S. subsrdranFs We
estimate annualized savings of $5.6 million ($3.6 million in cost of revenues and $2.0 million in selling, general,
and administrative expenses) from these restructuring actions when fully implemented (see Note 8 to the

consolidated financial statements). |
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Interest Income

Interest income was $1.5 million in 2005 and 2004. During 2005, the increase in interest income due to
higher prevailing interest rates was largely offset by the decrease in average cash balances primarily resulting
from the May 2005 acquisition of Kadant Johnson.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased to $2.1 million in 2005 from $23 thousand in 2004 primarily due to interest
expense associated with the $60.0 million in borrowings entered into in May 2005 to fund the Kadant Johnson
acquisition.

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate was 28% and 30% in 2005 and 2004, respectively. The 28% effective tax rate in 2005
included a 6% non-recurring tax benefit resulting from a payment of $0.9 miilion received from our former
parent company under a tax agreement and a 1% non-recurring tax benefit resulting from a reduction of $0.1
million in tax reserves. The 30% effective tax rate in 2004 was lower than the statutory federal income tax rate
primarily due to a reorganization of several of our foreign subsidiaries that resulted in a more tax-efficient
corporate structure. We expect our effective tax rate to be approximately 35% in 2006.

Minority Interest .

Minority interest expense in 2005 and 2004 represents minority investors’ share of earnings in our majority-
owned subsidiaries.

Income from Continuing Operations

Income from continuing operations increased to $9.9 million in 2005 from $5.8 million in 2004, an increase
of $4.1 million, or 71%. This increase includes a $1.9 million increase from the inclusion of Kadant Johnson and
a $6.1 million increase due to the decrease in after-tax restructuring costs.

Loss from Discontinued Operation

On October 21, 2005, our Kadant Composites LL.C subsidiary (Kadant Composites LL.C) sold substantially
all of its assets, comprising the composites business, to LDI Composites Co. As part of the sale transaction,
Kadant Composites LLC retained the warranty obligations associated with products manufactured prior to the
sale date. All future activity associated with this warranty reserve will continue to be classified in the results of
the discontinued operation.

Loss from discontinued operation decreased to $3.0 million in 2005 from $5.1 million in 2004, a decrease of
$2.1 million due primarily to a $1.2 million pre-tax decrease in warranty costs and a decrease in operating costs
prior to the sale.
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2004 Compared to 2003

The following table sets forth our consolidated statement of operations expressed as a percentage of otal
revenue for the years ending January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004.

|

! ;

\‘ January 1, January 3,
! 2005 | 2004
|
\

RevVeNUES ..o e oo l@% :' @%

Costs and Operating Expenses:

Costof TEVENUES . .. ... it IRRRRRES 61 | 61
Selling, general, and administrative eXpenses .................o.u ... e 29 | 26
Research and developmentexpenses .......... ..o e 1 2
Restructuring and other costs (income), net.............. ... ; ........ 5 —
f %6 8
OperatingIncome . ........ .o e 4 11
Interest Income (Expense), Net .......... ... .. i, ‘ ........ - -
‘ — —
Income from Continuing Operations Before Income Taxes and Minority Interest.. ... .. .. 4 11
Provision for Income Taxes . ...ttt } ........ 1 4
Income from Continuing OPerations ... ............ooueurrirannneeenenns 1 ........ 3 7
Loss from Discontinued Operation ...............cc.venerninennnnenn.n. e 3 ()
NetINCOME . . oottt e e et e i ........ =% 6%
| — —
1
Revenues :

Revenues increased to $195.0 million in 2004 from $191.5 million in 2003, an increase of $3.5 rmlh On, Of

2%. Revenues in 2004 include the favorable effects of currency translation of $7 5 million, or 4%, due to! a
weaker U.S. dollar relative to most of the functional currencies in countries in Wthh we operate.
Revenues from our Papermaking Systems segment and other businesses for‘ the years ending J anuary 1,
2005 and January 3, 2004 are as follows: 1
|

! January 1, ' January 3,

(In thousands) 3 2005 | 2004
Revenues: i ?
Pulp and PapermakKing SyStems . ... ........ouurenrrennrenineennn. e $188,320 $185,708
L0 1T OGP AP 6,646 1| 5,799

$194,966 $191,507

Pulp and Papermaking Systems. Revenues for the Papermaking Systems segment increased to $188. 3
million in 2004 compared with $185.7 million in 2003, an increase of $2.6 million, or 1%. The increase 1;1
revenues in 2004 includes a 4% increase from the favorable effect of currency tr;anslation.

|

\
|
|
|
\
|
!
i
|
|
\
|
|
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Revenues at the Papermaking Systems segment by product line were as follows:

Decrease
Excluding
Effect of
Increase Currency
(In millions) 2004 2003 (Decrease) Translation
Product Line:
ACCESSOTIES & . vt vttt e et e et e e $627 $608 $19 $(1.4)
Stock-Preparation Equipment ............. ... ... ... ... .. 954 93.9 1.5 2.1)
Water-Management ..ot 28.8 29.5 0.7) (1.3)
Other ... e e 1.4 1.5 0.1) 0.1)

$188.3 $1857 $26  $(4.9)

Revenues from the segment’s accessories product line increased by $1.9 million, or 3%, in 2004, including a
$3.3 million increase from the favorable effect of currency translation. Excluding the effect of currency
translation, revenues from the segment’s accessories product line decreased $1.4 million, or 2%, due to a
$3.3 million, or 14%, decrease in sales in Europe due to weaker demand partially offset by a $1.9 million, or 5%,
increase in sales in North America. Revenues from the segment’s stock-preparation equipment product line
increased by $1.5 million, or 2%, in 2004, including a $3.6 million increase from the favorable effect of currency
translation. Excluding the effect of currency translation, revenues from the stock-preparation equipment product
line decreased $2.1 million, or 2%, due to a $2.4 million, or 7%, decrease in sales in Europe due to weaker
demand. Revenues from the segment’s water-management product line decreased $0.7 million, or 2%, in 2004,
including a $0.6 million increase from the favorable effect of currency translation. Excluding the effect of
currency translation, revenues from the segment’s water-management product line decreased by $1.3 million, or
4%, due primarily to a $1.8 million, or 7%, decrease in sales in North America.

Other. Revenues from our Fiber-based Products business increased to $6.6 million in 2004 from $5.8
million in 2003, an increase of $0.8 million, or 15%, due to stronger sales of Biodace, our line of biodegradable
granular products.

Gross Profit Margin
Gross profit margin for the years ending January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004 were as follows:

January 1, January 3,

2005 - 2004
Gross Profit Margin:
Pulp and Papermaking Systems ... ...t 39% 39%
Other . o 36% 37%
39% 39%

Gross profit margin was 39% in 2004 and 2003. The gross profit margin at the Papermaking Systems
segment remained constant at 39% in 2004 and 2003. The gross profit margin in Other decreased to 36% in 2004
from 37% in 2003 due to an increase in the cost of natural gas used in the production of our fiber-based granules.

Operating Expenses

Selling, general, and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues were 29% and 26% in 2004 and
2003, respectively. Selling, general, and administrative expenses increased $5.9 million, or 12%, to $56.3 million
in 2004 from $50.4 million in 2003. This increase included a $3.3 million, or 16%, increase in general and
administrative expenses and a $2.6 million, or 9%, increase in selling expenses. The increase in general and
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administrative expenses includes a $1.1 million increase in the costs associated with the 1mp1ementat10n of the
internal control requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, a $1.0 million increase in bad debt expense, Wthh in
part was due to recoveries of $0.3 million in 2003, a $0.7 million increase from the unfavorable effect of ‘wforelgn
currency translation at the Papermaking Systems segment, a $0.4 million increase in severance costs assqc1ated
with our European operations, and a $0.4 million increase associated with several projects under way to f‘urther
streamline our international organization. Also included in general and administrative expenses, off settmg the
expenses noted above, was a gain of approximately $1.0 million in the first quarter of 2004, which resulted from
renegotiating a series of agreements with one of our licensees. The increase in selhng expenses includes i‘l
$1.4 million increase from the unfavorable effect of foreign currency translation. 1
Research and development expenses as a percentage of revenues were 1% and 2% in 2004 and 2003,
respectively. Research and development expenses decreased $1.2 million to $3.1 million in 2004 compared to
$4.3 million in 2003 due to the timing of research and development projects at the Papermaking Systems
segment. i J
i !
Restructuring and Other Costs (Income) }

During 2004, we recorded restructuring costs of $9.5 million, which were accounted for in accordan,e with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 112. Restructuring costs of $9.2 million relatecl to
severance and other termination eosts for 97 employees across all functions at the Papermaking Systems
segment’s Kadant Lamort subsidiary. These actions were taken in an effort to strengthen Kadant Lamort’ s
competitive position in the European paper industry. In addition, we recorded restructuring costs of $0.3 million
related to severance costs for 11 employees at one of the Papermaking Systems segment’s U.S. subsidiaries. We
estimate annualized savings of $5.6 million ($3.6 million in cost of revenues and $2.0 million in selling, Leneral,
and administrative expenses) from these restructuring actions when fully nnplemented (see Note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements). \

During 2003, we recorded net restructuring and other income of $23 thousand Restructuring costs of
$0.6 million, which were accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 112, related to severance costs for seven
employees across all functions at the Papermaking Systems segment’s Kadant Lamort subsidiary. These actions
were taken in an effort to improve profitability and were in response to a continued weak market environment
and reduced demand for our products. Annual savings from these actions, included primarily in cost of re‘venues,
were approximately $0.4 million. We recorded a gain of $0.6 million from the sele of property, for

approximately $0.9 million in cash, at the same subsidiary.

Interest Income

\

1

|
Interest income increased to $1.5 million in 2004 from $1.0 million in 2003 primarily. due to higher.
prevailing interest rates. |

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate was 30% and 38% in 2004 and 2003, respectively. The 30% effective tax rate in 2004

was lower than the statutory federal income tax rate primarily due to a reorgamzatlon of several of our fo‘relgn

subsidiaries that resulted in a more tax-efficient corporate structure. The 38% effectlve tax rate in 2003 e‘y‘(ceeded

the statutory federal income tax rate primarily due to the impact of state income taxes and nondedm,tlble‘
|
expenses. |

Minority Interest i
Minority interest expense in 2004 and 2003 represents minority investors’ share of eamnings in our majomy-
owned subsidiaries. ‘
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Income from Continuing Operations

Income from continuing operations decreased to $5.8 million in 2004 from $13.1 million in 2003, a decrease
of $7.3 million, or 56%, due primarily to the increase in pre-tax restructuring costs of $9.5 million in 2004
compared to 2003. :

Loss from Discontinued Operation

Loss from discontinued operation increased to $5.1 million in 2004 from $1.3 million in 2003, an increase
of $3.8 million primarily due to a $4.8 million pre-tax increase in warranty costs. We experienced a substantial
increase in warranty claims in 2004 compared to 2003. The claims were associated with contraction of certain
decking products and with a new problem concerning excessive oxidation that affected the integrity of the plastic
used in some of our decking products. As a result of the increased claims and our estimate of future claims, we
increased our warranty expense to $6.7 million in 2004 compared to $1.9 million in 2003. Included in the
increased warranty expense is the cost of exchanging material held by our distributors with new material and our
best estimate of costs related to future potential valid claims arising from the installed product.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Consolidated working capital was $75.4 million at December 31, 2005, corﬁpared with $113.7 million at
January 1, 2005. Included in working capital are cash and cash equivalents of $40.8 million at December 31,
2005, compared with $82.1 million at January 1, 2005. At December 31, 2005, $24.3 million of cash and cash
equivalents was held by our foreign subsidiaries.

2005

- Cash provided by operating activities was $17.7 million in 2005, including $19.1 million provided by
continuing operations and $1.4 million used by the discontinued operation. The cash provided by operating
activities in 2005 was primarily the result of $9.9 million of income from continuing operations, a non-cash
charge of $6.9 million for depreciation and amortization expense, and a decrease in inventory of $4.4 million,
offset in part by a decrease in accounts payable, which used cash of $4.5 million. The cash used by the
discontinued operation of $1.4 million resulted primarily from the net loss of $3.0 million due primarily to the
pre-tax warranty provision of $5.5 million and a decrease in accounts payable of $1.1 million due to payments
made prior to the sale date. These items were offset in part by a decrease in accounts receivable due to
collections made prior to the sale date, which provided cash of $1.2 million and an increase in other current
liabilities of $1.8 million due primarily to an increase in payments owed to the Buyer as reimbursement for
claims paid on behalf of Kadant Composites LLC.

Cash used for investing activities was $100.9 million in 2005, including $106.4 million used by continuing
operations and $5.5 million provided by the discontinued operation. We used cash of $103.6 million in 2005 to
acquire the stock of The Johnson Corporation. We used $3.2 million in 2005 to purchase property, plant, and
equipment. We also used cash of $1.1 million in 2005 to acquire the remaining minority interest in one of our
Kadant Johnson subsidiaries. The cash provided by discontinued operation of $5.5 million relates primarily to the
unrestricted cash proceeds received from the sale of the majority of the assets of the discontinued operation.

Our financing activities provided cash of $50.1 million in 2005 related entirely to our continuing operations.
In 2003, we received proceeds of $60.0 million from a term loan we entered into to fund a portion of the
purchase price for Kadant Johnson. We also increased our short- and long-term obligations by $4.0 million,
which represents additional consideration for Kadant Johnson to be paid over the next-five years. During 2005,
we purchased 486,400 shares of our common stock on the open market for $9.1 million and repaid $5.5 million
of long-term obligations.
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|
|

2004 : \‘

Cash provided by operating activities was $13.2 million in 2004, including $12.9 million fror continuing
operations and $0.3 million from the discontinued operation. The cash provided by operating activities 1;‘1 2004
was primarily the result of $5.8 million of income from continuing operations, a non-cash charge of $3. 6\ million
for depreciation and amortization expense, and an increase in provision for warranty obligations of $2.7 mllhon
offset in part by a decrease in accounts payable, which used cash of $2.6 million. The cash provided by t the
discontinued operation of $0.3 million relates primarily to a non-cash charge for depreciation and amortization
expense of $0.9 million and an increase in other current liabilities which prov1ded cash of $3.7 million due
primarily to an increase in accrued warranty. In addition, a decrease in mventory provided cash of $1.4 million
and an increase in accounts payable provided cash of $0.6 million. These items: ‘were offset in part by a n‘et loss of
$5.1 million due primarily to the pre-tax warranty provision of $6.7 million and an increase in accounts
receivable of $1.1 million.

Cash used for investing activities was $3.5 million in 2004, including $3. 2‘rmlhon used by contmumg
operations and $0.3 million used by the discontinued operation. During 2004, we purchased property, plant, and
equipment for $2.2 million and paid $1.9 million in acquisition-related costs for Kadant Johnson, offset in part by
proceeds of $1.3 million received from the sale of property, plant, and equipment. The cash used by the
discontinued operation of $0.3 million relates primarily to the purchase of property, plant, and equipment.

Our financing activities used cash of $5.4 million in 2004, related entirely to our continuing operations.
During 2004, we purchased 509,000 shares of our common stock on the open market for $10.3 million a‘ﬁtd repaid
$0.6 million of long-term obligations. In addition, in 2004 we received proceeds of $5.5 million from the
issuance of common stock in connection with our employee stock option and stock purchase plans.

i
Additional Liquidity and Capital Resources : |

We completed our acquisition of Kadant Johnson on May 11, 2005 for $101.5 million in cash, subjéct to a
post-closing adjustment, and $4.7 million of acquisition-related costs. In addition to the cash consideration, we
issued a letter of credit to the sellers for $4.0 million, subject to adjustment, related to certain tax assets o‘f Kadant
Johnson, the value of which we expect to realize. The parties also agreed to an earn-out provision, basedt‘on the
achievement of certain revenue targets between the closing date (May 11, 2005) and July 1, 2006, whlchi could
increase the purchase price by up to $8.0 million. Based on our current forecasts we do not believe that &
significant payout under the earn-out provision is likely. | ‘

To fund $60 million of the purchase price, we entered into a term loan and revolving credit facility (the
Credit Agreement) effective as of May 9, 2005 in the aggregate principal amount of up to $85 million, 1nc1uding a
$25 million revolver. The Credit Agreement includes a $60 million term loan, Wthh is repayable in quarterly
installments over a five-year period. The aggregate principal amount to be repa1d each year is as follows: ‘59
million, $10.5 million, $13.5 million, $15 million, and $7.5 million in 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, and 2010,
respectively. Interest on the revolving loan and the term loan accrues and is payable quarterly in arrears atlone of
the following rates selected by us: (a) the prime rate plus an applicable margin 1n1t1a11y set at 0% for 2005] and up
to 0.25% thereafter or, (b) a eurocurrency rate plus an applicable margin mltlally‘ set at 1% for 2005, and between
0.625% and 1.25% thereafter. The applicable margin is determined based upon our total debt to earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) ratio, as defined in the (‘Zredlt Agreement.

Our obligations under the Credit Agreement may be accelerated upon the occurrence of an event of default
under the Credit Agreement, which include customary events of default including, without limitation, payment
defaults, defaults in the performance of affirmative and negative covenants, the inaccuracy of representattons or
warranties, bankruptcy- and insolvency-related defaults, defaults relating to such matters as ERISA, umn sured
judgments and the failure to pay certain indebtedness, and a change-of-control default ‘

In addition, the Credit Agreement contains negative covenants applicable to us and our subsidiaries,
including financial covenants requiring us to comply with a maximum consohdated leverage ratio of 3.0, which is

lowered to 2.5 in certain circumstances, and a minimum consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.5. Pursuant
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to an amendment to the Credit Agreement effective December 28, 2005, this maximum consolidated leverage ratio
is increased to 2.75 in the quarter in which we complete the proposed acquisition of a manufacturer of stock
preparation equipment in China and in the following quarter. In addition to the financial covenants, we are also
required to comply with covenants related to restrictions on liens, indebtedness, fundamental changes, dispositions
of property, making certain restricted payments (including dividends and stock repurchases), investments,
transactions with affiliates, sale and leaseback transactions, swap agreements, changing our fiscal year, negative
pledges, arrangements affecting subsidiary distributions, and entering into new lines of business. As of

December 31, 2005, we were in compliance with these covenants.

The loans under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by certain of our domestic subsidiaries and secured by
a pledge of 65% of the stock of our first-tier foreign subsidiaries and our subsidiary guarantors pursuant to a
guarantee and pledge agreement effective May 9, 2005 in favor of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as agent on
behalf of the lenders.

In May 2004, our board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to $30.0 million of our equity securities
in the open market or in negotiated transactions through May 18, 2005. We repurchased 460,400 and 109,700
shares of our common stock for $9.4 million and $2.0 million in 2004 and 2005, respectively, under this
authorization. We also repurchased an additional 48,600 shares of our common stock for $0.9 million in 2004
under a previous authorization.

On May 6, 2005, our board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to $15.0 million of our equity
securities in the open market or in negotiated transactions for the period from May 18, 2005 through May 18,
2006. As of December 31, 2005, we had repurchased 376,700 shares of our common stock for $7.1 million under
this authorization.

On October 22, 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the Act) was signed into law. The Act
created a temporary incentive for U.S. multinationals to repatriate accumulated income earned outside the U.S. at
an effective tax rate of 5.25%. After evaluating the effect of the law on our unremitted foreign earnings, we have
determined that due to various factors, there is no benefit to us. Therefore, it will remain our practice to reinvest
indefinitely the earnings of our international subsidiaries, except in instances in which we can remit such
earnings without a significant associated tax cost. Through December 31, 2005, we have not provided U.S.
income taxes on approximately $53.5 million of unremitted foreign earnings. We believe that any U.S. tax
liability due upon remittance of such earnings would be immaterial due to the availability of U.S. foreign tax
credits generated from such remittance. The related foreign tax withholding, which would be required if we
remitted the foreign earnings to the U.S., would be approximately $2.3 million.

On January 21, 2006, on behalf of our wholly foreign owned enterprise formed in China, we entered into an
Asset Purchase Agreement with Jining Huayi Light Industry Machinery Co., Ltd. (Huayi) to acquire substantially
all the assets of Huayi, a supplier of stock-preparation equipment in China, for approximately $20 million,
subject to adjustment. We expect to finance the acquisition through a combination of cash and borrowings, in
China or under our existing $25 million revolver, which is part of our credit facility entered into in May 2005,
with a consortium of banks with JPMorganChase Bank as administrative agent. The closing of the acquisition is
subject to customary closing conditions, including regulatory approvals and the approval of our board of
directors and Huayi’s board of directors and shareholders. The closing is expected to occur in the second quarter
of 2006.

On October 21, 2005, Kadant Composites LLC sold its composites business, presented as a discontinued
operation in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. As part of the transaction, Kadant Composites
LLC retained the warranty obligation associated with products manufactured prior to the sale date. At
December 31, 2005, the warranty reserve for the composites business was $5.3 million. Our liquidity and
consolidated results will continue to be impacted by future cash payments for warranty claims and any
adjustments to this warranty obligation. Adjustments to our results for these items will continue to be classified
within the results for the discontinued operation in our consolidated financial statements.

Although we currently have no material commitments for capital expenditures, we plan to make
expenditures during 2006 for property, plant, and equipment of approximately $4.1 million.
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Contractual Obligations and Other Commercial Commitments

The following table summarizes the Company’s known contractual obhgat10ns and commercial

commitments to make future payments or other consideration pursuant to certain contracts as of December 31,

|

2005, as well as an estimate of the timing in which these obligations are expected to be satisfied. Detaﬂe:l

information concerning these obligations and commitments can be found in Notes 2, 7 and 8 to our consolidated

financial statements. ;

1

Payments Due by Period or Expiration of Commitment

Lessthan | 1.3 4.3 After|
(In millions) 1Year | Years Years 5 Years Total
Contractual Obligations: (a) | ‘
Long-term debt obligations . ..............coviviii.... $90 %240 $225 $- $55.3
Operating lease obligations .. ......................... 19 , 15 0.1 - 35
Kadant Johnson acquisition consideration (b) ............ 06 | 12 2.2 - 4.0
Commercial Commitments: (c) ,
Lettersof credit .. ...... ...t 124 25 - - 14.9
| — =7
TORL () ...ttt $239 $292 $248 8- $779
(a) We have purchase obligations related to the acquisition of raw material ma}de in the ordinary course|of
business that may be terminated with minimal notice and are excluded from this analysis.
(b) Inaddition to the consideration paid at closing for Kadant Johnson, we issued a letter of credit to the sellers

for $4.0 million related to certain tax assets of Kadant Johnson, the value of which we expect to realize. This

amount is subject to adjustment based on The Johnson Corporation’s final tax return for 2005. The

ble

above excludes contingent consideration of $8.0 million associated with the Kadant Johnson acquisition.
The parties agreed in the purchase agreement to an earn-out provision, based on the achievement of, certain
revenue targets between the closing date of May 11, 2005 and July 1, 2006‘ which could increase the
purchase price by up to $8.0 million. Based on our current forecasts, we do not believe that a ‘,1gn1ﬁ cant

payout under the earn-out provision is likely. !
(¢) Inthe ordinary course of business, we are required to issue limited performance guarantees, which d
require letters of credit, relating to our equipment and systems. We typlcally limit our liability undej

0 not
these

guarantees to amounts that would not exceed the value of the contract. We believe that we have adeguate
reserves for any potential liability in connection with such guarantees. These guarantees are not included in

this table. |

(d) This table excludes $4.8 million of accrued restructuring costs and $7.4 million of other long-term li
related primarily to pension plans, as these liabilities are not subject to ﬁxed payment terms. We exp

the accrued restructuring costs will be paid in 2006. ‘

|

Provisions in financial guarantees or commitments, debt or lease agreements, or other arrangements

trigger a requirement for an early payment, additional collateral support, amended terms, or acceleration of

_maturity. w
We do not have special-purpose entities nor do we use off-balance-sheet ﬁnancmg arrangements.
In the future, our liquidity position will be primarily affected by the level Qf cash flows from operati

abilities
ect that

could

ons and

the amount of cash expended on debt repayments, capital projects, stock repurchases, or additional acqui
if any. We believe that our existing resources, together with the cash available from our credit facility and

itions,
| the

cash we expect to generate from continuing operations, are sufficient to meet the cap1ta1 requirements of our

current operations for the foreseeable future.

w
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates, which
could affect our future results of operations and financial condition. Ve manage our exposure to these risks
through our regular operating and financing activities. We entered into a “receive-variable and pay-fixed” swap
agreement in 2005 to hedge a portion of our variable rate long-term d=bt. Additionally, we use short-term
forward contracts to manage certain exposures to foreign currencies. 'We enter into forward foreign exchange
contracts to hedge firm purchase and sale commitments denominated in currencies other than our subsidiaries’
local currencies. We do not engage in extensive foreign currency hedzing activities; however, the purpose of our
foreign currency hedging activities is to protect our local currency cash flows related to these commitments from
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. Our forward foreign exchange contracts principally hedge transactions
denominated in U.S. dollars. Gains and losses arising from forward contracts are recognized as offsets to gains
and losses resulting from the transactions being hedged. We do not use financial instruments for trading
purposes.

Interest Rates

Our cash and cash equivalents are sensitive to changes in interest rates. Interest rate changes would result in
a change in interest income due to the difference between the current interest rates on cash and cash equivalents
and the variable rates to which these financial instruments may adjust in the future. A 10% decrease in year-end
interest rates would have resulted in a negative impact on our net income of $0.1 million in both 2005 and 2004.

A portion of our outstanding debt of $55.5 million as of year-end 2005 is sensitive to changes in interest
rates. We hedged $33.3 million of the debt with a “receive-variable pay-fixed” swap agreement. The fair value of
the swap agreement is sensitive to changes in the 4-year Treasury bill rate. A 10% decrease in the year-end
4-year Treasury bill rate would have resulted in an increase of unrealized losses of $0.3 million as of year-end
2005. The remaining unhedged portion of the debt totaling $22.2 mil'ion as of year-end 2005 is sensitive to
changes in interest rates. As of year-end 2005, the interest rate on the unhedged portion of the debt was based on
LIBOR. A 10% increase in the year-end LIBOR rate would have resulted in a negative impact on our net income
of $0.1 million in 2005.

Currency Exchange Rates

We generally view our investment in foreign subsidiaries in a functional currency other than our reporting
currency as long-term. Our investment in foreign subsidiaries is sensitive to fluctuations in foreign currency
exchange rates. The functional currencies of our foreign subsidiaries are principally denominated in euros,
British pounds sterling, Mexican pesos, Canadian dollars, Chinese renminbi and Brazilian reals. The effect of
changes in foreign exchange rates on our net investment in foreign subsidiaries is reflected in the “accumulated
other comprehensive items” component of shareholders’ investment. A 10% depreciation in functional currencies
at year-end 2005 and 2004, relative to the U.S. dollar, would have resulted in a reduction in shareholders’
investment of $6.7 million and $5.0 million, respectively.

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is sensitive to fluctuations in foreign currency
exchange rates. The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is the estimated amount that we would pay
or receive upon termination of the contracts, taking into account the :hange in foreign currency exchange rates. A
10% depreciation in year-end 2005 and 2004 foreign currency exchange rates related to our contracts would have
resulted in an increase in unrealized losses on forward foreign exchaige contracts of $0.3 million in both 2005
and 2004. Since we use forward foreign exchange contracts as hedges of firm purchase and sale commitments,
the unrealized gain or loss on forward foreign currency exchange contracts resulting from changes in foreign
currency exchange rates would be offset by corresponding changes in the fair value of the hedged items.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 1
This data is submitted as a separate section to this Report. See Item 15, “Exhrbrts and Financial Statement
Schedules.” 1

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Dlsclosur(-

Not applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

- |
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures !

|
Our management, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2005.

The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) a ‘1d
15d-15(e), means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed: to ensure that informaticﬁn
required to be disclosed by the company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded,

processed, summarized, and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forras. Disclosure
controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Actis !

accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its prmcrpal executive and pnuncrpdl
financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management rtﬁcogmzes

that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable
assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating t13e cost-
benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based upon the evaluation of our disclosure con"trols and

procedures as of December 31, 2005, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Frnanc1a1 Officer con<,1uded that as
of December 31, 2005, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance| level.

Evaluation of Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

In May 2005 we acquired The Johnson Corporation (Kadant Johnson), a private company with inter“‘nal
control procedures that had not been designed for public company reporting. Prior to our acquisition, Kadant
Johnson’s independent certified public accountants identified material weaknesses in Kadant Johnson’s controls
over the inventory reserve calculation and financial close procedures. Kadant J ohnson adjusted their 1nve‘,ntory
obsolescence reserve before the acquisition date by restating prior periods to increase their reserve in comphance
with our policy and generally accepted accounting principles. In addition, we added internal contral proc\edures
to ensure that Kadant Johnson’s disclosure controls, as they relate to Kadant’s consolidated financial reporting,
were adequate and in compliance with our policies and procedures. As a result, %we made a number of chj‘ nges to
internal controls over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under| the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) during 2005 including: | ‘

- reviewing and strengthening Kadant Johnson’s tax accounting process,

- reviewing and strengthening Kadant Johnson’s intercompany reconcifiation process,

- enhancing the documentation relating to Kadant Johnson’s reserve calculatrons for accounts re ceivable

and warranties to comply with its policies, and ‘

- accelerating and improving Kadant Johnson’s financial close procedures

\

Other than the changes resulting from our acquisition of Kadant Johnson outhned above, there have not
been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2005 that

has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We are continuing the process of evaluating Kadant Johnson’s ir ternal controls and, as of the date of this
report, have not yet completed our evaluation. As permitted, we will be excluding this acquisition from our
reporting under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 at December 31, 2005.

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, as such term is defined in Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Our management
assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, excluding the
internal controls at Kadant Johnson. In making this assessment, our mianagement used the criteria set forth in
“Internal Control — Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on our assessment, management believes that, as of December 31, 2005
our internal control over financial reporting, excluding the internal controls at Kadant Johnson, is effective based
on the criteria issued by COSO.

Because of inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

Our independent registered public accountants, Ernst & Young L.LP, have issued an audit report on our
assessment of our internal control over financial reporting, which is included herein on page F-3.

Item 9B. Other Information

Not applicable.

PART II1

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information concerning directors is included under the heading “Election of Directors” in our 2006
proxy statement for our 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and is incorporated in this Report by reference.
The information concerning executive officers is included under the heading “Executive Officers of the
Registrant” in Item 1 of Part I of this Report.

The information required under Item 405 of Regulation S-K is included under the heading “Stock
Ownership-Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Complianze” in our 2006 proxy statement and is
incorporated in this Report by reference.

The information required under Item 406 of Regulation S-K is included under the heading “Election of
Directors — Corporate Governance — Code of Business Conduct and Ethics” in our 2006 proxy statement and is
incorporated in this Report by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

This information is included under the heading “Executive Comensation” in our 2006 proxy statement and
is incorporated in this Report by reference.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and
Related Stockholder Matters i

1

| H
Except for the information concerning equity compensation plans, this information is included unde

1l Report

r the
heading “Stock Ownership” in our 2006 proxy statement and is incorporated in‘ this Report by reference!
The following table provides information about the securities authorized for issuance under our equity
compensation plans as of December 31, 2005: 1
Equity Compensation Plan Information |
‘ i
(),
(a) : Number of Securities
Number of Securities {b) . Remaining A\‘ ailable for
to be Issued upon Weighted-Average Future Issnance Under
Exercise of Exercise Price of Equity Compensation
Outstanding Options, Qutstanding Options, Plans (Exc¢luding
Warrants, and Warrants, and Securities Reﬂected in
Plan Category Rights Rights Column (a))
Equity compensation plans approved by 1
.securityholders . ......... ... .. oLl 1,377,168(1) $16.30(1) 486,439(2)
Equity compensation plans not approved by ! j
security holders (3) . ........... ... ... 322,204 $1i3.73 12,Q%
Total ........ ... .. i 1,699,372(1) $15.82(1) 498,441(2)
PR — . | .
(1) Excludes an aggregate of 263,950 shares of common stock issuable under our employees’ stock purchase
plan in connection with current and future offering periods under the plan.Excludes 2,569 shares reserved

for issuance pursuant to our deferred compensation plan for directors.

(2) Includes 263,950 shares of common stock issuable under our employees’ stock purchase plan in connection

with current and future offering periods under the plan. ;

(3) The material features of our 2001 employee equity incentive plan are described in Part IV, Item 15,
and Financial Statement Schedules, Note 3, which begins on page F-1 of th1s Report. 3

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 1

| 1

This information is included under the heading “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” in

2006 proxy statement and is incorporated in this Report by reference. | ‘
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services “

This information is included under the heading “Independent Auditors” in our 2006 proxy statemen

incorporated in this Report by reference.
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Item 15.

PART IV

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The following documents are filed as part of this Report:

(1) Consolidated Financial Statements (see Index on Page F-1 of this Report):

2

€

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Consolidated Financial Statements
and Schedule

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting

Consolidated Statement of Operations

Consolidated Balance Sheet

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and Shareholders’ Investment

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule (see Index on Page F-1 of this Report):
Schedule II: Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules are omitted because they are not appliceble or not required, or because the required
information is shown either in the consolidated financial statements or in the notes thereto.

Exhibits filed herewith or incorporated in this Report by reference are set forth in the Exhibit Index on

page 34. This list of exhibits identifies each management ccntract or compensatory plan or
arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit to this Report.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant

has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
|
|

Date: March 16, 2006 KADANT INC.

By: /s/ WILLIAM A. RAINVILLE ‘
William A. Rainville ;
Chairman of the: Board Chief Executive ()fﬁcer,
and President |

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed bélow by
the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated, on March 16, 2006.
!

Signature Title

By: /s/ WiLiaM A. RAINVILLE Chairman of the Board Chief Executive Ofﬁcer and
William A. Rainville President i 1

By: /s/ TuHoMas M. O’BRIEN Executive Vice Pregident, Chief Financial Ofﬁcer
Thomas M. O’Brien \ : |

By: /s/ MICHAEL J. MCKENNEY Vice President, Finance and Chief Accountmg
Michael J. McKenney - Officer }

By: /s/ JOHN M. ALBERTINE Director \

John M. Albertine i

By: /s/ JoHN K. ALLEN Director
John K. Allen

By: /s/ Tuomas C. LEONARD 4 Director
Thomas C. Leonard

By: /s/ Francis L. MCKoONE Director
Francis L. McKone

|
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Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Index

Description of Exhibit

21

22

23

3.1

32

4.1

10.1*

10.2*

10.3

104

Purchase Agreement among the Registrant, Johnson Acquisition Corp., The Johnson Corporation and
the principal shareholders of Johnson identified in the Purchase Agreement (filed as Exhibit 99.2 to
the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K {File No. 1-11406] filed with the Commission on

April 12, 2005 and incorporated in this document by reference). (1)

Purchase Agreement dated October 21, 2005, among the Registrant, Kadant Composites LLC
subsidiary, LDI Composites Co., a Minnesota corporation, and Liberty Diversified Industries, Inc., a
Minnesota corporation, and parent corporation of the Buver (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K [File No. 1-11406] filed with the Commission on October 27, 2005 and
incorporated in this document by reference). (1)

Asset Purchase Agreement dated January 21, 2006 on beaalf of the Kadant Jining Light Machinery
Co. Ltd. by the Registrant (as Buyer) and Jining Huayi Light Industry Machinery Co., Ltd., (as
Seller). (1)

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Jure 30, 2001 [File No. 1-11406] and
incorporated in this document by reference).

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001 [File No. 1-11406] and incorporated in this
document by reference).

Rights Agreement, dated as of July 16, 2001, between the Registrant and American Stock Transfer &
Trust Company, which includes as Exhibit A the Form o7’ Certificate of Designations, as Exhibit B
the Form of Rights Certificate, and as Exhibit C the Summary of Rights to Purchase Preferred Stock
(filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report ont Form 8-K {File No. 1-11406] filed with the
Commission on July 17, 2001, and incorporated in this d>cument by reference).

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Registrant and its directors and officers (filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Forra 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001
[File No. 1-11406] and incorporated in this document by reference).

Form of Executive Retention Agreement between the Registrant and its executive officers — each
executive officer has a two-year agreement, except Mr. William A. Rainville, who has a three-year
agreement, and Mr. Michael J. McKenney, Mr. Eric T. Langevin, and Mr. Daniel J. Walsh, each of
whom have a one-year agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001 [File No. 1-11406] and incorporated in this document by
reference).

Plan and Agreement of Distribution, dated as of August 3, 2001, between the Registrant and Thermo
Electron Corporation (filed as Exhibit 99.3 to the Registzant’s Current Report on Form 8-K [File No.
1-11406] filed with the Commission on August 6, 2001, and incorporated in this document by
reference).

First Amendment to Plan and Agreement of Distribution, dated as of December 27, 2001, between
the Registrant and Thermo Electron Corporation (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 29, 2001 [File No. 1-11406] and incorporated in
this document by reference).
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Number

Exhibit Index

|
Description of Exhibit ‘\

10.5

10.6*

10.7*

10.8*

10.9*

10.10*

10.11*

10.12*

10.13*

10.14

10.15

Tax Matters Agreement, dated as of August 8, 2001, between the Rpgistrant and Thermo Electron
Corporation (filed as Exhibit 99.4 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K [File No.|1-11406]
filed with the Commission on August 6, 2001, and incorporated in this document by reference).

Amended and Restated Nonqualified Stock Option Plan of the Reg‘\istrant (filed as Exhibit 1‘) 6 to the
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 28, 2002 [File No. -1 1406]

and incorporated in this document by reference). |

Amended and Restated Equity Incentive Plan of the Registrant (ﬁled as Exhibit 10.7 to the

Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 28, 2002 {File No. ]-1 1406]
and incorporated in this document by reference). ‘

\
|

Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors bf the Registrant (filed as Exhibit
10.5 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 3, 1999 [I*rle No.

1-11406] and incorporated in this document by reference).

Amended and Restated Directors’ Stock Option Plan of the Regrstfant (filed as Exhibit 10. 6 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended J uly 3, 1999 [File No. 1- 11406]

and incorporated in this document by reference). ‘

Amended and Restated Directors Restricted Stock Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the Registﬁmt‘s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 3, 2004 [F11e No. 1-11406] and |
incorporated in this document by reference). |

2001 Employee Equity Incentive Plan of the Registrant (filed as Exh1b1t 10.11 to the Regrstrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 28, 2002 [File No. 1-11406] and

incorporated in this document by reference). i

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for employees and executive officers of the ‘
Registrant (filed as Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
January 1, 2005 [File No. 1-11406] and incorporated in this document by reference).

Summary of Non-employee Director Compensation of the Regrstrant (filed as Exhibit 10.13. ‘to the
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 1, 2005 [File No. 1-11406) and
incorporated in this document by reference). |

Credit Agreement among the Registrant, the Foreign Subsidiary Borrowers from time to time parties
thereto, the several banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to time pames thereto,
and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, dated May 9, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 99.1
to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K [File No. 1-11406] ﬁled with the Commrssrcn on

May 11, 2005 and incorporated in this document by reference). (1) | |

First Amendment to Credit Agreement dated May 9, 2005 among the Registrant, the Foreign
Subsidiary Borrowers from time to time parties thereto, the several lenders from time to time parties
thereto, and JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent dated October 21, 2005(filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for; the quarter ended October 1,
2005 {File No. 1-11406] and incorporated in this document by reference) }
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10.16-

10.17

10.18

10.19%

10.20*
21
23.1
31.1

312

32

Second Amendment to Credit Agreement dated May 9, 2005 among the Registrant, the Foreign
Subsidiary Borrowers from time to time parties thereto, tke several lenders from time to time parties
thereto, and JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, effective December 28, 2005
(filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K [File No. 1-11406] filed with
the Commission on January 4, 2006 and incorporated in this document by reference).

Guarantee and Pledge Agreement, dated May 9, 2003, in favor of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
agent on behalf of the lenders (filed as Exhibit 99.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
[File No. 1-11406] filed with the Commission on May 11, 2005 and incorporated in this document by
reference). (1)

International Swap Dealers Association, Inc. Master Agreement dated May 25, 2005 between the
Registrant and Citizens Bank of Massachusetts and Swap Confirmation dated May 18, 2005 (filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 2, 2005
[File No. 1-11406] and incorporated in this document by :-eference).

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for award of restrictzd shares to non-employee directors (ﬁled
as Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Forn 8-K [File No. 1-11406] filed with the
Commission on June 13, 2005 and incorporated in this document by reference).

Employment Agreement dated April 7, 2005 between the Registrant and Rudolf A. Leerentveld.
Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer of the Registrant Pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e) and Rule
15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Certification of the Principal Financial Officer of the Registrant Pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e) and Rule
15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant o Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

*Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

(1) The schedules to this document have been omitted from this filing pursuant to Item 601(b)(2} of Regulation
S-K. The Company will furnish copies of any of the schedules to the U.S. Securities and Exchange

Commission upon request.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
on Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedule

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Kadant Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Kadant Inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive
income and shareholders’ investment, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2005. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the index at Item 15(2).
These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the (Company’s management. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

‘We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above presen: fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Kadant Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005, and
the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2005 in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the
related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a
whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of Kadant Inc.’s internal control ovar financial reporting as of December 31,
2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 10, 2006 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.

Ennet + LLP
Boston, Massachusetts

March 10, 2006 Ernst & Young LLP
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\
|
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
|

|
| |
We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting, that Kadant Inc. maintained effective internal control over ﬁnlmcial
reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Comnu§81on (the COSO crrtena)‘ Kadant
Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over tfinancial reporting and f DT its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our respons1b1hty isto exprecs an
opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company s internal con‘trol over
financial reporting based on our audit. \
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Overst ght
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was mamtamed in all material respects. Qur
audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reportlng, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of 1nterna1 control, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a |
reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external puraoseq in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s 1nterna1 control over financial reportmg
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detarl

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide rea‘lsonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of ﬁnanc1al statements in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expendrture‘s of the company are berng made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reaéonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the*
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. }
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detec‘t
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the nsl‘( that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate. \

As indicated in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting,
management’s assessment of and conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did
not include the internal controls of Kadant Johnson, which is included in the 2005 consolidated financial .
statements of Kadant Inc. and constituted 42% and 53% of total assets and net assets, respectively, as of |
December 31, 2005 and 20% and 27% of revenues and net income, respectlvely,‘ for the year then ended. Our
audit of internal control over financial reporting of Kadant Inc. also did not 1nclude an evaluation of the i 1r ternal
control over financial reporting of Kadant Johnson. : 1

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Kadant Inc. maintained effective internal control over,
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects based on the COSO criteria.
Also, in our opinion, Kadant Inc. mamtamed in all material respects, effective internal control over ﬁnancral
reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the COSO criteria. | ‘

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oyer51g}rt Board
(United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Kadant Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and
January 1, 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehenswe income and ¢ ,hareholders
investment, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005 of Kadant Inc and

subsidiaries and our report dated March 10, 2006 expressed an unqualified opmlon thereon. |

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Kadant Inc.:

Boston, Massachusetts é M + LLP

March 10, 2006
Ernst & Young LLP
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Kadant Inc. 2005 Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Opcrations

'(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2005 2004 2003
Revenues (NOte 11) ... i i e et e et $243,713 $194,966 $191,507
Costs and Operating Expenses:
oSt OF TEVEIIUES . . vttt ettt e e e e s 149,744 119,200 116,539
Selling, general, and administrative expenses .............. ....... 74,617 56,334 50,402
Research and development €XPenses ......ovvvvvrivinreer i ns 4,887 3,077 4,268
Restructuring and other costs (income), net Note 8) ................ (118) 9,515 23)
229,130 188,126 171,186
OperatingIncome . ........ . i 14,583 6,840 20,321
Interest InCOME .. ... i e e e 1,505 1,468 965
Interest EXxpense (NOtE 6) . . ... v vt e e e (2,114) (23) 49)
Income from Continuing Operations Before Provision for Income Taxes and
Minority Interest EXpense ......... ..ot 13,974 8,285 21,237
Provision for Income Taxes (Note 5) . ... ... o i 3,925 2,524 8,070
Minority Interest EXpense .. ...... ...ttt 184 8 44
Income from Continuing Operations .............c.c.ooviiinrrineen... 9,865 5,753 13,123
Loss from Discontinued Operation (net of income tax benefit of $1,608,
$2,966, and $800 in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively;, Note 9) ......... (2,988) (5.099) (1,306)
NetINCome .. ... $ 6877 $ 654 $ 11,817
Basic Earnings (Loss) per Share (Note 12) :
Continuing OPerations . . ... .....veenuurrereen e annnnn. $ g8 41 3 .96
Discontinued Operation ................oiiiiiiiniinennenin, (.21) -(.36) .09)
NetINCOMEe . ...ttt e $ S50 S 05 3 .87
Diluted Earnings (Loss) per Share (Note 12)
Continuing OPerations . . ... .....evuurrrreeenaeen e, $ 70§ 40 $ 94
Discontinued Operation . ..........c...ciiiniiiiiniiinanan.. (21) (.35 .09)
NetIncome ...........coo i, $ 49 8 05 8 .85
Weighted Average Shares (Note 12)
Basic .. e e 13,829 14,071 13,659
Diluted ..o e e 14,104 14,398 13,959

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Kadant Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheet

2005 Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share amounts) 2005 2004
Assets !
Current Assets: ‘
Cash and cash equivalents .. ...... ... ... ... A $ 40,822 S 82,089
Accounts receivable, less allowances of $2,221 and $1,678 ............ b 41,822 1| 30,022
Unbilled contractcostsand fees ............ ... .. L. 11,603 | 10,258
Inventories . . ... ... . e e 35,115 27,316
Other CUITeNt aSSELS . . oottt e e e e 11,969 \ 13,394
Assets of discontinued operation (Note 9) .......................... SR 14,030 15,650
Total CUITENE ASSELS .« o v v v ettt e e e e e e e e e e e b 155,361 1|178,729
Property, Plant, and Equipment, at Cost, Net .............. ... .o oo L 32,907 17,064
Other ASSEts (NOTE 3) ..o e ettt e e e e e e ST 6,856 | 11,342
INtangible ASSELS . ... ...oooi e ST 36,262 | 3,694
GOOAWILL oo o U 124,425 | 74,408
TOl ASSEES « + .+ . e vttt ettt e e e S $355,811 $285,237
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Investment |
Current Liabilities: 1 |
Current maturities of long-term obligations (Note 6) .................. e § 9,000 § -
Accounts payable . ... ... ... L 20,229 | 21,327
Accrued payroll and employee benefits ............................ P 14,002 | 11,261
Billings in excess of contract costs andfees .............. ... ... .. ... L 8,032 1,257
Accrued restructuring costs (Note 8) . ....... ... ... .. .. .. ..., Lo 4,781 10,026
Accrued WaITANLY COSIS . .o\ vt vttt et e e e et e 2,836 | 3,582
Other current liabilities . ........... . oo e 14,436 | 10,048
Liabilities of discontinued operation (Note 9) .................... ... L 6,599 | 7,578
Total Current LIabilities - .. . ... vvoeeees e e S 79,915 | 65,079
Other Long-Term Liabilities (NOt€ 3) ... .. ovtvvieee e ‘ ........ 20,726 | 7,697
Long-Term Obligations (NOte 6) ... .........ouuiuireriananenann.. FT 46,500 -
Minority Interest . ... ... ... . . e ........ 1,045 -
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 7)
Shareholders’ Investment (Notes 3 and 4): :
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized; none issued ; ........ - -
Common stock, $.01 par value, 150,000,000 shares authorized; 14,604,520 shares ;

ISSUEA . . oot e Lo 146 | 146
Capital inexcessof parvalue .......... ... .. ... ... .. i, e 97,297 || 98,450
Retained €amings .. ... ... PP 136,050 129,173
Treasury stock at cost, 1,055,756 and 689,407 shares ................. L (24,254) || (18,158)
Deferred compensation . ... ............ouoirianireineaintana.. P (124) | (50
Accumulated other comprehensive items (Note 13) ................... ........ (1,490) 2,900

' } 207,625 212,461
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Investment ... ... ST ........ $355,811 §285,237

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
|
|
|
1
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Kadant Inc. 2005 Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Revised -  Revised —
See Note1 See Notel

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003
Operating Activities
NELINCOME . . oottt et e e e e e $ 6877 $ 654 $11,817
Loss from discontinued operation (Note 9) ......... ... ... ..o, 2,988 5,099 1,306
Income from continuing Operations . .................viiinneennnainaa... 9,865 5,753 13,123

Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing operations to net cash provided
by operating activities: ... .. .. ...ttt et

Depreciation and amortization .............oiveiiiiin i 6,931 3,604 3,954
Provision for (reversal of) losses on accounts receivable ................. 185 656 (342)
Minority Interest EXPense ... . ..ot 184 8
Gain on sale of property, plant, and equipment ......................... (166) (149) (674)
Deferred income tax expense (Note 5) . .. ... it 1,511 199 2,899
Other (tems . . ...t e 1,459 363 834
Changes in current accounts, net of effects of acquisition: ................
Accounts receivable ... ... e (35) 453 2,701
Unbilled contract costsandfees . ............. .. . it (493) 921 (4,322)
INVENLOTIES .« . .ttt e et e et e e e 4,362 1,665 2,276
Other CUMTENt ASSELS . . . oottt i e et ettt e e 542 397 (632)
Accountspayable . ... ... . e (4,465) (2,630) 4,058
Other current liabilities . .. ... ... . (817) 1,693 1,644
Net cash provided by continuing operations ................... 19,063 12,933 25,563
Net cash (used in) provided by discontinued operation ........... (1,360) 316 (2,521)
Net cash provided by operating activities ..................... 17,703 13,249 23,042
Investing Activities
Acquisition, net of cash acquired (Note 2) ............ i, (103,614) - -
Acquisition costs capitalized (paid),net ........ . ... . ... . L 1,563 (1,916) -
Acquisition of minority interest in subsidiary ............. ... ... o oo (1,129) (318) -
Purchases of property, plant, andequipment ............... ... ... .l (3,245) (2,189) (2,0006)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant, andequipment . ....................... 507 1,306 1,000
OIher . . (501) (90) (2553)
Net cash used in continuing operations ....................... (106,419) (3,207) (1,261)
Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operation ........... 5,548 (314) (1,971)
Net cash used in investing activities ......................... (100,871) (3,521 (3,232)
Financing Activities
Proceeds from issuance of short and long-term obligations (Note 6) ............ 60,000 - -
Increase in short and long-term obligations (Note 2) .. ....................... 4,000 - -
Purchase of Company common stock ............. ..o iiiiiiiineiiiin.. 9,116)  (10,261) -
Repayment of long-term obligations Note 6) ............... ... ... ........ (5,522) (598) (567)
Net proceeds from issuance of Company common stock (Note 3) .............. 1,393 5,493 5,108
Payment of debt issuance costs .. ......... i (652) - -
Net cash provided by (used in) continuing operations ............ 50,103 (5,366) 4,541
Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operation ........... - - -
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities . . . .. RPN 50,103 (5,366) 4,541
Exchange Rate Effect on Cash of Continuing Operations . ...............ccviuoe.. (2,498) 3,315 5,671
Change in Cash from Discontinued Operation .............. .. ... ... ... uo.. (5,704) - 17
(Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents from Continuing Operations .. ... .. (41,267) 7,677 30,039
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginningof Year ............................... 82,089 74,412 44,373
Cash and Cash EquivalentsatEndof Year ............... . ... ... 0., $ 40,822 §$ 82,089 374412

See Note 1 for supplemental cash flow information.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




Kadant Inc.

2005 Financial Sta‘

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and

Shareholders’ Investment

tements

(In thousands) ' 2005 2004 2003
Comprehensive Income :
Net INCOME . .ottt e e e e e $ 6877 % 654 § 11,817
Other Comprehensive Items (Note 13): | j
Foreign currency translation adjustment .......................... (4,564) 5326 | 10,843
Deferred gain (loss) on hedging instruments (net of tax of $133, $59 and | :
(396) in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively) .. ................... ‘ 174 113 (158)
. (4,390) 5439 | 10,685
$ 2487 $ 6,093 § 22,502
Shareholders’ Investment
Common Stock, $.01 Par Value: |
Balance at beginningof year ............ ... ... .. oo $ 146 § 143 % 140
Activity under employees’ and directors’ stock plans ................ | - 3 3
Balanceatendofyear .......... ... ... . .. i i i 146 146 143
Capital in Excess of Par Value: !
Balance at beginningof year ............ ... ... . oo . 98,450 94,454 98,567
Activity under employees’ and directors’ stockplans . ............... L (1,276) 3,288 (5,374)
Tax benefit related to employees’ and directors’ stock plans .......... i 123 708 | 1,261
Balance at end of YEar .. ...............ooiieiiiiiieeiiii. | 97,297 98450 | 94,454
Retained Earnings: i
Balance at beginningof year ........... ... ... .. e 1 129,173 128,519 116,702
NEIMCOIMIE & . o vt ittt e e e e e e e e e e e 6,877 654 | 11,817
Balance at end of YEar ... ... ..\ o .\ on et 136050 129,173 128,519
Treasury Stock, at Cost: ‘
Balance at beginning of year ......... ... .. ... i { (18,158) (8,788) ‘ (20,901)
Purchases of Company commonstock . ....... ... . ... ... .. ..., i (9,116) (10,261) -
Activity under employees’ and directors’ stock plans . ............... 3,020 891 | 12,113
Balance at end of = A N \ (24,254)  (18,158) ‘ (8,788)
Deferred Compensation: :
Balance at beginning of year .......... ... . ... i i (50) 3D 27
Issuance of restricted stock under directors’ stock plans (Note 3) ...... ! (352) (200) (122)
Amortization of deferred compensation .. ................ ... ... .. 278 181 118
Balance atendof year ........ ... .. “ (124) (50) 3D
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Items (Note 13): ‘ 3
Balance at beginning of year ......... .. ... .o i, I 2,900 (2,539) 1(13,224)
Other comprehensive items .. .......... ...t L (4,390) 5,439 10,685
Balanceatendofyear ....... .. ... ... i 1 (1,490) 2,900 ‘ (2,539)
$207,625 $212461 $211,758

’ I
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Kadant Inc. 2005 Financial Statements

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations

Kadant Inc.’s (the Company) continuing operations include one operating segment, Pulp and Papermaking
Systems (Papermaking Systems), and two separate product lines, Fiber-based Products and Casting Products.
Through its Papermaking Systems segment, the Company .develops, manufactures, and markets a range of
equipment and products for the global papermaking and paper recycling industries. The Company’s principal
products in this segment include custom-engineered stock-preparaticn systems and equipment for the preparation
of wastepaper for conversion into recycled paper; paper machine accessory equipment and related consumables
important to the efficient operation of paper machines; water-manag:ment systems essential for draining,
purifying, and recycling process water; and fluid-handling systems used primarily in the dryer section of the
papermaking process and during the production of corrugated boxboard, metals, plastics, rubber, textiles, and
food. Through its Fiber-based Products line, the Company manufactures and sells granules derived from pulp
fiber primarily for use as agricultural carriers and for home lawn and garden applications. The Company also
manufactures and sells grey and ductile iron castings through its Casting Products business.

On October 21, 2005, the Company’s Kadant Composites LLC subsidiary sold substantially all of the assets,
comprising its composite building products business (composites business), to LDI Composites Co. for
approximately $11,127,000 in cash and the assumption of $1,444,00) of liabilities, subject to a post-closing
adjustment. The composites business is classified as a discontinued operation in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements for all periods presented. As part of the sale transaction, Kadant Composites LLC retained
the warranty obligations associated with products manufactured prior to the sale date. As of December 31, 2005,
the accrued warranty reserve associated with the composites business was $5,276,000. All future activity
associated with this warranty reserve will continue to be classified in the results from the discontinued operation
in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Company History and Former Relationship with Thermo Electron Corporation

The Company was incorporated in November 1991 to be the successor-in-interest to several papermaking
equipment businesses of Thermo Electron Corporation (Thermo Electron). In November 1992, the Company
completed an initial public offering of a portion of its common stock. On July 12, 2001, the Company changed its
name to Kadant Inc. from Thermo Fibertek Inc. Thermo Electron disposed of its remaining equity interest in the
Company by means of a dividend to Thermo Electron shareholders on August 8, 2001 (Spinoff Date). On
May 14, 2003, the Company began trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “KAI”
Previously, the Company’s common stock traded on the American S:ock Exchange under the same symbol.

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly
and majority-owned subsidiaries. All material intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Fiscal Year

The Company has adopted a fiscal year ending the Saturday nearest December 31. References to 2005,
2004, and 2003 are for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2005, January 1, 2005, and January 3, 2004,
respectively, The Company’s Kadant Lamort subsidiary, based in France, has a fiscal year ending on
November 30 to allow sufficient time for the Company to consolidat: the financial statements of that business.
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2005 Financial Statements

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
\
Use of Estimates and Critical Accounting Policies ;

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting prmcrples
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amo nts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. ‘

Critical accounting policies are defined as those that entail significant judgments and estimates, and could
potentially result in materially different results under different assumptions and ¢onditions. The Company
believes that the most critical accounting policies upon which its financial condition depends, and which involve
the most complex or subjective decisions or assessments, concern revenue recognition, accounts receivable,
inventories, warranty obligations, and the valuation of intangible assets and goodwill. A discussion on the
application of these and other accounting policies is included in Note 1.

Although the Company makes every effort to ensure the accuracy of the estimates and assumptions ased in
the preparation of its consolidated financial statements or in the application of accounting policies, if business
conditions were different, or if the Company used different estimates and assumptions, it is possible that :
materially different amounts could be reported in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

|

I
Revenue Recognition i
The Company recognizes revenue under Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) Staff Accounu ng
Bulletin (SAB) No. 104, “Revenue Recognition.” Revenue is generally recognized when products are delivered
or services are performed. The Company includes in revenue amounts invoiced for shipping and handling with
the corresponding costs reflected in cost of revenues. When the terms of the sale include customer accept‘ance
provisions, and compliance with those provisions cannot be demonstrated until customer acceptance, revenues
are recognized upon such acceptance. t

Due to the significance of the Company’s capital goods and spare parts busmesses most of the Com pany’s

revenue is recognized in accordance with the accounting policies in the precedmg paragraph. However, V&"hen a
sale arrangement involves multiple elements (e.g., installation), the Company considers the guidance in
Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.” Such
transactions are evaluated to determine whether the deliverables in the arrangement represent separate units of
accounting. If equipment and installation do not meet the separation criteria under EITF 00-21, revenues for

products sold that require installation for which the installation is essential to functlonahty, or is not deem‘ed

inconsequential or perfunctory, are recognized upon completion of installation. Revenues for products sold where

installation is not essential to functionality, and is deemed inconsequential or perfunctory, are recognized! ‘upon
shipment with estimated installation costs accrued.

In addition, revenues and profits on certain long-term contracts are recogmzed using the ‘
percentage-of-completion method. Revenues recorded under the percentage-of-completion method Were t
$55,590,000 in 2005, $43,742,000 in 2004, and $49,256,000 in 2003. The percentage of completion is
determined by comparing the actual costs incurred to date to an estimate of total costs to be incurred on each
contract. If a loss is indicated on any contract in process, a provision is made cur‘rently for the entire loss. i‘The
Company’s contracts generally provide for billing of customers upon the attainment of certain milestones’
specified in each contract. Revenues earned on contracts in process in excess of billings are classified as unbilled

contract costs and fees, and amounts billed in excess of revenues earned are classified as billings in excess of

|

contract costs and fees in the accompanying balance sheet. There are no srgmﬁcant amounts included in the
accompanying balance sheet that are not expected to be recovered from existing contracts at current contr‘act
values, or that are not expected to be collected within one year, including amounts that are billed but not paid

under retamage provrslons
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Warranty Obligations

The Company provides for the estimated cost of product warrar ties, primarily using historical information
and repair costs at the time product revenue is recognized. In the Papermaking Systems segment, the Company
typically negotiates the terms regarding warranty coverage and length of warranty depending on the products and
applications. While the Company engages in extensive product quality programs and processes, the Company’s
warranty obligation is affected by product failure rates, repair costs, service delivery costs incurred in correcting
a product failure, and supplier warranties on parts delivered to the Company. Should actual product failure rates,
repair costs, service delivery costs, or supplier warranties on parts differ from the Company’s estimates, revisions
to the estimated warranty liability would be required. The changes ir: the carrying amount of product warranties
are as follows:

(In thousands) ) 2005 2004

Balance at Beginning of Year . ... ... i e $3,582 §$3,661
Provision charged tO inCOME . ... ... .t e 1,214 2,663
L7 (2,009) (2,946)
Other, NEt (@) . ..ttt e e e e e e 49 204

Balance at End of Year . ... ..o $2,836 $3,582

(a) Includes $232 of acquired warranty obligation in 2005 and the effects of currency translation.

See Note 9 for warranty information related to the discontinued operation.

Stock-Based Compensation Plans and Pro Forma Stock-Based Compensation Expense

The Company applies Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees,” and related interpretations in accounting for its stock-based compensation plans. Accordingly, no
accounting recognition is given to stock options granted at fair market value until they are exercised. Upon
exercise, net proceeds, including tax benefits realized, are credited to shareholders’ investment.

As permitted by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-
based Compensation,” the Company has elected to continue to apply APB Opinion No. 25 to account for its
stock-based compensation plans through year-end 2005. No stock-based employee compensation cost related to
stock option awards is reflected in net income, as all options granted under the plans had an exercise price equal
to the market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. Had compensation cost for awards
granted after 1994 under the Company’s stock-based compensation plans been determined based on the fair value
at the grant dates consistent with the method set forth under SFAS No. 123, the effect on certain of the

F-10
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

2005 Financial Statements

Company'’s financial results would have been as follows:

(In thousands, except per share amounts) ‘\ 2005 2004

2003
Income from Continuing Operations . ... .......c.vreiiiineerinneeen. .. ... $9,865 $5,753 l $13,123
Loss from Discontinued Operation ........... ...t oo (2,988) (5,099} (1,306)
Net Income As Reported ... ..........oouieneiuiareiieinae. . ... 6,877 654 | 11,817
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under the
fair-value-based method for all awards, netoftax ..................... o (561) (2,173)] (2,043)
Pro forma net income (10S8) .+« v vttt ... $6316 $(1,519) $ 9,774
Basic Earnings (Loss) per Share:
As reported: ;
Income from continuing operations . . ......................... .8 718 41 /s 96
NeEtinCOMmME .« . oottt e et e e e et .. $ 5 $ 05|$ .87
Pro forma: 3 |
Income from continuing operations . .......................... .. % 67 % 25|% .81
Netincome (10SS) . .o oo oottt e .. $ 46 3 (1)|$ 72
Diluted Earnings (Loss) per Share: 1
As reported: 1‘ a
Income from continuing operations . ................ooveen... .. % 70 8 408 94
NetinCome . ... ..ottt 1 . $ 49 $ 05|% 85
Pro forma: } j
Income from continuing operations . . ............................ § 66 $ 25|% .79
Netincome (108S) ... oo e e .08 45 % (118 70

The weighted average fair value per share of options granted was $8.07 and $8.38 in 2005 and 2004},
respectively. There were no options granted in 2003. The fair value of each option grant was estimated oP the
grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, assuming an expected dividend yield of zero w1th the

following weighted-average assumptions:

2005

\
|
i
\
|
|
\
\
|

. 2004
VOLatilitY « . ottt e 2% 44%
Risk-Free Interest Rate . ... ... o e 40% 2.7%
Expected Life of Options ........ ... . i TR, 5 years| 5 years
The Black-Scholes option-pricing model was developed for use in estimati{ng the fair value of traded
options, which have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In additiorll, option-pricing models require
the input of highly subjective assumptions, including expected stock price volatility. Because the Company’s

employee stock options have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, and because

changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, in manage mentJ

|
opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of its €

stock options.

I
|
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Income Taxes

In accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxe¢s,” (SFAS 109) the Company recognizes
deferred income taxes based on the expected future tax consequences of differences between the financial
statement basis and the tax basis of assets and liabilities, calculated using enacted tax rates in effect for the year
in which the differences are expected to be reflected in the tax return. A tax valuation allowance is established, as
needed, to reduce net deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. In the event it becomes more
likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax asset allowances will not be needed, the valuation allowance
will be adjusted.

Prior to the spinoff from Thermo Electron, the Company and Thermo Electron were parties to a tax
- allocation agreement under which the Company and its subsidiaries, except its foreign operations, its Fiberprep
subsidiary, and in 2000, its Kadant Composites Inc. subsidiary, were included in the consolidated federal and
certain state income tax returns filed by Thermo Electron. The tax allocation agreement provided that, in years in
which these entities had taxable income, the Company would pay to Thermo Electron amounts comparable to the
taxes it would have paid if the Company had filed separate tax returns. The tax allocation agreement terminated
as of the Spinoff Date, at which time the Company and Thermo Electron entered into a tax matters agreement.
The tax matters agreement requires, among other things, that the Conpany file its own income tax returns for tax
periods beginning immediately after the Spinoff Date. In addition, the tax matters agreement requires that the
Company indemnify Thermo Electron, but not the shareholders of Thermo Electron, against liability for taxes
resulting from (a) the conduct of the Company’s business following tlie distribution or (b) the failure of the
distribution to Thermo Electron shareholders of shares of the Compariy’s common stock or of Viasys Healthcare
Inc. (another Thermo Electron spinoff) common stock to continue to (qualify as a tax-free spinoff under
Section 355 of the Internal Revenue Code as a result of certain actions that the Company takes following the
distribution. Thermo Electron has agreed to indemnify the Company against taxes resulting from the conduct of
Thermo Electron’s business prior te and following the distribution, or from the failure of the distribution of
shares of the Company’s common stock to Thermo Electron shareholders to continue to qualify as a tax-free
spinoff other than as a result of some actions that the Company may take following the distribution. Although not
anticipated, if any of the Company’s post-distribution activities cause the distribution to become taxable, the
Company could incur liability to Thermo Electron and/or various taxing authorities, which could adversely affect
~ the Company’s results of operations, financial position, and cash flows.

Earnings (Loss) per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share have been computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average
number of shares outstanding during the year. Except where the effect would have been antidilutive to income
from continuing operations, diluted earnings (loss) per share have bee¢n computed assuming the exercise of stock
options, as well as their related income tax effects.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

At year-end 2005 and 2004, the Company’s cash equivalents included investments in money market funds
and other marketable securities of its domestic and foreign subsidiarizs, which had maturities of three months or
less at the date of purchase. The carrying amounts of cash equivalents approximate their fair values due to the
short-term nature of these instruments.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statement:s
|
1. Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

atements

Supplemental Cash Flow Information |

(In thousands) | 2005 2004

2003

Cash Paid for Inferest ..................cooiiiienieioiiiii... ... % 209 $ 37 8 6l

Cash Paid for Income Taxes .. .. ..covriri it L., § 2,422 $2,41ﬂ $4,870
Non-Cash Investing Activities (Note 2): ‘

Fair Value of Assets Acquired ............ciiiinineinnnnn .. L.. $158,694 $ - 3% -

Cash Paid for Acquired Business ..................ccoiiinvenn... 1 .. (106,146) i -

Obligation to be Paid for Acquired Business ............. e L. (4,000) - -

Liabilities Assumed of Acquired Business ............. . o0 ‘ o0 b 48548 5 - %8 -
Non-Cash Financing Activities: i |

Issuance of Restricted Stock . ........... ... . i o0 % 352§ 200 $ 122

| ‘
| \

In 2005, the Company separately disclosed the operating, investing, and ﬁnancmg portions of the cash flows
attributable to its discontinued operation, which in prior periods were reported on a combined basis as a‘smg]e
amount. ‘

|
Inventories ‘

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (on a first-in, first-out; last-in, ﬁ‘rst out; or weighted average basis)
or market value and include materials, labor, and manufacturing overhead. The\ components of mventorl‘ es are as
follows: \ i
(In thousands) : ! 2005 | 2004
Raw Materials and Supplies . ...t } ........... $19,971 | $12,849
Work in Process . ... { ........... 5,605 6,047
Finished Goods (includes $328 and $611 at customer locations) ............ S 9,539 8,420

| $27,316

$35,115
‘ |

The Company periodically reviews its quantities of inventories on hand and compares these amounts to the

expected usage of each particular product or product line. The Company records as a charge to cost of re
any amounts required to reduce the carrying value of inventories to net reahzable value.

VEnues

The last-in, first-out inventory method is used to value approximately 15% of inventory at year—end 2005. If

the first-in, first-out method had been used, it would have increased inventory by $88,000 as of year-end 2005.

i
'
|
I

Property, Plant, and Equipment |

The costs of additions and improvements are capitalized, while maintenance and repairs are cha:ged to
expense as incurred. The Company provides for depreciation and amortization pnmanly using the stra1ght -line

method over the estimated useful lives of the property as follows: buildings, 10 to 40 years; machinery a‘nd
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accountiny Policies (continued)

. equipment, 2 to 10 years; and leasehold improvements, the shorter of the term of the lease or the life of the asset.
Property, plant, and equipment consists of the following:

(In thousands) ' 2005 2004
Land . .. e $ 4719 $ 2,769
Buildings .. ... 28.146 20,341
Machinery, Equipment, and Leasehold Improvements . . ........... ... ... .. ... . ..... 52,803 45,114
85,668 68,224
Less: Accumulated Depreciation and AmOrtization . .............c. oo, 52,761 51,160

$32.907 $17,064

Depreciation and amortization expense was $5,019,000, $2,931,000, and $3,281,000 in 2005, 2004, and
2003, respectively.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets in the accompanying balance sheet includes the costs of acquired intellectual property,
tradename, patents, customer relationships, non-compete agreements and other specifically identifiable intangible
assets. An intangible asset of $8,100,000 associated with the acquisition of the Johnson tradename has an
indefinite life and is not being amortized. The remaining intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line
method over periods ranging from 3 to 20 years with a weighted-average amortization period of 15 years. The
intangible asset lives have been determined based on the anticipated period over which the Company will derive
future cash flow benefits from the intangible assets. The Company has considered the effects of legal, regulatory,
contractual, competitive, and other economic factors in determining these useful lives.

Acquired intangible assets are as follows:

Accumulated
(In thousands) Gross Amortization Net
December 31, 2005
Customer relationships ....... ... .. i i $15,700 $ (674) $15,026
Intellectual property ..........c.ooiuniiiniiiii i 13,057 (3,074) 9,983
Tradename . .. ..ot 8,100 - 8,100
Non-compete agreements . ... ......vuuttun et eenannnenneenanns 3,119 (2,663) 456
Distribution Network . ... it i 2,400 (90) 2,310
Licensing agreements . ... ... ...ttt 400 (13) 387

$42,776  $(6,514)  $36,262

January 1, 2005
Intellectual property ...........c.ooiiiiiiiiii $ 5217  $(2,251) $ 2,966
Non-compete agreements . ... ......ouuetuneinnennenneuneenannns 3,079 (2,351 728

$ 8296  $(4,602) $ 3,694

Amortization of acquired intangible assets was $1,912,000 in 2005 and $673,000 in 2004 and 2003. The
estimated future amortization expense of acquired intangible assets is $2,624,000 in 2006; $2,449,000 in 2007;
$2,266,000 in 2008; $2,217,000 in 2009 and 2010, and $16,389,000 thereafter.
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1. Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policiesf (continued)
‘ ]
Goodwill ‘

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill in 2005 and 2004 are as chllows:

(In thousands) \‘ 2005 | 2004

Balance at Beginning of Year .. ..........ooiuiniiniiii i b $ 74,408 | $73,536
Increase due to Kadant Johnson acquisition (Note 2) . ............ ... ..... ; .......... - 50,467 -
Increase due to Purchase of Minority Interest in Subsidiary ............... Lo, 861 | -
Currency Translation Adjustment . ... ...........ooveirorenranenn.n.. Lo (1,311) 872

| $124,425 | $74,408

| |
Goodwill as of year-end 2005 and 2004 relates entirely to the Company’s Pulp and Papermaking Systems
segment.
During the third quarter of 2005, the Company acquired the remaining minority interest in one of 1t, Kadant
Johnson subsidiaries for $1,129,000 in cash, and recorded $861,000 of goodwﬂl
\

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets \

The Company evaluates the recoverability of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful 11ves
annually in the fourth quarter, or more frequently if events or changes in c1rcumstances such as a dechne in
sales, earnings, or cash flows, or material adverse changes in the business climate, indicate that the carrymg
value of an asset might be impaired. The Company completed its annual 1mpa1r‘ment test in the fourth qu‘arter of
2005 using the estimates from its long-range forecasts. No adjustment was requlred to the carrying value of its
goodwill or other indefinite-lived intangible assets based on the analysis performed. |

The Company assesses its long-lived assets other than goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for
impairment whenever facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be fully recoverable.
To analyze recoverability, the Company projects undiscounted net future cash ﬂows over the remaining lives of
such assets. If these projected cash flows were to be less than the carrying amounts an impairment loss would be
recognized, resulting in a write-down of the assets with a corresponding charge\to earnings. The 1mpaument loss

would be measured based upon the difference between the carrying amounts and the fair values of the assets.
\

‘
|
i
All assets and liabilities of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are translated at year-end exchange rates, and
revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for each quarter‘ in accordance with SFA? No. 52,
“Foreign Currency Translation.” Resulting translation adjustments are reflected in the “accumulated other
comprehensive items” component of shareholders’ investment (see Note 13). Fore1gn currency transactmn gains
and losses are included in the accompanying consolidated statement of operanons and are not material for the

three years presented. | |

Foreign Currency Translation

Derivatives ‘ :
The Company uses derivative instruments primarily to reduce its exposure to changes in currency exchange
rates and interest rates. When the Company enters into a derivative contract, the Company makes a deterrmnation
as to whether the transaction is deemed to be a hedge for accounting purposes. For contracts deemed to he a
hedge, the Company formally documents the relationship between the denvanve instrument and the risk; being
| |
| |
| i
|
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1. Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

hedged. In this documentation, the Company specifically identifies the asset, liability, forecasted transaction,
cash-flow, or net investment that has been designated as the hedged item, and evaluates whether the derivative
instrument is expected to reduce the risks associated with the hedged item. To the extent these criteria are not
met, the Company does not use hedge accounting for the derivative.

SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended, requires that
all derivatives be recognized on the balance sheet at fair value. For derivatives designated as cash flow hedges,
the related gains or losses on these contracts are deferred as a comporent of accumulated other comprehensive
items. These deferred gains and losses are recognized in the period in which the underlying anticipated
transaction occurs. For derivatives designated as fair value hedges, th: unrealized gains and losses resulting from
the impact of currency exchange rate movements are recognized in earnings in the period in which the exchange
rates change and offset the currency gains and losses on the underlying exposures being hedged. The Company
performs an evaluation of the effectiveness of the hedge both at inception and on an ongoing basis. The
ineffective portion of a hedge, if any, and changes in the fair value of a derivative not deemed to be a hedge, are
recorded in the consolidated statement of operations.

The Company entered into a five-year interest rate swap agreement in 2005 to hedge a portion of its variable
rate debt and has designated this agreement as a cash-flow hedge of the underlying obligation. The fair value of
the interest rate swap agreement is included in other assets and in acciamulated other comprehensive items (net of
tax). The Company has structured this interest rate swap agreement tc: be 100% effective and as a result, there is
no current impact to earnings resulting from hedge ineffectiveness.

The Company uses forward currency exchange contracts primarily to hedge certain operational (“cash flow”
hedges) and balance sheet (“fair value” hedges) exposures resulting from fluctuations in currency exchange rates.
Such exposures primarily result from portions of the Company’s operations and assets that are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the businesses conducting the operations or holding the assets.
The Company enters into forward currency exchange contracts to hedge anticipated product sales and recorded
accounts receivable made in the normal course of business, and accordingly, the hedges are not speculative in
nature. The fair value of these contracts at year-end 2005 and 2004, a:ad the net impact of the related gains and
losses on its results of operations, including the effect of the underlying hedged items, were not material in any
period presented.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Share-Based Payment

On December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 123 (revised
2004), “Share-Based Payment” (SFAS 123R). SFAS 123R replaces SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” (SFAS 123), supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and
amends SFAS No. 95 “Statement of Cash Flows.” SFAS 123R requirss all share-based payments to employees,
including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair
values. The Company is required to adopt SFAS 123R on January 1, 2006. The pro forma disclosures previously
permitted under SFAS 123 will no longer be an alternative to financial statement recognition. As permitted by
SFAS 123, prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for shar:-based payments to employees using APB
Opinion No. 25’s intrinsic value method and, as such, recognized no compensation cost for employee stock
options. The Company will apply the “modified prospective application” under SFAS 123R. Based on the
unvested options outstanding as of December 31, 2005, the Company expects that the adoption of this standard
will result in additional compensation expense of approximately $357,000 in 2006. Compensation expense would
also be impacted by any options granted in the future.
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|
1. Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies |(continued) |
| i

Inventory Costs ‘ 1
In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory Costs, an amendment of ARB No. 43,
Chapter 4,” which requires that abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, frelght handling costs and wasted
material be recognized as current-period charges. This Statement also 1ntroduces the concept of * normal
capacity” and requires the allocation of fixed production overheads to inventory based on the normal cap, acity of
the production facilities. Unallocated overheads must be recognized as an expense in the period in Wthh they are
incurred. The Company is required to adopt SFAS No. 151 on January 1, 2006 and does not expect the adopuon
to have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements.

Reclassifications ‘

|
Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior years’ presentations to conform to the 2005
presentation. !

2. Acquisition

On May 11, 2005, the Company acquired all the outstanding stock of The J ohnson Corporation (Kadant

Johnson), a leading supplier of fluid-handling systems and equipment, 1nclud1ng steam and condensate S):rstems
components, and controls. These products are used primarily in the dryer sectlon of the papermaking process and
during the production of corrugated boards, metals, plastics, rubber, textiles, and food. Kadant Johnson was a

privately held company based in Three Rivers, Michigan, with approximately 575 employees and annual
revenues in 2004 of $76,092,000. The acquisition of Kadant Johnson allows the! Company to offer Kadant
Johnson’s complementary products and extends the Company’s technology-based offerings in the paper 1ndustry,
while allowing it to capitalize on Kadant Johnson’s significant aftermarket business. The purchase price for the
acquisition was $101,458,000 in cash, subject to a post-closing adjustment, and $4 688,000 of acquusmon related
costs, of which $1,916,000 was paid in 2004 and $2,772,000 was incurred in 2005. In addition to the cash
consideration, the Company issued a letter of credit to the sellers for $4,000,000 related to certain tax ass:ets of

Kadant Johnson, the value of which the Company expects to realize. This amount is subject to ad_]ustmen‘t based

on The Johnson Corporation’s final tax return for 2005. This additional con51de:at10n of which $600,000 is
included in other current liabilities and $3,400,000 is included in other long- terrn liabilities in the accomﬂ)anymg
consolidated balance sheet, is due over the next five years as follows: 15% per year in 2006, 2007, 2008, and
2009, and 40% in 2010. ‘

The parties also agreed in the purchase agreement to an earn-out provision, ' based on the achlevement of
certain revenue targets between the closing date (May 11, 2005) and July 1, 2006 which could increase the
purchase price by up to $8,000,000. This contingent consideration will be accounted for as an increase m‘
goodwill if and when the revenue targets are achieved. Based on current forecasts the Company does not believe
that a significant payout under the earn-out provision is likely. “

To fund a portion of the purchase price, the Company entered into a term loan and revolving credit fac111ty
(see Note 6 for further discussion). ‘

Pursuant to the purchase agreement, at the closing of the acquisition $12,750,000 of the purchase price was
deposited into an escrow fund, primarily to secure certain indemnification obligations of the sellers. On the
18-month anniversary of the closing, the balance of the escrow fund in excess of $2,000,000 and amounts held
for unresolved claims will be distributed to the sellers. The remainder of the escrow fund will be held un ‘11 the

fifth anniversary of the closing to satisfy certain tax, environmental, and certamiother indemnity claims. i
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2. Acquisition (continued)

The following table summarizes the purchase method of accounting for the acquisition and the estimated
fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed (in thousands):

Allocation of Purchase Price as of December 31, 2005:

Cashand Cash EQUIVAIENES ... ... ..ottt e e e $ 4,071
Accounts Receivable, Net ... ... e 17,742
NOtes ReCEIVADIE . . . ottt e e e e - 5,577
BN 1 o] /2 O P 13,276
Other CUITENt ASSEES .+ o v vttt et e e e e et e e e e e e e e e 5,492
Property, Plant, and EQUipment ... ... ... ... e 18,551
Long-Term Deferred Tax ASSES .. ...ttt ittt e et 8,381
OFNET A SIS . . vt et e e e e e e e 657
Intangible ASSELS . ..o .ttt e e e 34,480
GoodWill .o 50,467
Total Assets ACQUITE . ... ... ittt w
ACCOUNES Payable . ... o e e $ 6,751
Other Current Liabilities ... ... . i e e e e e 15,567
Short- and Long-Term Debt . . . ... . . e 3,286
Long-Term Deferred Tax Liabilities ... ....... .. i e 17,087
Other Liabilities . . ..ot e e e e 4,727
MiInority INEErest . . . . oottt e e 1,130
Total Liabilities Assumed ... ...t e e 48,548
Net Assets ACQUITEd . . . ..ottt e $110,146
Consideration:
Cash L e $ 41,458
DDt L 60,000
Short- and Long-Term Obligations .. ...... ... ittt it e 4,000
AcqUIsition COSES . . . oottt e e e e e 4,688
Total Consideration . . ... ...ttt $110,146

The total consideration of $110,146,000 for Kadant Johnson, ner: of cash acquired of $4,071,000, was
$106,075,000. Shortly after the closing date, the Company received $2,461,000 in cash related to the settlement
of certain of Kadant Johnson’s net assets acquired, which had the effi:ct of reducing the “acquisition, net of cash
acquired” amount in investing activities to $103,614,000 in the accoripanying consolidated statement of cash
flows.

The acquisition was recorded under the purchase method of accounting and the operating results of Kadant
Johnson have been included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements from the acquisition date of
May 11, 2005. The allocation of the purchase price was based on estimates of the fair value of the net assets
acquired and is subject to adjustment upon finalization of the purchase price allocation. The estimated fair values
of current assets, excluding inventory, and current liabilities approxiraate their historical costs in the hands of the
seller on the date of acquisition due to their short-term nature. Inventory and property, plant, and equipment were
recorded at estimated fair values based primarily on cost and market approaches.
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2. Acquisition (éontinued) \

The following are the identifiable intangible assets acquired and the respectlve periods over which the assets
will be amortized on a straight-line basis: |

(In thousands) | Amount | Life
Intellectual PrOPEILY . . ..ottt e e e e e e $ 7,840 |11 years*
Customer relationships . ... ... ..ottt e 15,700 |17 years*
Distribution NEEWOTK . . . .ttt e o 2,400 |17 years
Tradename . ........ioui i e e 8,100 Indefinite
Licensing agreements . . . ..o vvneurne et ettt b 400 |20 years
Non-compete agreements . ... ....uvt vttt ‘\‘ ......... 40 | 3years

1\ $34,480
* approximate weighted-average lives ' l

The amounts assigned to identifiable intangible assets acquired were based on their respective fair values
determined as of the acquisition date by an outside valuation consultant, using income and cost approaches As
part of the acquisition, the Company acquired the Johnson tradename valued at $8 100,000. The Companly has no
plan or intention to stop using the Johnson tradename and does not foresee any legal regulatory, contracn‘ual
competitive, economic, or other factors that would limit the remaining useful life of the Johnson tradename and
therefore, has assigned it an indefinite useful life. ‘

The excess of the purchase price over the tangible and identifiable 1ntang1ble assets was recorded as
goodwill and amounted to approximately $50,467,000, none of which is deducub]e for tax purposes. The]
Company’s acquisitions have historicalty been made at prices above the fair value of the acquired assets,
resulting in goodwill, due to the expectation of synergies of combining the businesses. The synergies expf:cted as
a result of the Kadant Johnson acquisition include the use of the Company’s ex1st1ng infrastructure such as its
sales force, distribution channels and customer relations to expand sales of Kadant Johnson’s products; use of
Kadant Johnson’s infrastructure to cost effectively expand sales of the Company’s products; and eli imination of
duplicative functions. In accordance with current accounting standards, the goodwﬂl will not be amomzé‘d and
will be tested for impairment annually (in the fourth quarter of the Company’s fiscal year) as required by1
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”

The Company is evaluating potential restructuring actions that may be undertaken at Kadant Johnson. Such
actions may include rationalizing product lines and consolidating facilities. The Company will record the‘\ cost of
restructuring actions at Kadant Johnson as an increase to goodwill when decisions are made as to the extent of
such actions. The Company expects to finalize its restructuring plan no later than one year following corripletion
of the Kadant Johnson acquisition. ‘

The following condensed consolidated statement of operations is presented‘as if the acquisition of Kadant
Johnson had been made at the beginning of the periods presented. This 1nformat1‘on is not necessarily indicative
of what the actual condensed combined statement of operations of the Company'and Kadant Johnsen would have
been for the periods presented, nor does it purport to represent the future combmed results of operations of the
Company and Kadant Johnson. \




Kadant Inc. 2005 Financial Statements

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Acquisition (continued)

(In thousands) ) 2005 2004
REVENUES .. $272,778 $271,058
OperatingIncome * ........ ... ... ... ... ... e 3,912 10,339
Income from Continuing Operations ............. ... oiviiii ... 462 4,902
Loss from Discontinued Operation ...ttt (2,988) (5,099)
Nt 0SS .« v v ettt e e e e e e $ (2,526) $ (197)
Basic Earnings (Loss) per Share: .

Income from Continuing Operations ............. ... i, $ 03 3 35

Nt L0SS .« ottt et e e $ (18 $ (0D
Diluted Earnings (Loss) per Share:

Income from Continuing Operations .. .............ouviriiieeinenireennn... $ 03 3§ 34

Nt LSS . ot e e e e $ (18 $ (0D

* Included in operating income in 2005 was $11.0 million in one-time bonuses and approximately $3.1 million
in acquisition-related costs that Kadant Johnson incurred prior to the acquisition.

3. Employee Benefit Plans

Stock-Based Compensation Plans
General

The Company maintains stock-based compensation plans prima:ily for its key employees and directors,
although the plans permit awards to others expected to make significant contributions to the future of the
Company. The plans authorize the compensation committee of the Company’s board of directors (the board
committee) to award a variety of stock and stock-based incentives, such as restricted stock, nonqualified and
incentive stock options, stock bonus shares, or performance-based shares. The award recipients and the terms of
awards, including price, granted under these plans are determined by the board committee. Outstanding options
granted under these plans prior to 2001 are nonqualified options that are exercisable immediately, but are subject
to provisions similar to vesting that restrict transfer and afford the Company the right to repurchase the shares at
the exercise price upon certain events. The restrictions and repurchase rights for these options generally lapse
over five to ten years and the terms of the options may range from five to twelve years. Options granted under
these plans starting in 2001 and after are nonqualified options that vest over three years and are not exercisable
until vested. To date, all options have been granted at an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the
Company’s common stock on the date of grant. Upon a change-of-control, as defined in the plans, all options or
other awards become fully vested and all restrictions lapse.

Restricted Stock

In April 2005 and April 2004, the Company awarded 7,500 shares and 10,000 shares, respectively, of its
restricted common stock with an aggregate value of $137,000 and $200,000, respectively, to its outside directors
pursuant to its amended and restated Directors’ Restricted Stock Plan. In June 2005, the Company awarded
10,000 shares of its restricted common stock with an aggregate value of $215,000 to its outside directors under
its stock-based incentive plan on terms identical to the Directors’ Restricted Stock Plan. The shares are restricted
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from resale for five years from the date of award. The Company has recorded the fair value of the restrict
awards as deferred compensation in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet, and amortizes these ar

\
over the vesting period. | !
| |
|

Stock Options

The Company had 234,000 options available for grant under these plans at 1December 31,2005. A st
of the Company’s stock option activity is as follows:

\ ;
2005 | 2004 20

ed stock
nounts

Immary

03
Weighted ‘ Weighted | Weighted
Number Average Number Average Number | Average
of Exercise of Exercise of Exercise
(Shares in thousands) Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
Options Outstanding, Beginning of Year ......... 1,771 $16.39 2,1:;55 $16.52 2,736 | $16.26
Granted ............ ... ... . .. ... 140 19.17 '8 19.84 - -
Exercised ............ ... ... - (88) 13.22 (297) 12.50 (499) | 12.12
Forfeited .. ...... ... ... .. ... i, (124)  29.67 (75) 3595 _(102) | 31.18
Options Outstanding, End of Year............... 1,699 $15.82 1,771 $16.39 2,135 | $16.52
Options Exercisable .......................... 1,528 $15.28 1,565 $16.52 1,404 $17.76
|
A summary of the status of the Company’s stock options at December 31, 2005/ is as follows:
Options Outstanding 1 Options Exercisable
Weighted | Weighted
Average Weighted : Average | Weighted
Number Remaining  Average [Number Remaining | Average
Range of of Shares Contractual  Exercise of Shares Contractual | Exercise
Exercise Prices (In thousands) Life Price (In thousands) Life | Price
$438-% 940 ............... 76 20years $ 735 & 63 1.9 years |$ 7.34
1162- 1600 ............... 1,371 2.9 years 13.95 ‘ 1,369 - 2.9 years 13.95
1807- 2815 ........... ... 192 5.6 years 2013, 46 3.3 years 2241
3770- 5725 ...l 58 3.0 years 5411 | 48 2.9 years 53.57
9333~ 11080 ............... 2 2.0 years 103.68 i 2 2.0 years 104.13
$ 438-8$11080 ............... 1,699 32years §$ 15.82 ; 1,528 29 years |$ 15.28

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Substantially all of the Company’s full-time U.S. employees are eligible to participate in its employee stock

purchase plan. Under the plan, shares of the Company’s common stock may be purchased at a 15% disco

unt

from the fair market value at the beginning or end of the purchase period, Whlchever is lower. Shares purchased
under the plan are subject to a one-year resale restriction and are purchased through payroll deductions of up to
10% of each participating employee’s gross wages. For the 2005, 2004, and 2003 plan years, the Company issued

14,775 shares, 15,152 shares, and 20,179 shares, respectively, of its common stdck under this plan.
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3. Employee Benefit Plans (continued)

401(k) Savings Plan

The majority of the Company’s U.S. subsidiaries participate in the Company’s 401(k) retirement savings
plan. Contributions to the plan are made by both the employee and the Company. Company contributions are
based upon the level of employee contributions. The Company contributed and charged to expense $603,000,
$634,000, and $595,000 related to the 401(k) plan in 2005, 2004, anc. 2003, respectively.

Profit-Sharing Plan

One of the Company’s U.S. subsidiaries has adopted a profit-sharing plan under which the Company
annually contributes approximately 10% of the subsidiary’s pre-tax iacome before profit-sharing expense. All
contributions are immediately vested. Another of the Company’s U.L. subsidiaries has a profit sharing plan that
requires a minimum annual Company contribution of 3% of eligible >mployee compensation and allows for an
additional contribution of up to 12% of eligible compensation at the discretion of the Company. Minimum annual
contributions of 3% of gross compensation vest immediately while contributions in excess of 3% of gross
compensation vest ratably over seven years. For these plans, the Conipany contributed and charged to expense
approximately $1,436,000, $431,000, and $359,000 in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

Defined Benefit Pension Plan and Post-Retirement Welfare Benefits Plan

The Company’s Kadant Web Systems subsidiary has a noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan.
Benefits under the plan are based on years of service and employee compensation. Funds are contributed to a
trustee as necessary to provide for current service and for any unfunded projected benefit obligation over a
reasonable period. Effective December 31, 2008, this plan was closed to new participants. This same subsidiary
has a post-retirement welfare benefits plan (included in the table belcw in “Other Benefits™). No future retirees
are eligible for this post-retirement welfare benefits plan, and the plaas include limits on the subsidiary’s
contributions.

The Company’s Kadant Lamort subsidiary sponsors a defined bznefit pension plan, which is included in the
table below in “Other Benefits.” Benefits under this plan are based on years of service and projected employee
compensation.

The Company’s Kadant Johnson subsidiary also offers a post-retirement welfare benefit plan (included in
the table below in “Other Benefits”) to its U.S. employees upon attainment of eligible retirement age.
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3. Employee Benefit Plans (continued)

]
The following table summarizes the change in the benefit obligation; the éhange in plan assets; the funded

status; and reconciliation to the amounts recognized in the balance sheets for the pension benefits and other
benefits plans. The measurement date for all items set forth below is the last day of the fiscal year presented.

Pénsion Benefits OtherBenefits
(In thousands) 2005 2004 2005 || 2004
Change in Benefit Obligation: ; ;]
Benefit obligation at beginning of year ...................... $17,244 $16,266 $ 3,309 $2.802
Benefit obligation acquired ............ . ... .. i, i- - 4535 -
ServICE COSt . vt e S 715 640 295 107
INEEIESE COSE v v v v e e e e e e e e e e e e 1,007 967 33§ 144
Curtailment @ain .. ... ovi i ‘ - ~ (82§) -
Actuarial 1oss (BaII) . ...t | 688 2 (206) 303
Benefitspaid . ...t e 1(702) 631) (425}) (278)
Effect of currency translation . ..............ovveeieriuiaan - - (280) 231
Benefit obligationatendof year ............. . ... .. $18,952 $17,244 % 6,74’30 $ 3,309
Change in Plan Assets: \‘ T
Fair value of plan assets at beginningof year ................. $16,874 $16470 3% - % -
Actual return on plan assets .. ... i i \J 866 1,035 = -
Employer contribution ......... . ... .. i J - - 421 278
Benefitspaid . ... o ' (702) (631) 421) (278)
Fair value of plan assets atendof year........................... $17,038 $16,874 $ f( - $ -
Unfunded STatus ... ...ttt $/(1,914) $ (370) $(6,7‘%10) $(3,309)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss (gain) ........... .. .. ... ..t f 3,023 1,797 (3“37) 689
Unrecognized prior service cost (inCOME) .. .....c..ovveunvenonn.. i 60 106 (405) (463)
Effect of currency tramslation . ......... ... ... ... i j - - |~ 16
Net AMOUNt TECOZMZEA « . .+« v v e eee e e et $ 1,169 $ 1,533 $(7.182) $(3.067)
Amounts Recognized in the Balance Sheet Consist of: f j
Prepaid benefit cost () .. ... vt $ 1,169 $1533 § | - § -
Accrued benefit COSt (B) . ... ovvrrr it R ~  (7,182) (3,067
Net amount recognized ... ...... e $ 1,169 $ 1,533 $(7,;182) $(3,067)
Accumulated benefit obligation as of year-end .................... $15,787 $14,530 $ l,;é26 $2,018

|
(a) Included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.
(b) Included in other long-term liabilities in the accompanying consolidateﬁ balance sheet.
|

J
|
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3. Employee Benefit Plans (continued)

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation as of year-end were as follows:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2005 2004 2005 2004
DISCOUNE TALE . ..ottt et ettt it et e e e et e 575% 6.00% 495% 4.95%
Rate of compensation inCIease ... .........ovvveerunennnneennn... 4.00% 4.00% 2.00% 2.50%
Pension Benefits Other Benefits
(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost: ~
SEIVICE COSE « ottt it $ 715 § 640 3 625 $295 $107 $ 98
INterest CoSt ... vvv it i 1,007 967 1,026 336 144 158
Expected return on planassets ................ (1,404) (1,370) (1,26%8) - - -
Recognized net actuarialloss ................. - - 48 36 36 40
Amortization of prior service cost {income) .. .... 46 47 46 (58) (38 @D
Net periodic benefitcost ..................oooun., $ 364 § 284 § 477 $609 $229 $255

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic “enefit cost were as follows:

Pensiorn: Benefits Other Benefits
2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003
Discountrate ...........cooiriiiiiinriinnnaen., 6.00% 625% 6.75% 5.25% 4.82% 5.21%
Expected long-term return on plan assets ............ 8.50% 3.50% 8.75% - - -
Rate of compensation increase .................... 400% 4.00% 5.00% 2.00% 2.50% 1.50%

In developing the overall expected long-term return on plan assets assumption, a building block approach
was used in which rates of return in excess of inflation were considered separately for equity securities, debt
securities, and other assets. The excess returns were weighted by the reprzsentative target allocation and added
along with an appropriate rate of inflation to develop the overall expectec. long-term return on plan assets
assumption. The Company believes this determination is consistent with 3SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting
for Pensions.”

Assumed weighted-average healthcare cost trend rates* as of year-erid were as foliows:

2005 2004
Healthcare cost trend rate assumed fornextyear............................ e 7.65% 11.00%
Ultimate healthcare coSttrend Fale . . . . oottt e e e e e e e e 4.72% 0.00%
Year that the assumed rate reaches ultimaterate . ... ... . . i i, 2011 2012

* See Information and Assumptions for the Post-Retirement Welfare Benefits Plan at the end of Note 3 for more
detail.
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Assumed healthcare cost trend rates can have a significant effect on the amounts reported for healthcare

benefits. A one-percentage point change in assumed healthcare cost trend rates; ‘would have the followm‘g effects:

1 Percentage 1 Percentage

(In tl{ousands) ! Point Increase Pomt Decrease
Effect on total of service and interest cost components—(expense) income . . ‘ . $ (96) $ 75
Effect on post-retirement benefit obligation . .......................... . ... $(703) 18564

i
Plan Assets “ ‘

For the Kadant Web Systems noncontributory defined benefit retirement élan, the weighted-averaéa asset
allocation at December 31, 2005, and January 1, 2005, by asset category, is as follows:

Asset Category | 2005 2004
EQUILY SECURItES .« .+« et e et e e e e e e e e e e e e 46% 55%
DEbE SECUTILES - -« v v o et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 44% 35%
Oter . L e 110% 10%

ST 100% 100%

Kadant Web Systems has developed an investment policy for the noncontrlbutory defined benefit r‘( tirement
plan. The investment strategy is to emphasize total return, that is, the aggregateireturn from capital appremation
and dividend and interest income. The primary objective of the investment management for the plan’s assets is
the emphasis on consistent growth, specifically, growth in a manner that protec‘ys the plan’s assets from excessive
volatility in market value from year to year. The investment policy takes into consideration the benefit
obligations, including timing of distributions. |

The primary objective for the plan is to provide long-term capital apprecmtlon through mvestment in equity
and debt securities. The following target asset allocation has been established for the plan:

|

Asset Category ' Minimum Neutral ‘Maximum
Equity SECUTHES . .. ..ottt e 40% 50% 60%
Debt securities . . ..o L 30% 40% 50%
Other . . e o 5% _Q% 15%
TOtAl oot . 100%

| |
All equity securities must be drawn from recognized securities exchanges. Debt securities must be v‘velghted
to reflect a portfolio average maturity of not more than ten years, with average benchmark duration of five years.

The credit quality must equal or exceed high investment grade quality (“BAA” Qr better).
!
Cash Flows “

Contributions !

No cash contributions are expected for the Kadant Web Systems noncontributory defined benefit retirement
plan in 2006. For the remaining pension and post-retirement welfare benefits plans, no cash contributions other
than funding current benefit payments are expected in 2006. ‘

|
[
i
i
|
|
|
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3. Employee Benefit Plans (continued)

Estimated Future Benefit Payments
The following benefit payments, which reflect future service as appropriate, are expected to be paid. The

benefit payments are based on the same assumptions used to measure the Company’s benefit obligation at
year-end 2005.

Pension Other

(In thousands) Benefits Benefits
2006 . . e $ 772 $ 478
2007 o e 889 362
2008 . e e 898 360
2000 . 927 394
2000 . e e e e - 1,058 417
200 E-2008 L 5,783 2,591

Information and Assumptions for the Post-Retirement Welfare Benefits Plan
Kadant Web Systems post-retirement welfare benefits plan

All eligible retirees are currently participating in the Kadant Web Systems post-retirement welfare benefits
plan, with no future retirees eligible to participate. Effective September 1, 2003, Kadant Web Systems capped its
monthly contribution to the plan at $358 per participant. For the majority of the retirees in the plan, no healthcare
- cost trend rate is assumed, as the Company cap applies. For the remaiader, the healthcare cost trend rate is
assumed to be 11% in 2005, decreasing to an ultimate rate of 0% in 2012.

On December 8, 2003, Medicare reform legislation was enacted, providing a Medicare prescription drug
benefit beginning in 2006 and federal subsidies to employers who provide drug coverage to retirees. As Kadant
Web Systems did not apply for the subsidy for the plan year beginninz January 1, 2006, and plans being offered
in 2006 do not at this time appear likely to contribute to a change in expected participation of prescription drug
coverage use, no change in assumptions has been adopted.

Kadant Johnson post-retirement welfare benefits plan

All eligible retirees are currently participating in the Kadant Johnson post-retirement welfare benefits plan.
Kadant Johnson pays 75% of all plan costs for retirees with a retirement date prior to January 1, 2005, and 50%
of all plan costs for retirees with a retirement date after January 1, 2005, with no limits on its contributions up to
annual employee and plan stop loss limitations. The medical healthcare cost trend rate is assumed to be 8% in
2005, decreasing to an ultimate rate of 5% in 2011.

On December 8, 2003, Medicare reform legislation was enacted, providing a Medicare prescription drug
benefit beginning in 2006 and federal subsidies to employers who provide drug coverage to retirees. Kadant
Johnson applied for the federal subsidy during the fourth quarter of 2005. The effect of the anticipated subsidy
was recognized as of December 31, 2005. The accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation decreased by
$1,005,000 and was recognized as an actuarial gain in accordance wih FASB Staff Position No. 106-2.

The following subsidy payments are expected to be received:

Expected
Part D

(In thousands) Subsidy
2000 L e e $ 32
2007 e 33
2008 L e e e e 34
2000 L e 37
2000 L e e e e e e 39
2011-2015 ... o e e e e e e e e 227
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3. Employee Benefit Plans (continued)

i
Other Retirement Plans ‘

Certain of the Company’s subsidiaries offer other retirement plans. The rﬂajority of these subsidiaries offer

defined contribution plans. Company contributions to these plans are based on formulas determined by t‘he

Company. For these plans, the Company contributed and charged to expense approx1mately $751,000, $323 000,
and $265,000 in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. } |

4. Preferred and Common Stock

Preferred Stock *

| 1

The Company’s Certificate of Incorporation authorizes up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, § 01 par
value per share, for issuance by the Company’s board of directors without further shareholder approval. ‘The
board of directors has also designated 15,000 shares of such preferred stock as Series A j junior participating
preferred stock for issuance under the Company’s Shareholder Rights Plan (see below) No such preferrt”:d stock

has been issued by the Company.

Common Stock |

The Company has a Shareholder Rights Plan under which one right was difstributed at the close of business
on August 6, 2001 for each share of the Company’s common stock outstanding at that time. The rights plan is
designed to provide shareholders with fair and equal treatment in the event of an unsolicited attempt to acqu1re
the Company. The rights were attached to the Company’s outstanding common stock at the time of dlstn\buuon
and are not separately transferable or exercisable. The rights will become exerc1sable if a person acquires 15
percent or more of the Company’s common stock, or a tender or exchange offer is commenced for 15 peﬁcent or
more of the Company’s common stock, unless, in either case, the transaction was approved by the Company’s
board of directors. If the rights become exercisable, each right will initially entitle the Company’s sharetiolders to
purchase .0001 of a share of the Company’s Series A junior participating preferfed stock, $.01 par value,|at an
exercise price of $75. In addition, except with respect to transactions approved by the Company’s board of
directors, if the Company is involved in a merger or other transaction with another company in which it IF not the
surviving corporation, or the Company sells or transfers 50 percent or more of 1ts assets or earning power to
another company, each right (other than rights owned by the acquirer) will entitle its holder to purchase $75
worth of the common stock of the acquirer at half the market value at that time. The Company is entitled'to
redeem the rights at $.001 per right at any time prior to the tenth business day (or later, if so determined b\y the
board of directors) after the acquisition of 15 percent or more of the Company’s;common stock. Unless the rights
are redeemed or exchanged earlier, they will expire on July 16, 2011. ‘ !

At December 31, 2005, the Company had reserved 2,200,382 unissued shares of its common stock for
possible issuance under stock-based'compensation plans. \
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5. Income Taxes

The components of income from continuing operations before provision for income taxes and minority
interest expense are as follows:

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003
DOMESHC « + « v e e e e et e e e e e e e $ 9510 $12,791 $14,124
FOTRIZI © . o\ e et et e e e e e 4464  (4,506) 7,113

$13,974 § 8,285 $21,237

The components of the provision for income taxes for continuing operations are as follows:

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003
Current Provision: ‘
Federal . ... e $ (5) $2,712 $1,985
BOreign . . ..o e 2,758 (797) 2,991
State ... U (339 410 195

2,414 2,325 5,171

Deferred Provision:

Federal ........ e e e 2,197 1,307 2,151
FOreign . .o e (1,538) (1,560) (89)
) 1 - P 852 452 837

1,511 199 2,899
$3,925 $2,524 $8,070

The income tax provision (benefit) included in the accompanying statement of operations is as follows:

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003
Continuing OPerations . . . ... vttt ettt ettt $3925 $2524 $8,070
Discontinued OPeration . . . ...... ..ttt e e (1,608) (2,966) (800)

$2317 $ (442) $7,270

The Company generally receives a tax deduction upon the exercise of nonqualified stock options by
employees equal to the difference between the market price and the exercise price of the Company’s common
stock on the date of exercise. The current provision for income taxes does not reflect $123,000, $708,000, and
$1,261,000 of such benefits from the exercise of stock options that have been allocated to capital in excess of par
value in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.
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5. Income Taxes (continued) ‘

The provision for income taxes for continuing operations in the accompar“)ying statement of operat}l ons
differs from the provision calculated by applying the statutory federal income tax rate of 35% to incom§ from
continuing operations before provision for income taxes and minority interest expense due to the following:

(In thousands) . 2005 2004 ‘ 2003
Provision for Income Taxes at Statutory Rate . ......................... R 4891 $ 2,900 $7,433
Increases (Decreases) Resulting From: ‘

State income taxes, net of federal tax ........ ' 334 56( 671

U.S. tax cost (benefit) of foreign affiliate dividends .................1.... 45 332 (224)

Foreign tax cost of foreign affiliate dividends .....................1.... 144 4ll -

Foreign tax rate differential . ....................... .. ... 0o (1,544 (1,259) (544)

Tax reimbursement from former Parent . ..............oooeererannion.. (882) T -

Extraterritorial income exclusion ... .............c.euoueenneeiiilio.. (25) (22l) X))

Change in valuation allowance ....... 429 (385) 224

Nondeductible expense ................ .ol 876 291 185

Other L e S (343) (10%) 422

| $3925 $2,524 $8,070
l

Net deferred tax asset (liability) in the accompanying balance sheet consisjts of the following:

(In thousands) ‘ 2005 2004
Deferred Tax Asset (Liability): l i
Operating 10ss CarryfOrWards . . .. .......ovorir et e $ 9,046 $ 1,125
Reserves and aceruals .. ... ..o ne L .......... 6,603 3,975
Foreign and alternative minimum tax credits ................ .. .......] R 6,153 4,389
Inventory basis difference .......... ... ... . TR 1,230 | 1,768
Research and development ........ ... ... . ... o i i i e 855 | 1,797
Allowance for doubtful accounts . ....... ... ... .. .. i ‘ .......... 404 382
O ..o L 527 290

Deferred Tax ASSel, GIOSS . ..o v vttt et e e e ; .......... 24,818 | 13,726

Less: Valuation Allowance . ...t e (2,537 (239)

Deferred Tax Asset, Net ................coooieeieeineeeee... : .......... 22081 | 13,487
S L [T (18,875))  (2,922)
Fixed assets basis difference .......... .. .. .. .. i Dovreeennn (4,309) (860)
Reserves and acCruals ... .......oo oo PP (571) (773)
Revenue recognition ................ ... .. ..... e e ‘ .......... (214) 427)
Other ... S ‘ .......... (80) (74)

Deferred Tax Liability ........ ... ... i 1 .......... (24,049)| (5,056)

Net Deferred Tax Asset (Liability) .....................ccooeiin.. . $ (1,768)| $ 8,431
i |

The deferred tax asset and liability are presented in the accompanying balance sheet within other current

assets, other assets, other current liabilities and other long-term liabilities basedl on when the tax be neﬁts are

expected to be realized and on a net basis by tax jurisdiction.
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5. Income Taxes (continued)

The Company has established valuation allowances related to foreign net operating loss carryforwards and
foreign tax credits. The valuation allowance at December 31, 2005 was $2,537,000. The increase in the valuation
allowance of $2,298,000 related primarily to an increase of $1,759,000 for foreign net operating loss
carryforwards acquired with the Johnson acquisition. In the event the tax assets related to these acquired foreign
net operating loss carryforwards are realized and the corresponding valuation allowance is no longer required,
goodwill of the acquired business will be reduced accordingly.

At year-end 2005, the Company had domestic and foreign net operating loss carryforwards of $13,524,000
and $11,287,000, respectively, and foreign tax credits of $4,999,000. The domestic net operating loss
carryforwards will expire in 2024 and their use is limited to future taxable eamings from the Company’s
domestic subsidiaries. Of the foreign net operating loss carryforwards, $1,616,000 expires in the years 2008
through 2019, and the remainder do not expire. The foreign tax credits expire beginning in 2012.

The Company has not recognized a deferred tax liability for the difference between the book basis and the
tax basis of its investment in the stock of its domestic subsidiaries, related primarily to unremitted earnings of
subsidiaries, because it does not expect this basis difference to become: subject to tax at the parent level. The
Company believes it can implement certain tax strategies to recover its investment in its domestic subsidiaries
tax-free. ‘

On October 22, 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the Act) was signed into law. The Act
created a temporary incentive for U.S. multinationals to repatriate accumulated income earned outside the U.S. at
an effective tax rate of 5.25%. After evaluating the effect of the law on our unremitted foreign earnings, the
Company has determined that due to various factors, there is no benefit to the Company. Therefore, it will
remain the Company’s practice to reinvest indefinitely the earnings of our international subsidiaries, except in
instances in which we can remit such earnings without a significant associated tax cost. Through December 31,
2005, the Company has not provided U.S. income taxes on approximately $53,500,000 of unremitted foreign
earnings. The Company believes that any U.S. tax liability due upon remittance of such earnings would be
immaterial due to the availability of U.S. foreign tax credits generated from such remittance. The related foreign
tax withholding, which would be required if the Company remitted the foreign earnings to the U.S., would be
approximately $2,300,000.

The Company’s Chinese subsidiary that was part of the Kadant Johnson acquisition has a tax holiday in
China, which reduces the income tax in that country. The holiday expires in 2007. Based on the currently enacted
regular corporate income tax rate in China, the benefit to the Company of the tax holiday for year-end 2005 was
approximately $111,000, or $.01 per diluted share.

The Company operates within multiple tax jurisdictions and could be subject to audit in these jurisdictions.
These audits can involve complex issues, which may require an extended period of time to resolve and may cover
multiple years. In management’s opinion, adequate provisions for income taxes have been made for all years
subject to audit.

6. Long-Term Obligations and Other Financing Arrangements

Long-term obligations at year-end 2005 and 2004 are as follows:

(In thousands) , 2005 2004
Variable Rate Term Loan, due from 2006 t0 2010 .. ... ... .o i, $55,500 $ -
Less: Current Maturities . ... ...ttt e e e 9,000 -
Long-Term Obligations .. . ... ..\ttt et e et e $46,500 $ -
F-30
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6. Long-Term Obligations and Other Financing Arrangements (continued)

The Company repaid long-term obligations of $5,522,000 in 2005, including $4,500,000 associated with its
term loan outlined below and $1,022,000 related to liabilities of recently acquir‘ed Kadant Johnson. In 2004, the
Company repaid long-term obligations of $598,000, which related to habihties\from two acquisitions mide in
2000 and 1999. |

To fund a portion of the purchase price for the acquisition of Kadant J ohnson the Company entered into a
term.loan and revolving credit facility (the Credit Agreement) effective May 9, 2005 in the aggregate pr1n01pa1

amount of up to $85,000,000, including a $25,000,000 revolver. The Credit Agreement is among the Coinpany,

as Borrower; the Foreign Subsidiary Borrowers from time to time parties theret}o; the several banks and i‘other
financial institutions or entities from time to time parties thereto; and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A_, as .
Administrative Agent. On May 11, 2005, the Company borrowed $60,000,000 under the term loan facﬂity, which
is repayable in quarterly installments over a five-year period. The aggregate pr1nc1pal amount to be repaid each
year is as follows: $9,000,000, $10,500,000, $13,500,000, $15,000,000, and $7;,500 000 in 2006, 2007, "’008,,
2009, and 2010, respectively. ‘ |
Interest on the revolving loan and the term loan accrues and is payable quarterly in arrears at one o f the
following rates selected by the Company: (a) the prime rate plus an applicable margm initially set at 0% for
2005, and up to 0.25% thereafter, or (b) a eurocurrency rate plus an applicable margm initially set at 1% for
2005, and between 0.625% and 1.25% thereafter. The applicable margin is determmed based upon the '
Company’s total debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) ratio. The
weighted average interest rate was 5.25% at December 31, 2005. 1
In connection with the Credit Agreement, the Company agreed to pay a commitment fee, payable quarterly,
at an initial rate of 0.25% per annum of the unused amount of revolving credit commltments subject to
adjustment based upon the Company’s total debt to EBITDA ratio (resulting i m a per annum rate of betv« een
0.175% and 0.275%). The unused portion of the revolving credit facility totaled $14,577,000 as of December 31,
200s5. : ‘
Debt issuance costs were approximately $652,000 and are included in other assets in the accompanymg
consolidated balance sheet. These costs are being amortized to interest expense over five years based on the
effective-interest. method. As of December 31, 2005, the unamortized debt i 1ssuance costs were approxxmately
$516,000. | ‘
The obligations of the Company under the Credit Agreement may be acceierated upon the occurren‘ce of an
event of default under the Credit Agreement, which includes customary events of default including, without
limitation, payment defaults, defaults in the performance of affirmative and negative covenants, the inac¢curacy of

. o
representations or warranties, bankruptcy- and insolvency-related defaults, deféults relating to such matiers as
ERISA, uninsured judgments and the failure to pay certain indebtedness, and a' change-of-control defaulit.

In addition, the Credit Agreement contains negative covenants applicable to the Company and its
subsidiaries, including financial covenants requiring the Company to comply with a maximum consolidated
leverage ratio of 3.0, which is lowered to 2.5 in certain circumstances, and a minimum consolidated fixed charge
coverage ratio of 1.5. Pursuant to an amendment to the Credit Agreement effeqtive December 28, 2005,this
maximum consolidated leverage ratio is increased to 2.75 in the quarter in which we complete the propased

acquisition of a manufacturer of stock preparation equipment in China (see Note 15 for further discussion) and in

the following quarter. In addition to the financial covenants, the Company is aliso required to comply with
covenants related to restrictions on liens, indebtedness, fundamental changes, dispositions of property, making

certain restricted payments (including dividends and stock repurchases), investments, transactions with affiliates,
sale and leaseback transactions, swap agreements, changing the Company’s ﬁsbal year, negative pledge‘;,
arrangements affecting subsidiary distributions, and entering into new lines of busmess As of December 31,

2005, the Company was in compliance with these covenants.
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6. Long-Term Obligations and Other Financing Arrangements (continued)

The loans under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by certain Jomestic subsidiaries of the Company and
secured by a pledge of 65% of the stock of the Company’s first-tier foreign subsidiaries and the Company’s
subsidiary guarantors pursuant to a guarantee and pledge agreement e:fective May 9, 2005 in favor of JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as agent on behalf of the lenders.

The Company entered into a swap agreement (the Swap Agreement), which was effective May 17, 2005, to
convert $36,000,000 of the principal balance of the $60,000,000 term loan from a floating rate to a fixed rate of
interest. The Swap Agreement has a five-year term, the same quarterlv payment dates as the hedged portion of
the term loan, and reduces proportionately in line with the amortization of the term loan. Under the Swap
Agreement, the Company will receive a three-month LIBOR rate and pay a fixed rate of interest of 4.125%. The
net effect on interest expense for the hedged portion of the term loan ($36,000,000) is that the Company will pay
a fixed interest rate of up to 5.375% (the sum of the 4.125% fixed rate under the Swap Agreement and the
applicable margin of up to 1.25% on the term loan). The guarantee provisions and the default and financial
covenants, as well as certain restrictions on the payment of dividends included in the Credit Agreement, as
amended, restated, modified or replaced from time to time, also apply to the Swap Agreement.

The Swap Agreement has been designated as a cash flow hedge &nd is carried at fair value with unrealized
gains or losses reflected within other comprehensive items. As of Deczmber 31, 2005, the unrealized gain
associated with the Swap Agreement was $510,000, which is included in other assets and accumulated other
comprehensive items (net of tax) in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. Management believes that any
credit risk associated with the Swap Agreement is remote based on the: creditworthiness of the financial
institution issuing the Swap Agreement.

7. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

The Company occupies office and operating facilities under various operating leases. The accompanying
consolidated statement of operations includes expenses from operating leases of $2,960,000, $2,620,000, and
$2,444,000 in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. The future minimuin payments due under noncancelable
operating leases as of December 31, 2005, are $1,890,000 in 2006; $1.027,000 in 2007; $453,000 in 2008;
$86,000 in 2009; $50,000 in 2010; and $16,000 thereafter. Total futur: minimum lease payments are $3,522,000.

Letters of Credit

Outstanding letters of credit, principally relating to performance bonds and customer deposit guarantees,
totaled $14,918,000 at December 31, 2005.

Acquisition Contingencies

In connection with the Kadant Johnson acquisition, the Company issued a letter of credit to the sellers for
$4,000,000 related to certain tax assets of Kadant Johnson, the value cf which the Company expects to realize.
This amount is subject to adjustment based on The Johnson Corporation’s final tax return for 2005. This
additional consideration, of which $600,000 is included in other current liabilities and $3,400,000 is included in
other long-term liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet, is due over the next five years. The
parties also agreed in the purchase agreement to an earn-out provision, based on the achievement of certain
revenue targets between the closing date (May 11, 2005) and July 1, 2006, which could increase the purchase
price by up to $8,000,000. This contingent consideration will be accounted for as an increase in goodwill if and
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| .
when the revenue targets are achieved. Based on current forecasts, the Company does not believe that a

significant payout under the earn-out provision is likely. |
|
i

Contingencies }

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is at times required to issjue limited performance
guarantees, some of which do not require the issuance of letters of credit to customers in support of these
guarantees, relating to its equipment and systems. The Company typically limits its liability under these
guarantees to amounts that would not exceed the value of the contract. The Company believes that it ha,
adequate reserves for any potential liability in connection with such guarantees
Indemnification |

The Company is required to indemnify Thermo Electron, but not its sharenolders against liability t'or taxes
arising from the Company’s conduct of business after the spinoff, or the failure of certain distributions to
continue to qualify as a tax free spinoff, as described in Note 1 “Income Taxes!.”

|
8. Restructuring and Other Costs (Income), Net ‘
|

|
In an effort to improve operating performance at the Papermaking Systems segment’s Kadant Lamprt
subsidiary in France, the Company approved a restructuring of that subsidiary on November 18, 2004. This
restructuring was initiated to strengthen Kadant Lamort’s competitive posmon‘m the European paper 1nhustw
Under French law, the restructuring required consultation with Kadant Lamort}s workers’ council, which consists
of elected employees supported by trade union representatives, before 1mp1ementat1on The restructurm‘g
primarily included the reduction of 97 full-time positions across all functions in France and was nnpletnented in
2005. The Company accrued a restructuring charge, in accordance with SFAS No. 112, for severance arltd other

termination costs in connection with the workforce reduction of $9,235,000 in :the fourth quarter of 2004? and
reduced the estimate by $71,000 in 2005. The Company realized a curtailment 'gain of $364,000 in 2005 resulting
in a reduction in the accrued liability associated with Kadant Lamort’s pension plan. In addition, during 2004, the
Company recorded restructuring costs of $280,000, which were accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 112,
related to severance costs of 11 employees at one of the Papermaking Systems‘segment s U.S. subsidiat“ies

During 2005, the Company recorded restructuring income of $118,000, 1nc1ud1ng $246,000 of restt"uctunng
costs and $364,000 of curtailment gain associated with the Kadant Lamort restructurmg initiated in the fourth
quarter of 2004. The restructuring costs of $246,000 in 2005 include $71,000 of income related to a rednctlon in
the estimated restructuring costs associated with the Kadant Lamort restructurmg initiated in 2004 and $317 000
of restructuring costs associated with the Company’s 2005 restructuring actions. The 2005 restructunng‘ costs
include $221,000 of severance and associated costs related to the reduction of 14 full-time positions in the U.S.
and $96,000 for equipment relocation costs, both in our Papermaking Systems segment. ‘

During 2003, the Company recorded net restructuring and other income of $23,000, including $626 000 of
restructuring costs and $649,000 of other income as detailed below. During 2003, the Company re corded
restructuring costs of $626,000, which were accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 112, related to‘
severance costs for seven employees across all functions at the Papermaking Systems segment’s Kadant Lamort
subsidiary. This action was taken in an effort to improve profitability and was in response to a continued weak
market environment and reduced demand for the Company’s products. Durtng ‘the second quarter of 2003, the
Company recognized a gain of $649 000 from the sale of property for approx1mately $921,000 in cash at the

same subsidiary. 1
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8. Restructuring and Other Costs (Income), Net (continued)

A summary of the changes in accrued restructuring costs is as follows:

Severance
(In thousands) and Other
2003 Restructuring Plan
PrOVISION ottt $ 626
LT T £ 476)
Currency translation ... ....... it e 50
Balance at January 3, 2004 . .. ... e 200
LT (= ﬂ)
Balance at January 1, 2005 ... ... e $ —
2004 Restructuring Plan
PrOVISION .\ttt $ 9,515
LT 23)
Currency translation . ... ..... ...ttt e 534
Balance at January 1, 2005 . .. ... e 10,026
Reserve reduction ... ..o e e e 71
U o .ttt e e e (4,158)
Currency translation . ... ....... ... . (1,139)
Balance at December 31, 2005 . .. oo $ 4,658
2005 Restructuring Plan
PrOVISION ..ot e e $ 317
U8 oottt e e (194)
Balance at December 31, 2005 ... . $ 123

The specific restructuring measures and associated estimated cosis are based on the Company’s best
judgments under prevailing circumstances. The Company believes that the restructuring reserve balance is
adequate to carry out the restructuring activities formally identified and committed to as of December 31, 2005.
Due to the lengthy restructuring process in France and the long notification periods, the related cash payments
associated with the Lamort restructuring, which was initiated at the end of 2004, will extend into the first half of
2006. For the remaining restructuring activities, the Company anticipates that all actions will be completed
within a 12-month period.

9. Discontinued Operation

On October 21, 2005, our Kadant Composites LLC subsidiary (Kadant Composites LLC) sold substantially
all of its assets to LDI Composites Co. (the Buyer) for approximately $11,127,000 in cash and the assumption of
$1,444,000 of liabilities resulting in a $46,000 gain. The sale price is subject to a post-closing adjustment. A
portion of the sale price, $629,000, was deposited in an escrow fund uatil May 1, 2007, and another $629,000
will be held by the Buyer for one year to satisfy certain indemnification obligations.

As part of the sale transaction, Kadant Composites LLC retained the warranty obligations associated with
products manufactured prior to the sale date. Kadant Composites LLC deposited $3,500,000 of the sale proceeds
into a special escrow fund to satisfy these warranty claims. This fund will be administered by the Buyer for five
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9. Discontinued Operation (continued) ]

|
. . . . (- .. |
years or until the funds are exhausted, after which time Kadant Composites LLC: will administer any rema

ining

covered warranty claims. Based on the claims submitted to the Buyer for reimbursement through year- end 2005,

the remaining balance in the special escrow fund would be reduced to approx1mately $2,330,000. Based o

n the

claims activity and payments processed after year-end 2005, the Company ant1c1pates that the special escrow

fund will be utilized and Kadant Composites LLC will assume claims processing in 2006. As of year-end
the accrued warranty reserve associated with the composites business was $5,276,000. All future activityi
associated with this warranty reserve will continue to be classified in the results of the discontinued opera
the Company’s consolidated financial statements. | . ,
i |

Operating results for the composites business are as follows: ‘

2005,

tion in

(In thousands) ‘ ‘ 2005 2004 | 2003
REVENUES . ..ot ett et et e e et et .. $15960 $16,957 |$12,035
Operating LoSS ...ttt e oo (4,649)  (8.065)] (2,106)
InterestIncome . ... ... .o i L 53 - -
Loss Before Income Tax Benefit (including $46 gain on disposal in 2005) . . . ‘ . (4,596) (8,065) ‘ (2.106)
Benefit for IncOme TAXES . . . ..o\ v ettt et ettt .. 1,608 2966 | 800
I |
Loss from Discontinued Operation . ..............oiiviirineienenen.. { . $(2,988) $(5,099) j $(1.,306)
2

The major classes of assets and liabilities of the discontinued operation included in the accompanymg

consolidated balance sheet are as follows: |

(In thonsands) J 2005 2004

Cashandcashequivalents . ...... ... ... ..., Lo, $5743 % 39
Restricted cash . . ... o b 4,145 -
Accounts receivable, less allowances . ......... ... .. . . . i e - 2,252
Other accounts receivable . ... ... . “ ........... 1,545 -
Inventories . ... .o e e -1 4,035
Deferred tax asset . ...t ‘( ........... 2,110 1,963
OthEr CUITENE ASSELS .+« v v o v e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e (RPN — 18
Property, plant, and equipment, atcost,net ............. ... ... Lo - 6760
OthET @S8EES .\ v ittt it e e : ........... 487 | 583
TOAL ASSELS -+« o oo e e e e e e e e e e e ST 14,030 | 15,650
Accounts payable . ... P 19 ‘ 1,446
Accrued payroll and employee benefits T R 103 537
Accrued WaITanty COSES ... v ettt e e e J ........... 5,276 : 4,327
Other current liabilities .. ....... ... i i e EEERERRRRS 1,201 368
Other liabilities ........................ e [ -] 900
Total LIabilities . . ... ..ot ittt et e S 6,599 7,578
Net Assets ................ FR R e $ 7,431 $ 8,072

The current deferred tax asset was $2,110,000 and $1,963,000 at year-end 2005 and 2004, respecti;{vely. The
increase in current deferred tax asset of $147,000 in 2005 primarily relates to the increase in warranty reserve.

|
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9. Discontinued Operation (continued)

The restricted cash of $4,145,000 at year-end 2005 represents the portion of the sale proceeds placed in
escrow and associated interest. Other accounts receivable of $1,545,000 at year-end 2005 includes $629,000 of
the sales price held by the Buyer for one year to satisfy certain indeninification obligations and $916,000 of
estimated post-closing adjustments owed from the Buyer. Included in other current liabilities is $1,170,000 of
warranty claims owed to the Buyer from the special escrow fund as reimbursement for claims paid on Kadant
Composites LLC’s behalf through year-end 2005.

As part of the sale transaction, Kadant Composites LLC retained the warranty obligations associated with
products manufactured prior to the sale date. Through the sale date of October 21, 2005, Kadant Composites
LLC offered a standard limited warranty to the original owner of its ecking and roofing products, limited to
repair or replacement of the defective product or a refund of the original purchase price.

Prior to the sale of the composites business, Kadant Composites LLC recorded an estimate for warranty-
related costs at the time of sale based on its actual historical return rates and repair costs, as well as other
analytical tools for estimating future warranty claims. These estimates are revised for variances between actual
and expected claims rates. Kadant Composites LLC’s analysis of expected warranty claims rates includes
detailed assumptions associated with potential product returns, including the type of product sold, temperatures at
the location of installation, density of boards, and other factors. Certzin assumptions, such as the effect of
weather conditions and high temperatures on the product installed, include inherent uncertainties that are subject
to fluctuation which could impact our future warranty provisions. Due to the highly subjective nature of these
assumptions, Kadant Composites LLC has recorded its best estimate of the cost of expected warranty claims. It is
reasonably possible that the ultimate settlement of such claims may exceed the amount recorded.

In 2003 and 2004, Kadant Composites LLC experienced a significant increase in warranty claims and
warranty expense related to its composite decking products including, but not limited to, contraction of certain
deck boards and excessive oxidation that affects the integrity of the plastic used in some of its decking products.
As aresult of the increase in claims received and its estimate for future potential claims, Kadant Composites
LLC increased its warranty expense to $6,696,000 in 2004 compared to $1,873,000 in 2003. Included in this
increased warranty expense was the cost of exchanging material held by the composites business’ distributors
with new material and its best estimate of costs related to future potential valid claims arising from installed
products. In 2005, Kadant Composites LLC experienced a higher-than-expected level of warranty claims
associated with previously identified product issues. As a result of the high level of claims, Kadant Composites
LLC recorded a warranty provision of $5,525,000 in 2005. Although Kadant Composites LLC increased the
warranty provisions accordingly, the reserve established may not be sufficient if it incurs warranty claims higher
than anticipated. It is reasonably possible that the ultimate settlement of such warranty claims may exceed the
amount of the warranty reserve. In addition, there can be no assurance: that other problems will not develop. A
continued high level of warranty claims or expenses would have an adverse impact on the warranty reserve and
would adversely affect our consolidated results.

The changes in the carrying amount of product warranties are as follows:

(In thousands) 2005 2004

Balance at Beginning of Year .. ... ... . ..ttt $4327 $ 869
Provision charged toincome ........... . ... . . 5,525 6,696
LT (4,576) (3,238)

Balance at End of Year ... ... .ot $5276 $ 4,327
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10. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable,

current maturities of long-term obligations, accounts payable, long-term obligatio‘ns, forward foreign exchange
contracts and a swap agreement. The carrying amounts of accounts receivable, current maturities of long-term

obligations, and accounts payable approximate fair value due to their short-term nature. The carrying amounts of
long-term obligations approximate fair value as the obligations bear a variable rate of interest, which adju(ts

quarterly based on prevailing market rates. 1
The carrying amount and fair value of the Company’s financial instruments are as follows:

| ‘
[ 2005 2004

Carrying Fair Carrying  Fair
(In thousands) Amount Value Amount| Value
Long-term obliGatiONS . ... ..ot $4Q,500 $46,500 $ - : $ -
Forward foreign exchange contracts (payable) receivable .............. $ .79 $ (79 8210 $210
SWAD AZTECINENE . . . .o .o\ttt et e et et $ {510 § 510 $ - § -

The notional amounts of forward foreign exchange contracts outstanding tortaled $3,766,000 and $2,582,000
at year-end 2005 and 2004, respectively. The fair value of such contracts is the estrmated amount that the'
Company would receive upon termination of the contracts, taking into account the change in foreign curre ncy
exchange rates, which is recorded in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet in accordance with SFAS
No. 133 (see Note 1). r‘

The notional amount of the swap agreement was $33,300,000 at year-end 2005 The fair value of the
agreement is the estimated amount that the contract could be settled for in the open market based on prev: 111ing

market interest rates at year-end 2005. (
|

11. Business Segment and Geographical Information i
/

The Company has combined its operating entities into one reportable operatmg segment, Papermakr ng
Systems, and two separate product lines, Fiber-based Products and Casting Products, which are reported in Other.
In classifying operational entities into a particular segment, the Company aggregated businesses with similar
economic characteristics, products and services, production processes, customers and methods of dlS[I‘lb ution.

The Company’s Papermaking Systems segment develops, manufactures, and markets stock—preparation
systems and equipment, paper machine accessory equipment, and water- management systems for the pulp and
paper industries worldwide. Principal products manufactured by this segment mclude custom-engi. neerei
systemns and equipment for the preparation of wastepaper for conversion into recycled paper; paper machine
accessory equipment and related consumables important to the efficient operation of paper machines; water-
management systems essential for draining, purifying, and recycling process w:‘iter and fluid-handling S)‘lstems
used primarily in the dryer section of the papermaking process and during the productron of corrugated b‘oxboard,
metals, plastics, rubber, textiles, and food. Revenues from the stock- preparatxon systems and equipment product
line were $98,226,000, $95,352,000, and $93,899,000 in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectlvely Revenues f‘rom the
paper machine accessory equipment product line were $58,794,000, $62,655, 000 and $60,780,000 in 2005,
2004, and 2003, respectively. Revenues from the water-management systems product line were $28,325 ‘000
$28,822,000, and $29,507,000 in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. Revenues from the recently acqurred fluid-
handling product line were $45,450,000 in 2005. |

The Fiber-based Products line produces biodegradable absorbent granules\from papermaking byproducts
These granules are primarily used as carriers for agricultural, home lawn and garden and professional lawn, turf
and ornamental applications, as well as for oil and grease absorption. Revenues from the Fiber-based Products
business were $8,599,000, $6,646,000, and $5,799,000 in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. Revenues from the
recently acquired Casting Products business were $2,499,000 in 2005. ‘

F-37




Kadant Inc. 2005 Financial Statements

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

11. Business Segment and Geographical Information (continuied)

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003
Business Segment Information
Revenues:
Pulp and Papermaking Systems (8) .................... ... $232,615 $188,320 $185,708
OthEr () .« oottt e e 11,098 6,646 5,799

$243,713 $194966 $191,507

Income from Continuing Operations Before Provision for Income Taxes and
Minority Interest Expense:

Pulp and Papermaking Systems (b) ............coviiiiiiiin.. $ 18,685 § 11,781 $ 23,440
Corporate and Other (c,d) . ... ... . o (4,102) (4,941) (3,119)
Total operating income . . ... ... e 14,583 6,840 20,321
Interest income (EXpense), NEt ... ...ttt er .. (609) 1,445 916

$ 13974 $§ 8285 $ 21,237

Total Assets:

Pulp and Papermaking Systems ....... ...t $331,347 $196,248 $217,211
Corporate and Other (¢,d) . .. ..o v vt e 10,434 73,339 39,224
Total Assets from Continuing Operations .................cc.oov... 341,781 269,587 256,435
Total Assets from Discontinued Operation ........................ 14,030 15,650 15,278

$355,811 $285.237 $271,713

Depreciation and Amortization:
Pulp and Papermaking Systems . ......... ... .. i $ 6227 $ 3,136 $ 3,468
Corporate and Other () .......... ..o . i 704 468 486

$ 6931 8§ 3604 $ 3954

Capital Expenditures:
Pulp and Papermaking Systems . ........ ... . i i $ 2683 $ 1968 § 1,754
Corporate and Other (¢) ............ e e e 562 221 252

$ 3245 § 2,189 § 2,006

Geographical Information
Revenues (e):

United SEAtES ... ottt $147,714 $120,545 $118,929
France . ... . e 49,601 53,155 52,563
Other ..o . 62,184 31,918 29,896
Transfers among geographicareas (f) ........... ... ... ... ....... (15,786) (10,652) (9,881)

$243,713 5194966 $191,507

Long-lived Assets (g):

United STatBS . .. vttt e e $ 22454 $ 10966 $ 11,511

FramCe . .o e e e e 2,401 3,340 3,203

England . .. ... .. e 2,494 2,111 1,963

O her . o 6,632 962 2,045

$ 33981 $ 17,379 $ 18,722

Export Revenues Included in United States Revenues Above (h) ........... $ 44,958 §$ 35,733 §$ 39,337
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11. Business Segment and Ge%gphical Information (continued)

(a) Revenues from China were $29.2 million, $29.4 million, and $31.1 rmlhon\m 2005, 2004, and 2003
respectively.

(b) Includes restructuring and other costs (income), net of ($0.1) million, $9.5 mllhon and ($23) thousand in
2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively (see Note 8). \ \

(c) Other includes the results from the Fiber-based Products business and the Castmg Products busmess

(d) Primarily cash and cash equivalents. ‘

(e) Revenues are attributed to countries based on selling location. 3
(f) Transfers among geographic areas are accounted for at prices that are representatwe of transactions thh
unaffiliated parties. !

(g) Includes property, plant, and equipment, net, and other long-term tangible assets

(h) In general, export revenues are denominated in U.S. dollars. \

12. Earnings (Loss) per Share (

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share were calculated as follows:

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2008 2004 2003

Income from Continuing Operations ‘ $ 9,865 § 5753 $13,123
Loss from Discontinned Operation . ...............oeuiiiirnnnnreennn. i . (2,988) (5,099) | (1,306)
NetIncome .................. e el 36877 8 654 S11817
Basic Weighted Average Shares ........ ... ... ... . .. ol } . 13,829 14,071 ‘ 13,659
Effect of Stock Options .. ...t R \‘ . 275 327 300
Diluted Weighted Average Shares ............. ... i iiiinneenn.. B 14,104 14,398 | 13,959

Basic Earnings (Loss) per Share:

Continuing OPErations . ... ... ........oerneerernee .. $ 71 % 41 % 96

Discontinued OPeration . .....................ccoiiieiiiiii bl (21) (36) | (09)
Net Income per BasicShare ...................... ... ... .. ... : . % 5 % 05 8 .87
Diluted Earnings (Loss) per Share: ‘
Continuing Operations ... .........coeeriineereinnenenienee..od. $ 700 8 40 § 94
Discontinued Operation .. ...... ... vutitiein i L (21 (35 | (09)

Net Income per Diluted Share ...................ccooviiiiiii .. . $ 49 $ 05 % 85

% E

Options to purchase 235,800 shares, 231,200 shares, and 329,500 shares of bommon stock were not mcluded

in the computation of diluted earnings per share for 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectlvely, because the Opthl‘ls
exercise prices were greater than the average market price for the common stock! and the effect would have been

antidilutive. }

1
13. Comprehensive Income |
|
Comprehensive income combines net income and other comprehensive items, which represent certain
amounts that are reported as components of shareholders’ investment in the accompanymg consolidated b alance

sheet, including foreign currency translation adjustments, and deferred gains and'losses on the swap agree ment
and forward foreign currency contracts. '

\
i
i
|
|
|
|
|
\

|
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13. - Comprehensive Income (continued)

Accumulated other comprehensive items in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet consist of the
following:

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003
Cumulative Translation Adjustment . ............ . ittt enn.. $(1,801) $2,763 $(2,563)
Deferred Gain on Hedging Instruments ........... ... ... . v, 311 137 24

$(1,490) $2,900 $(2,539)

14. Unaudited Quarterly Information

2005 (In thousands, except per share amounts) First Second Third Fourth
REVeNUES .. o $50,744 $65,086 $64,799 $63,084
Gross Profit ... ... e 18,762 24,701 26,242 24,264
Income from Continuing Operations . .............. .. ... ... 3,087 3,147 2,634 997
(Loss) Income from Discontinued Operation . ................... (363) 207 (2,252) (580)
NetINCOME . . ..ottt e e $2724 $3354 $§ 382 $ 417
Basic Earnings (Loss) per Share: .

Continuing OPErations . ... ..vuvrveetreeeennnaneenaannnns $ 22 % 23 %8 19 % .07

Discontinued Operation . .......... ..o, (.02) .01 (.16) (.04)

Net Income per Basic Share .. ............................ $ 20 % 24 % 03 $ .03
Diluted Earnings (Loss) per Share: '

Continuing OPErations .. ... .cv.vveeiirnererennnneenens $§ 2% 22 8% 19 § .07

Discontinued Operation ......... ... ... ..., - (.03) .02 (.16) .04)

Net Income per Diluted Share ............................ $ 19 3% 248 03 § .03
2004 (In thousands, except per share amounts) (a) First Second Third Fourth (b)
ReVENUES ..o $47,500 $52,652 $48,883 $45,931
Gross Profit . ... o e 19,467 20,397 19,162 16,740
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations . .................... 3,334 3,983 3,205 (4,769)
Loss from Discontinued Operation ............................ (606) (240) (3,698) (555)
NetIncome (LOSS) . ..ottt e e $ 2,728 33,743 $ (493) $(5,324)
Basic Earnings (Loss) per Share:

Continuing Operations . ... .. PP $§ 238 28 8 23 %5 (34

Discontinued Operation . ............. ... ciiiinieuni... (.04) (.02) 27 (.04)

Net Income (Loss) per Basic Share ................. ... .... $ 19 $§ 26 $ (04 $ (38
Diluted Earnings (Loss) per Share:

Continuing Operations . ...........couureirirnenannnennn. $ 23 %8 27 % 22 % (34

Discontinued Operation . ......... .. ... ... ciiiiiien.... (.04) (.01 (.25) .04)

Net Income (Loss) per Diluted Share ...................... $§ 19 $§ 26 $ (03) 3 (38

(a) Quarterly results have been restated to reflect the composite building products business as a discontinued
operation (see Note 9).
(b) Includes $9.5 million of pre-tax restructuring costs (see Note 8).
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\
15. Subsequent Event \

On January 21, 2006, the Company, on behalf of its wholly foreign owneci enterprise formed in China (the
Kadant WFOE), entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the Purchase Agre“@ment) with Jining Huayi Light
Industry Machinery Co., Ltd. (Huayi) to acquire substantially all the assets of Huayi for approximately |
$20,000,000, subject to adjustment. Huayi is a supplier of stock-preparation equipment in China, with unaudlted
revenues of approximately $15,000,000 in 2005. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, at the closing 20%\; of the
purchase price, or approximately $4,000,000, will be issued in escrow in the form of a standby letter of c‘redlt to
secure certain post-closing and indemnification obligations of the sellers. The 1etter of credit may be drawn upon
by the sellers over the next 18 months as certain obligations are satisfied. \

The closing of the acquisition contemplated by the Purchase Agreement is subJect to customary clos\mg
conditions, including regulatory approvals and the approval of Huayi’s board of\ directors and shareholders, as
well as the Company’s board of directors. The closing is expected to occur in the second quarter of 2006. The
Company expects to finance the acquisition through a combination of cash and borrowings, in China or u“nder its
existing $25,000,000 revolver, which is part of the Company’s credit facility entered into in May 2005 with a
consortium of banks with JPMorganChase Bank as administrative agent.
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Schedule I
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
(In thousands)
Provisicn
Charged to
Balance at Expense Accounts Balance
Beginning  (Reversed Accounts Written at End
Description of Year to Income)  Recovered Off Other (a) of Year
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Year Ended December 31,2005 .. ........... $1,678 $ 185 $29 $(479) 3808  $2,221
Year Ended January 1,2005 ................ $1,650 $ 656 $43 $(627) $(44) $1,678
Year Ended January 3,2004 ................ $2,634 $(342) $21 $(865) 202  $1,650
Balanceat  Provision Activity Balance
Beginning Chargedto Chargedto  Currency at End
Description of Year Expense Reserve Translation  of Year
Accrued Restructuring Costs (b) ‘
Year Ended December 31,2005 . ................. $10,026 $ 246 $(4,352) $(1.139) $ 4,781
Year Ended January 1,2005 ..................... $ 200 $9,515 $ (223) $ 3534  $10,026
Year Ended January 3,2004 . ........ ... ... ..., $ 28 $ 626 $ (5040 $ 50 $ 200

(a) Includes $912 of allowance for doubtful accounts acquired in 2305 from Kadant Johnson and the effect of

foreign currency translation.
(b) The nature of the activity in this account is described in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Shareholder Information

Shareholder Services
Shareholders who desire information about Kadant Inc. may contact us at One Acton Place, Suite 202, Acton, Massachusetts 01720,
(978) 776-2000. We maintain an internal mailing list to enable shareholders whose stock is held in street name, and other interested indi-
viduals, to receive quarterly reports, annual reports, press releases, and other information|as quickly as possible. Additional information is
available on our Web site at www.kadant.com, under “Investors.”

Stock Transfer Agent .
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company is our stock transfer agent and maintains shareholder activity records. The agent will respond to
questions on issuance of stock certificates, change of ownership, lost stock-certificates, and change of address. For these and similar mat-
ters, please direct inquiries to: American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, Shareholder Services Department, 59 Maiden Lane, New York,
New York 10038, (718) 921-8200, (800) 837-5449, www.amstock.com.

Annual Meeting
The annual meeting of shareholders will be held on Thursday, May 25, 2006, at 2:30 p.m., at the Boston Marriott Burlington, One Mall
Road, Burlington, Massachusetts.

Annual Report on Form 10-K
The accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, ZOPS, does not contain exhibits. Exhibits have been
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). To obtain a copy of these exhibits, as well as periodic reports filed with the SEC,

please contact Thomas M. O'Brien, Kadant Inc., One Acton Place, Suite 202, Acton, Massachusetts 01720, (978) 776-2000.

Certifications
The company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005,| contains the certifications of the chief executive
officer and chief financial officer provided to the Securities and Exchange Commission as required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002. These certifications are included as exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to the Form 10-K.

The company's chief executive officer submitted an annual certification to the New Yark Stock Exchange (NYSE) on Jjuly 1, 2005, stat-
ing that he was not aware of any violation by the company of NYSE corporate governance|listing standards. Kadant’s common stock trades
on the NYSE under the ticker symbol “KAL"

Forward-Looking Statements , ‘
This annual report contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 218 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Any
statements contained herein that are not statements of historical fact may be deemed to be forward-looking statements. Without limiting
the foregoing, the words “believes,” "anticipates,” “plans,” “expects,” “seeks, esUmates, would,” and similar expressions are intend-

ed to identify forward-looking statements. While the company may elect to update forwa‘rd-iooking statements in the future, it specifical-
ly disclaims its obligation to do so, even'if the company’s estimates change. A number of fectors could cause the results of the company to
differ materially from those indicated by such forward-looking statements, including those detailed under the heading “Risk Factors” in

Part |, Item 1A in the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year endeﬁj December 31, 2005.

@ William A. Rainville Chairman of the Board, President, and Chief Execu‘tive Officer
i John M. Albertine Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Albertine Enterprises, Inc.
° (Consulting and merchant-banking firm) !
; John K. Allen Partner, West Falmouth Associates (Management consultmg) :
3 Thomas C. Leonard Managing Director, Huron Consulting Group, LLC (Management consulting) |
3l Francis L. McKone Former Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, Albany Internatlonal Corp.
" (Supplier of paper machine fabrics)
William A. Rainville* Chairman of the Board, President, and Chief Executive Officer
Edward J. Sindoni* . Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer !
Thomas M. O’Brien* Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer‘ !
gl /onathan W. Painter* Executive Vice President
=3 fdwin D. Healy* Vice President w
E Sandra L. Lambert* Vice President, General Counsel, and Secretary ‘
M Cric T. Langevin* Vice President 5

Rudolf A. Leerentveld* Vice President .
Michael J. McKenney* Vice President, Finance, and Chief Accounting Officer
Daniel J. Walsh Treasurer

*Designates executive officer
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